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Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21e of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements may be identified by forward-looking words such as “may,”
“could,” “should,” “would,” “will,” “plans,” “intend,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “predicts,” “potential,” “believe,” “continue” or similar words, although not all
forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning our recent
acquisitions and the financial impact and expected synergies of each, and statements regarding the impact of pending litigation matters, government regulation,
customer spending and business trends, competition, foreign operations, business growth and the expansion of the global market, management’s strategic plans, the
potential for future revenue under our collaboration arrangements , research and development projects and expenses, other projected costs, long-lived asset and
goodwill impairment, our ability to utilize deferred tax assets, pension and postretirement benefit costs, and tax rates.
Readers should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. Our actual results may differ materially from such forward-looking statements as a
result of numerous factors, some of which we may not be able to predict and may not be within our control. Factors that could cause such differences include, but
are not limited to, changes in customers’ spending and demand and the trends in pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies’ outsourcing of manufacturing
services and research and development; our ability to provide quality and timely services and to compete with other companies providing similar services; our
ability to comply with strict regulatory requirements; our ability to successfully integrate past and future acquisitions and to realize the expected benefits of each;
disruptions in our ability to source raw materials; a change in our relationships with our largest customers; our ability to service our indebtedness; our ability to
protect our technology and proprietary information and the confidential information of our customers; our ability to develop products of commercial value under
our collaboration arrangements; the risk of patent infringement and other litigation, as well as those risks discussed elsewhere in this report, including under the
heading “Risk Factors.” All forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this report and we do not undertake any obligation to update our forwardlooking statements, except as required by applicable law
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
References throughout this Form 10-K to the “Company,” “AMRI,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and its subsidiaries, taken
as a whole, unless the context otherwise indicates.
Overview
We are a leading global contract research and manufacturing organization providing customers fully integrated drug discovery, development, and manufacturing
services. We supply a broad range of services and technologies supporting the discovery and development of pharmaceutical products, the manufacture of Active
Pharmaceutical Ingredients (“API”) and fine chemicals, the development and manufacture of drug product (“DP”) for new and generic drugs, as well as research,
development and manufacturing for the agrochemical and other industries. In addition, we offer analytical and testing services to the medical device and personal
care industry. With locations in the United States, europe, and Asia, we maintain geographic proximity to our customers and flexible cost models.
Our Capabilities
We perform services and offer solutions in drug discovery and the development, manufacture and testing of pharmaceutical intermediates, API and drug product
for many of the world’s leading healthcare companies. The problem-solving abilities of our scientists provide added value throughout the discovery, development
and manufacturing process. Our comprehensive suite of services and flexible business model allow our customers to contract with a single provider, providing
them with a more efficient transition of experimental compounds through the research and development process, ultimately reducing the time and cost involved in
bringing compounds from concept to market. compounds developed in our contract research facilities can then be more easily transitioned to production at our
large-scale manufacturing facilities for use in clinical trials and, ultimately, commercial sales if the product meets regulatory approval.
In addition to providing an integrated services model for outsourcing, we offer our customers the option of insourcing. With our world class expertise in managing
high performing groups of scientists, this option allows us to embed our scientists into the customer’s facility allowing the customer to cost-effectively leverage
their unused laboratory space.
As our customers continue to seek innovative new strategies for R&D efficiency and productivity, we are continually aligning our business and resources to
address their needs. We use a cross-functional approach that maximizes the strengths of both insourcing and outsourcing, by leveraging our people, know-how,
facilities, expertise and global project management to provide exactly what is needed across the discovery, development or manufacturing process. We have also
aligned our sales and marketing organization to optimize selling opportunities within our respective business segments, underscoring our dedication to client
service. Our improved organizational structure, combined with more focused marketing efforts, should enable us to continue to drive long-term growth and
profitability.
Industry Overview and Trends
We believe that market trends in the pharmaceutical and biotech industries demonstrate an increasing emphasis on outsourcing of pharmaceutical discovery,
development and manufacturing services, as companies seek to reduce internal resources and fixed overhead costs in favor of variable models that offer high
quality and higher accountability alternatives to meet their needs. We believe that ongoing reorganizations and strategy changes by the pharmaceutical industry
point to outsourcing as an increasingly important and strategic part of their R&D and manufacturing efforts. We also believe that increased regulatory scrutiny of
manufacturing facilities, and in some instances, closure or divestiture of these facilities, provide opportunities for AMRI to benefit from increased outsourcing of
discovery and API and drug product manufacturing and testing services.
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Business Strategy
AMRI is uniquely positioned in the marketplace to provide a competitive advantage to a diverse group of customers. Our reputation of providing the highest
quality service on a global basis with a variety of pricing options provides companies with the security of placing their discovery, development, and small and
large-scale manufacturing projects seamlessly across our global network of research and manufacturing facilities. We have a comprehensive suite of service
offerings ranging from early stage discovery through formulation and manufacturing across the U.S., europe and Asia. We believe our services, products and
geographic mix will allow us to increase strategic relationships and enhance our revenue growth with a large and diverse customer base. We have divided our
business into four segments and have taken many actions to provide for both revenue growth and increased profitability across our service offerings. Our strategy
to accomplish this includes the following:
·

Enhance revenue growth and mix
Market trends continue to point to outsourcing as an increasingly important part of business strategies for our customers across the drug discovery,
development, manufacturing and testing spectrum. We believe our ability to offer an integrated service model, which also allows customers to use a
combination of our U.S., europe and Asia-based facilities, will result in an increase in demand for our services globally.
We also focus our efforts on important customer segments, including global generic and specialty pharmaceutical companies, small and large biotech
companies, medical device companies, non-profit/government entities and companies in related industries such as agricultural, nutraceutical and food. We
believe maintaining a balance within our customer portfolio between large pharmaceutical, non-profit/government, biotech and other companies will help
ensure sustained revenue and reduce concentration risk.
We have made investments to grow our Discovery and Development Services (“DDS”), API and DP businesses in areas that have higher growth
opportunities, are differentiated and have high barriers to entry or that expand our global footprint. We have invested in additional discovery and
development capabilities, including discovery biology, analytical chemistry and drug product testing, further extending our services for customers. Within
our API business, we have expanded our portfolio of products, including products such as controlled substances and steroids, which have high regulatory
standards and/or a limited number of suppliers. In addition, we have expanded our development and manufacturing expertise to include complex
capabilities such as sterile API, fermentation and hydrogenation. We also believe our injectable DP business has significant potential in the marketplace,
driven by the growth in biologically-based compounds which are formulated and manufactured on a sterile basis.

·

Streamline operations to improve margins
The cost base of our manufacturing and research facilities is largely fixed in nature. however, we continue to seek opportunities to minimize these fixed
costs, with a focus on gaining flexibility and improving efficiency, cost structure and margin.

·

Maximize licensing/partnering of products and services to enhance future cash flow
Since 2014, we have focused on advancing our leadership in the development and manufacture of generic products by entering into multiple collaboration
arrangements with pharmaceutical companies. These programs provide us the opportunity to capture revenue over the lifetime of the generic product,
through development, supply and, if commercialized by our partner, through profit sharing. Through 2016, we had entered into 12 such programs, with
the first product approved and launched in December 2016. These programs collectively address over $3 billion in innovator market value and, if
approved and launched, could generate significant revenue in future years.
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·

Acquire businesses to expand our services and capabilities
Over the last few years, we have acquired new businesses and may consider additional acquisitions that enhance or complement our existing service
offerings and capabilities. Any acquisitions would generally be expected to contribute to our growth by integrating with and expanding our current
services and capabilities within the drug discovery, development and manufacturing life cycle.

Business Development
Significant Business Developments
We have recently completed the following acquisitions that impacted our results of operations and will continue to have an impact on our future operations.
Euticals
On July 11, 2016, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of Prime european Therapeuticals S.p.A, (“euticals”), a privately-held company headquartered in Lodi,
Italy (the “euticals Acquisition"). The purchase price was $277.1 million (net of cash acquired of $20.8 million), which consisted of $141 million in cash, net of a
final working capital adjustment of $2.3 million, the issuance of 7.1 million shares of AMRI common stock, valued at $91.8 million (net of lock-up provision
discount of $9.6 million), and two promissory notes with a combined face value of €55 million, that were valued at $44.3 million (net of an original issue discount
of $16.4 million). euticals specializes in custom synthesis and the manufacture of API, with a network of facilities located primarily in Italy, Germany, the U.S.
and France.
Whitehouse Laboratories
On December 15, 2015, we acquired all the outstanding equity interests of Whitehouse Analytical Laboratories, LLc (“Whitehouse”). Total consideration
was $53.9 million in cash and $1.8 million in shares of AMRI common stock.
Whitehouse, based in Lebanon, New Jersey, is a leading provider of testing services that includes chemical and material analysis, method development and
validation and quality control verification services to the pharmaceutical, medical device and personal care industries.
Gadea Pharmaceutical Group
On July 16, 2015, we acquired all the outstanding shares of Gadea Pharmaceutical Group (“Gadea”), a privately-held company located in Valladolid, Spain. The
purchase price was $127.6 million (net of cash acquired of $10.9 million), which consisted of 2.2 million shares of AMRI common stock, valued at $40.6 million,
and $98.0 million in cash. Gadea, along with its crystal Pharma division, is widely recognized as an industry leader in the development and manufacture of
technically complex API and finished drug product.
SSCI
On February 13, 2015, we completed the purchase of assets and assumed certain liabilities of a solid state chemistry and analytical business, now called AMRI
SScI, LLc (“SScI”), for a purchase price of $35.9 million. SScI has an industry-leading reputation for solving difficult drug substance and formulated drug
product challenges and is considered an expert in solid-state chemistry and analytical services. SScI brings extensive material science knowledge and technology
and expands our capabilities in analytical testing to include peptides, proteins and oligonucleotides.
Glasgow
On January 8, 2015 we acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of a sterile injectable business located in Glasgow, UK, now called Albany Molecular
Research (Glasgow) Limited (“Glasgow”), for a total purchase price of $23.8 million. The Glasgow facility extends our capabilities to include sterile injectable
drug product formulation and clinical stage manufacturing.
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Oso Biopharmaceuticals
On July 1, 2014, we acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of Oso Biopharmaceuticals Manufacturing, LLc (“OsoBio”), a contract manufacturer of highly
complex injectable drug products for an aggregate purchase price of $109.2 million. The addition of OsoBio provides us with commercial-scale manufacturing
capabilities for highly complex injectable drug products. With the addition of OsoBio, we offer customers a single source to address their sterile fill/finish needs,
from discovery and development through to commercial supply.
Cedarburg Pharmaceuticals
On April 4, 2014, we acquired all of the outstanding shares of cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“cedarburg”), a contract developer and manufacturer of
technically complex API for both generic and branded customers, for an aggregate purchase price of $39.0 million. The acquisition is consistent with our strategy
to be the preeminent supplier of custom and complex drug development services and product to both the branded and generic pharmaceutical industry.
Business Segments
We have organized our business into four distinct segments: DDS, API, DP and Fine chemicals (“Fc”). Our DDS segment provides comprehensive services from
hit identification to investigational new drug (“IND”), including drug lead discovery, library design and synthesis, synthetic and medicinal chemistry, in vitro
biology and pharmacology, lead optimization, chemical development, drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics, analytical testing services and small-scale
commercial manufacturing. Our API segment provides pilot to commercial scale manufacturing of API, including intermediates, high potency and controlled
substances, steroids and hormones and sterile API. Our DP segment provides formulation through commercial scale production of complex liquid-filled and
lyophilized injectable products and opthalmic formulations. Our Fc segment provides lab to commercial scale synthesis of reagents and diverse compounds.
See “Item 7 – Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial condition and Results of Operations” and the Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements
for financial information on our business segments.
DDS Segment
We have the capabilities and expertise to provide services and solutions from standalone activities to fully integrated drug discovery program support. We do this
by leveraging our global team of scientists across multiple disciplines and providing our customers with experienced project management from employees with
decades of real world discovery and development experience.
Discovery
We offer a full portfolio of comprehensive services from target and lead identification tools to IND enabling activities. These services and solutions consist of
expertise with diverse chemistry library design and synthesis, high throughput and high content screening (hTS), medicinal chemistry, biology and pharmacology,
including a full suite of drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics that includes biotransformation and biocatalysis capabilities.
Our discovery efforts are focused on our centers of excellence in hyderabad, India and Albany and Buffalo, New York. In close cooperation with New York State,
we are the anchor partner in an integrated drug discovery center on the Buffalo Niagara Medical School campus in Buffalo, NY. Working with other partners in
academia and industry, we have created a North American center of excellence for industry, government and academic collaborations that will provide unique
services and solutions to the drug discovery community. This center leverages our expertise in biology, hTS, medicinal chemistry and pharmacology, integrated
within a single site in the U.S. In cooperation with New York’s empire State Development corporation, we are managing the operations of this center. equipment
and facilities have been purchased and are owned by New York State.
Chemical Development
We provide expertise in a full array of chemical development technologies to promote the best overall solutions for route development from late lead optimization
to commercial manufacturing. Processes developed for small-scale production of a compound may not be scalable or efficient for larger scale production. The
benefits provided by our chemical development efforts include improved cost efficiency, new intellectual property, improved process safety and sustainability.
comprehensive and collaborative consideration of these synthetic options allows these benefits to be recognized early in the development and progression of both
proprietary and generic APIs, and to accelerate development timeframes.
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With chemical development locations located in close proximity to our manufacturing facilities around the globe, we have become a top choice for an increasing
number of biopharmaceutical companies seeking a partner for the rapid advancement of their drug candidates. customers throughout the world rely on our proven
technical and analytical expertise, commitment to the highest quality and regulatory standards, flexibility, and strong customer focus to advance their clinical
candidate compounds through the drug development process, from bench to commercial production.
Analytical and Testing Services
We provide broad analytical chemistry and testing services for drug discovery, pharmaceutical development and manufacturing. With years of industry experience,
state-of-the-art technologies and instrumentation, along with close collaboration with synthesis chemists, our analytical and testing services are designed to ensure
that the right tools are used to solve even the most difficult problem.
We provide extensive capabilities in analytical services, a critical support function for pharmaceutical development and API and drug product manufacturing. We
are considered experts in the field of solid-state chemistry and analytical services and have an industry-leading reputation for solving the most difficult API and
drug product issues. We also provide state-of-the-art spectroscopic and microscopy expertise and work with a variety of compounds, including small molecules,
peptides, proteins and oligonucleotides.
We also offer a comprehensive array of testing solutions, from materials and excipients; container qualification and container closure integrity testing; extractable
and leechables; drug delivery systems and device qualification programs; packaging; distribution; and stability and storage programs. These services augment our
discovery, development and manufacturing services and meet the increasingly complex needs of customers we serve.
API Segment
Our manufacturing facilities are strategically situated in various locations in the United States, europe and Asia. These locations are integrated with our
pharmaceutical development services and are globally positioned to provide tailored customer solutions and enable the efficient and cost-effective transfer of preclinical, clinical and commercial APIs from small-scale to large-scale production.
We provide chemical synthesis and manufacturing services for our customers in accordance with current Good Manufacturing Practice (“cGMP”) regulations. All
facilities and manufacturing techniques used for prescribed steps in the manufacture of products for clinical use or for sale in the United States must be operated in
conformity with cGMP guidelines and regulations as established by the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) as well as the european Medicines
Agency (“eMA”). We have production facilities and quarantine and restricted access storage necessary to manufacture quantities of API sufficient for conducting
clinical trials from Phase I through commercial scale, based on volume and other parameters. We have proven capabilities in high value-added areas of
pharmaceutical development and manufacturing, such as cytotoxic compounds, controlled substances, steroids and hormones. These types of products present a
number of potential challenges in their production and handling and we have extensive experience in the cGMP production of these types of compounds, from
grams to hundreds of kilograms per year. Additionally, several of our facilities are licensed by the U.S. Drug enforcement Administration to produce scheduled
controlled substances. In addition, we have expertise in complex manufacturing processes such as sterile API, fermentation and hydrogenation.
Leveraging our wide array of API development and manufacturing capabilities, we have established a growing portfolio of APIs. Our portfolio can generally be
classified into two categories: (i) proprietary API for which we have a long-term development and/or supply relationship with a customer; and (ii) generic or nonproprietary API which we develop and license and supply to customers in return for manufacturing revenue and, for certain products, royalty payments or a
percentage of the profits on sales of commercialized drug products using those API. The addition of euticals significantly expands the number of proprietary
compounds we manufacture for customers, as well as our non-proprietary API portfolio, positioning us as one of the leading sources of specialty and generic API.
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As of December 31, 2016, our portfolio consisted of over 240 intermediates and APIs. In addition, we had over 140 APIs in development for customers or for our
own portfolio. We will continue to expand our generic, non-proprietary API portfolio both through internal development and through in-licensing or acquisitions.
DP Segment
We have become the preferred choice for an ever-increasing number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies seeking a partner for the rapid advancement
of their drug candidates. We provide state-of-the-art facilities and capabilities to deliver integrated pharmaceutical drug development programs and services,
including process R&D, pre-formulation and formulation development, GLP bioanalytical and separation sciences. Working in close collaboration with our
established chemical synthesis, analytical development, preformulation and testing groups, we offer formulation development services for dosage forms, including
solid dosage, solution, suspension, topicals, injectables, opthalmics, cGMP early clinical phase capsules filling and cGMP early clinical powder in bottle for
solution and suspension.
We also provide cGMP contract manufacturing services in sterile syringe, opthalmics and vial filling using specialized technologies including lyophilization. We
provide these services for both small molecule drug products and biologicals, from small batch manufacturing to commercial scale.
As of December 31, 2016, we had agreements in place to manufacture and supply 19 commercial drug products for customers. Our drug product pipeline also
includes approximately 93 products under development by customers or partners.
FC Segment
Following the euticals Acquisition, we operate a new reportable segment, Fine chemical (“Fc”). Our Fc segment provides lab to commercial scale synthesis of
reagents and diverse compounds to the pharmaceutical, agrochemical, detergent and cosmetics industries. We currently do not allocate significant selling or
marketing resources towards this segment.
Research and Development
Leveraging our wide array of drug development and manufacturing capabilities, we conduct research and development (“R&D”) activities at our large-scale
manufacturing facilities to develop APIs for our own portfolio. We also enter into collaboration arrangements with third parties for the development and
manufacture of certain products and/or product candidates in both our API and DP segments. Although each of these arrangements is unique in nature, both parties
are active participants in the activities of the collaboration and are exposed to significant risks and rewards depending on the commercial success of the activities.
These arrangements typically include research and development and manufacturing. We are obligated under these arrangements to perform the development
activities and contract manufacturing of the product or product candidate. Generally, the contract manufacturing component of the arrangement commences during
the development activities and continues through the commercial stage of the product, during which time the collaboration partner is obligated to purchase the
product from us. The collaboration partners are generally responsible for obtaining regulatory approval and for sale and distribution of the product. The original
terms of these arrangements generally range from 7 to 10 years in duration. These arrangements may include non-refundable, upfront payments, milestone
payments and cost sharing provisions during the development stage, payments for manufacturing based on cost plus an agreed percentage, as well as profit sharing
payments during the product’s commercial stage.
Licensing Agreements
Teva Agreement
The company currently receives royalties in conjunction with a Development and Supply Agreement with Teva Pharmaceuticals (“Teva”). This agreement was
previously with Allergan, plc (“Allergan”) and was transferred to Teva, following Allergan’s sale of its generic business to Teva in 2016. These royalties are
earned on Teva’s net sales of qualifying generic products in the period in which the sales occur.
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Sanofi Agreement
In March 1995, we entered into a license agreement with Sanofi, pursuant to which we granted Sanofi an exclusive, worldwide license to any patents issued to us
related to certain patent applications. The royalty payments under this license agreement ceased in May 2015 due to the expiration of patents under the license
agreement. The historic royalties were based on the worldwide net sales of fexofenadine hcl, marketed as Allegra in the Americas and as Telfast elsewhere, as
well as on sales of Sanofi’s authorized or licensed generics and sales by certain authorized sub-licensees.
Collaboration Arrangements
We have several agreements that span our API and DP segments to co-develop and commercialize generic products in the United States or in other designated
countries. In many cases, the development costs are shared with a third-party pharmaceutical company. The products are in various development stages. If the
products are approved and commercialized, we will supply active pharmaceutical ingredient and/or drug product and the third party pharmaceutical company will
sell and distribute those products. We will receive a percentage of the profits on those product sales.
Sodium Nitroprusside Agreement
On December 8, 2016, the product Sodium Nitroprusside Injection was approved by the FDA. This product was developed with our partner Namigen and launched
by Sagent pursuant to a collaboration arrangement. We currently supply the finished drug product, which our partner sells and distributes. In addition to receiving
contract revenue on the manufacture of the product, we also receive a percentage of the profits on our partner’s sales of the product.
Customers
Our customers include pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, as well as government research entities and non-profit organizations, which are a growing
segment of our customer base. We also sell, to a more limited extent, to companies who are in the businesses of agriculture, fine chemicals, contract chemical
manufacturing, medical devices, and flavoring and cosmetics. For the year ended December 31, 2016, contract revenue from our three largest customers
represented 7%, 5% and 3%, respectively, of our contract revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2015, contract revenue from our three largest customers
represented 11%, 5% and 4%, respectively, of our total contract revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2014, contract revenue from our three largest customers
represented 13%, 10% and 6%, respectively, of our contract revenue. In each of these years, our largest customer was Ge healthcare. See Note 14 to the
consolidated Financial Statements for information on geographic and other customer concentrations.
Our backlog of open manufacturing orders and accepted service contracts was $391.2 million at December 31, 2016, including backlog acquired in the euticals
Acquisition, as compared to $173.8 million at December 31, 2015. Our manufacturing and services contracts are completed over varying durations, from short to
extended periods of time, which may be as long as several years.
We believe our aggregate backlog as of any date is not necessarily a meaningful indicator of our future results for a variety of reasons. First, contracts vary in
duration, and as such the timing and amount of revenues recognized from backlog can vary from period to period. Second, our manufacturing and services
contracts are of a nature that a customer may, at its option, cancel or delay the timing of delivery, which would change our projections concerning the timing and
extent to which revenue may be recognized. In addition, the value of our services contracts that are conducted on a time and materials or full-time equivalent basis
are based on estimates, from which actual revenue generated could vary. Finally, there is no assurance that projects included in backlog will not be terminated or
delayed at any time by regulatory authorities. We cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to realize all or most of the net revenues included in backlog or
estimate the portion to be filled in the current year.
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Sales and Marketing
Our services are sold primarily by our dedicated sales personnel and senior management. Because our customer contacts are often highly skilled scientists, we
believe our use of technical experts in the sales effort has allowed us to establish strong customer relationships. We market our services directly to customers
through meetings with senior management of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, participation in trade conferences and shows, maintenance of an
extensive Internet web site and advertisements in scientific and trade journals and other forums. We also receive a significant amount of business from customer
referrals and through expansion of existing contracts.
Employees
As of December 31, 2016, we had 3,085 employees. Of these employees, 1,693 are at our international facilities. Our U.S. large-scale manufacturing hourly work
force has 108 employees who are subject to a collective bargaining agreement with the International chemical Workers Union. A 3-year collective bargaining
agreement was ratified in January 2017 with the union and expires in January 2020. Our Missouri location is also covered by a collective bargaining agreement,
with 28 members. This collective bargaining agreement expires in September 2017 and negotiations are anticipated in the second half of 2017. Additionally, we
have 72 union employees at our large-scale manufacturing facility at AMRI India that are covered by two collective bargaining agreements. One agreement expires
in April 2018 and the other expires in 2019. None of our other employees are subject to any collective bargaining agreement. We consider our relations with our
employees and the unions to be good.
Competition
While a small number of larger outsourcing service providers have emerged as leaders within the industry, the outsourcing market for pharmaceutical and
biotechnology contract research, development and manufacturing remains fragmented. We face competition based on a number of factors, including size, relative
expertise and sophistication, quality, costs and speed. In many areas of our business we also face foreign competition from companies in regions with lower cost
structures. We compete with contract research companies, contract drug manufacturing companies, research and academic institutions and with the internal
research and manufacturing departments of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. We have also historically competed with internal research departments
of large pharmaceutical companies; recently, however, competition in this area has declined, as these companies have downsized their internal research
organizations.
We rely on many internal factors that allow us to stay competitive and differentiate us in the marketplace, including:
§

Our globalization of both research and manufacturing facilities, which allows us to increase our access to key global markets,

§

Our ability to offer a flexible combination of high quality, cost-effective services, and

§

Our comprehensive service offerings, which allow us to provide our customers a more efficient transition of experimental compounds through the
research, development and manufacturing process, ultimately reducing the time and cost involved in bringing these compounds from concept to market.

Patents and Proprietary Rights
Our success will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain and enforce patents, protect trade secrets, obtain licenses to technology owned by third parties when
necessary, and conduct our business without infringing the proprietary rights of others. The patent positions of pharmaceutical, medical products and
biotechnology firms can be uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. We seek patent protection with respect to products and processes developed
in the course of our activities when we believe such protection is in our best interest and when the cost of seeking such protection is justifiable. We cannot be
assured that any AMRI patent applications will result in the issuance of patents or, if any patents are issued, whether they will provide significant proprietary
protection or commercial advantage, or will not be circumvented by others. In the event a third party has also filed one or more patent applications for inventions
which conflict with one of ours, we may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the United States Patent and Trademark Office to determine
priority of invention, which could result in the loss of any opportunity to secure patent protection for the inventions and the loss of any right to use the inventions.
even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us, these proceedings could result in substantial cost to us. The filing and prosecution of patent applications, litigation
to establish the validity and scope of patents, assertion of patent infringement claims against others and the defense of patent infringement claims by others can be
expensive and time consuming. We cannot be certain that in the event that any claims with respect to any of our patents, if issued, are challenged by one or more
third parties, a court or patent authority ruling on such challenge will determine that such patent claims are valid and enforceable. An adverse outcome in such
litigation could cause us to lose exclusivity afforded by the disputed rights. If a third party is found to have rights covering products or processes used by us, we
could be forced to cease using the technologies covered by such rights, could be subject to significant liability to the third party, and could be required to license
technologies from the third party. Furthermore, even if our patents are determined to be valid, enforceable, and broad in scope, we cannot be certain that
competitors will not be able to design around such patents and compete with us and our licensees using the resulting alternative technology.
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Many of our current contracts with our customers provide that ownership of proprietary technology developed by us in the course of work performed under the
contract is vested in the customer, and we retain little or no ownership interest.
We also rely upon trade secrets and proprietary know-how for certain unpatented aspects of our technology. To protect such information, we require all employees,
consultants and licensees to enter into confidentiality agreements limiting the disclosure and use of such information. We cannot provide assurance that these
agreements provide meaningful protection or that they will not be breached, that we would have adequate remedies for any such breach, or that our trade secrets,
proprietary know-how and technological advances will not otherwise become known to others. In addition, we cannot provide assurance that, despite precautions
taken by us, others have not and will not obtain access to our proprietary technology. Further, we cannot be certain that third parties will not independently develop
substantially equivalent or better technology.
Government Regulation
The manufacture, transportation and storage of our products are subject to certain international, federal, state and local laws and regulations. Our future
profitability is indirectly dependent on the sales of pharmaceuticals and other products developed by our customers. Regulation by governmental entities in the
United States and other countries will be a significant factor in the production and marketing of any pharmaceutical products that may be developed by us or our
customers. The nature and the extent to which such regulation may apply to us or our customers will vary depending on the nature of any such pharmaceutical
products. Virtually all pharmaceutical products developed by us or our customers will require regulatory approval by governmental agencies prior to
commercialization. human pharmaceutical products are subject to rigorous preclinical and clinical testing and other approval procedures by the FDA and by
foreign regulatory authorities. Various federal and, in some cases, state statutes and regulations also govern or influence the manufacturing, safety, labeling,
storage, record keeping and marketing of such pharmaceutical products. The process of obtaining these approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate
federal and foreign statutes and regulations are time consuming and require the expenditure of substantial resources.
Generally, in order to gain FDA or foreign regulatory approval of a drug product, several years of studies and regulatory filings and review must occur, including
laboratory studies, IND filing, several years of clinical trials, NDA filings, and FDA and foreign regulatory authority marketing approval. even if regulatory
clearances are obtained, a marketed product is subject to continual review. Later discovery of previously unknown problems or failure to comply with the
applicable regulatory requirements may result in restrictions on the marketing of a product or withdrawal of the product from the market as well as possible civil or
criminal sanctions. For marketing outside the United States, we will also be subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing human clinical trials and
marketing approval for pharmaceutical products. The requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary
widely from country to country.
All facilities and manufacturing techniques used for prescribed steps in the manufacture of API and drug product for clinical use or for sale in the United States
must be operated in conformity with cGMP guidelines as established by the FDA and International conference on harmonization. Our facilities are subject to
unscheduled periodic regulatory inspections to ensure compliance with cGMP regulations. Failure on our part to comply with applicable requirements could result
in the termination of ongoing research or the disqualification of data for submission to regulatory authorities. A finding that we had materially violated cGMP
requirements could result in additional regulatory sanctions and, in severe cases, could result in a mandated closing of our facilities or significant fines, which
would materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations
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Our manufacturing and research and development processes involve the controlled use of hazardous or potentially hazardous materials and substances. We are
subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of such materials, including radioactive
compounds and certain waste products. Additionally, we are subject to various laws and regulations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory and
manufacturing practices and emissions and wastewater discharges. Although we believe that our activities currently comply with the standards prescribed by such
laws and regulations, the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials cannot be eliminated.
Concentration of Business and Geographic Information
For a description of revenue and long-lived assets by geographic region, please see Note 14 to the consolidated Financial Statements.
Internet Website
We maintain an internet website at www.amriglobal.com . The information contained on our website is not included as a part of, or incorporated by reference into,
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available on our website, free of charge, our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “exchange Act”) as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Sec. Our reports filed with, or furnished
to, the Sec are also available at the Sec’s website at www.sec.gov .
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
certain factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. You should consider carefully the risks and
uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including under the heading “Forward-Looking
Statements.” The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risk and uncertainties that we are unaware of, or that we
currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business.
We are dependent on our customers’ spending on and demand for our manufacturing and development services. A decrease in their spending or demand
could have a material adverse effect on our business.
We depend on pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that use our services for a large portion of our revenues. Although there has been a trend among
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to outsource drug research, development and manufacturing functions, this trend may not continue. We have
experienced increasing pressure on the part of our customers to reduce expenses, including the use of our services, as a result of negative economic trends
generally and more specifically in the pharmaceutical industry.
In addition, the amount that customers are able to spend on our services will depend upon, among other things, their access to capital and their need to develop new
products, which is influenced by underlying consumer demand for their products, competitors’ initiatives, market response and reimbursement rates. Any reduction
in customer spending as a result of these factors or from general economic and/or pharmaceutical industry downturns could have a material adverse impact on our
revenues, earnings and financial condition..
Our services and offerings are highly complex, and if we are unable to provide quality and timely offerings to our customers, our business could suffer.
The services we offer are highly complex. Our operating results depend on our ability to execute and, when necessary, improve our quality management strategy
and systems, and our ability to effectively train and maintain our employee base with respect to quality management. A failure of our quality control systems could
result in problems with facility operations or preparation or provision of products. In each case, such problems could arise for a variety of reasons, including
equipment malfunction, failure to follow specific protocols and procedures, problems with raw materials or environmental factors and damage to, or loss of,
manufacturing operations. Such problems could affect production of a particular batch or series of batches of products, requiring the destruction of such products
or a halt of facility production altogether.
In addition, our failure to meet required quality standards may result in our failure to timely deliver products to our customers, which in turn could damage our
reputation for quality and service. Any such failure could, among other things, lead to increased costs, lost revenue, reimbursement to customers for lost drug
product, APIs or other raw materials, other customer claims, damage to and possibly termination of existing customer relationships, time and expense spent
investigating the cause and, depending on the cause, similar losses with respect to other batches or products. If problems in preparation or manufacture of a product
or failures to meet required quality standards for that product are not discovered before such product is released to the market, we may be subject to adverse
regulatory actions, including product recalls, injunctions to halt manufacture and distribution, restrictions on our operations, and monetary sanctions.
We operate in a highly regulated industry and our failure to meet strict regulatory requirements could have a material adverse impact on our business.
All facilities and manufacturing techniques used to manufacture APIs and drug product for clinical use or for commercial sale in the United States are subject to
extensive ongoing regulation, including cGMP and drug safety standards that are established by the FDA and similar standards established by regulatory
authorities in other countries, as well as for some facilities, regulations imposed by the DeA. The FDA and other regulatory authorities conduct unscheduled
periodic inspections of our facilities to monitor our compliance with regulatory standards. Failure by us or by our customers to comply with the requirements of
these regulatory authorities, including remediating any inspectional observations to the satisfaction of these regulatory authorities, could result in warning letters,
product recalls, monetary sanctions, injunctions to halt manufacturing and distribution, restrictions on our operations, or withdrawal of existing or denial of
pending approvals, including those relating to products or facilities. In addition, such a failure could expose us to product liability claims, contractual claims from
our customers, as well as ongoing remediation and increased compliance costs, any or all of which could be significant and adversely affect our results of
operations. Any adverse action by the FDA or other applicable regulatory bodies or any failure by us to maintain, renew or obtain necessary permits and licenses
could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, our prospects for future work and our operating results.
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If we are not successful in selecting and integrating the businesses and technologies we acquire, or in managing our divestitures, our business may suffer.
During the past few years, we have significantly expanded our business through acquisitions, including the acquisition of Gadea in 2015 and euticals in 2016. Our
future success depends in part on our ability to acquire additional businesses and technologies that complement, enhance or expand our current business or
offerings and we therefore plan to continue to acquire businesses and technologies, as strategic opportunities present themselves. however, we may face
competition from other companies in pursuing such acquisitions and businesses and technologies may not be available on terms and conditions that we find
acceptable. We risk spending time and money investigating and negotiating with potential acquisition partners, but not completing transactions.
even if completed, acquisitions involve numerous risks which may include:
·

difficulties, resources and expenses incurred in assimilating and integrating operations, services, products or technologies, including supplier, distribution,
employee and customer relationships;

·

challenges with developing and operating new businesses, including those which may be materially different from our existing businesses and which may
require the development or acquisition of new internal capabilities and expertise;

·

diversion of management's attention from the company’s existing core business, resulting in the loss of key customers or personnel;

·

potential losses resulting from undiscovered liabilities of acquired companies that are not covered by the indemnification we may obtain from the seller;

·

acquisitions could be dilutive to earnings, or in the event of acquisitions made through the issuance of our common stock to the shareholders of the
acquired company, dilutive to the ownership of our existing shareholders;

·

Loss of key employees of the acquired business;

·

risks of not being able to overcome differences in foreign business practices, customs and importation regulations, language and other cultural barriers in
connection with the acquisition of foreign companies;

·

risks that disagreements or disputes with prior owners of an acquired business, technology, service or product may result in litigation expenses and
diversion of our management's attention;

·

absence of adequate internal controls or occurrence of fraud in the financial systems of acquired companies; and

·

risk that the initial objectives for the acquisition may not remain viable due to variety of factors, including regulatory changes.

In the event that any of the above occur or the acquired business or technology does not otherwise meet our expectations or perform in accordance with historical
periods, our results of operations may be adversely affected.
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Some of the same risks exist when we decide to exit or sell a business, site, or product line. In addition, divestitures could involve additional risks, including the
following:
·

difficulties in the separation of operations, services, products and personnel, including obtaining any necessary consents from customers or relevant
regulatory agencies; and

·

the need to agree to retain or assume certain current or future liabilities in order to complete the divestiture.

We continually evaluate the performance and strategic fit of our businesses and operating facilities. Moreover, in connection with our business acquisitions, we
have undertaken, and may continue to undertake, restructuring plans relating to reductions in force and other transition activities. Such restructurings and any other
divestitures of non-strategic businesses or assets may result in significant write-offs, including those related to goodwill and other intangible assets, which could
have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, we may encounter difficulty in finding buyers or alternative exit strategies
at acceptable prices and terms and in a timely manner. To the extent we are not successful in completing our planned divestitures or restructuring efforts, we may
have to expend significant cash, incur debt and continue to absorb under-performing divisions. If we are unable to manage these or any other significant risks that
we encounter in divesting a business, site or product line, we may not achieve some or all of the expected benefits of the divestiture which could have a material
adverse effect on our business.
We may experience disruptions in or the inability to source raw materials to support our production processes or to deliver goods to our customers.
We rely on independent suppliers for key raw materials, consisting primarily of various chemicals. While we generally use raw materials available from more than
one source and do not enter into long-term contracts for such materials, we could experience inventory shortages if we were required to use an alternative
manufacturer on short notice, which could lead to delays and to raw materials being purchased on less favorable terms than we have with our regular supplier.
Under the terms of our contracts, we may not be able to pass additional expense for raw materials along to our customers and therefore such increases may impact
our results of operations. Additionally, we rely on various third-party delivery services to transport both supplies from our vendors and finished products to our
customers. A disruption in our ability to source or transport materials could delay or halt production and delivery of certain of our products thereby adversely
impacting our ability to comply with the terms of our contracts, which could result in breach of contract claims, financial penalties or customers terminating such
contracts entirely.
We derive a significant percentage of our revenue from a small group of customers. We may lose one or more of our major customers.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, revenues from Ge healthcare, our largest customer, represented approximately 7% of our contract and total revenue.
Our existing agreement with Ge healthcare extends through 2018. In total, our five largest customers in 2016 represented approximately 22% of our contract and
total revenue. This customer concentration increases credit risk and other risks associated with particular customers and particular products, including risks related
to market demand for such products and regulatory risks. In addition, these customers, along with most of our other customers, typically may cancel their contracts
with 30 days’ to two-years’ prior notice, depending on the size of the contract, for a variety of reasons, some of which are beyond our control. The loss or a
significant reduction in business from any of our major customers could materially decrease our contract revenues and have a material adverse impact on our
results of operations.
We have a significant amount of indebtedness. We may not be able to generate enough cash flow from our operations to service our indebtedness, we may
fail to meet our current credit facility’s financial covenants and we may incur additional indebtedness in the future, which could each adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
As of December 31, 2016, we had approximately $683.5 million of indebtedness outstanding. Our ability to make payments on, and to refinance, our indebtedness
depends on our ability to generate cash in the future. To a certain extent, this is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other
factors, some of which are beyond our control. If we do not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or if future borrowings are not available to us in an
amount sufficient to pay our indebtedness, or to fund our liquidity needs, we may be forced to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness, sell assets, reduce or
delay capital expenditures, seek to raise additional capital or take other similar actions. We may not be able to execute any of these actions on commercially
reasonable terms or at all. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness will depend on our financial condition at the time, the restrictions in the instruments governing
our indebtedness and other factors, including market conditions.

16

Our convertible Senior Notes due 2018 (the “convertible Senior Notes”) come due in the first half of 2018, and we may not have sufficient cash on hand to repay
these notes. If we are unable to pay the principal on our convertible Senior Notes, we may need to incur additional debt or issue additional securities to generate
funds to cover these payments. In addition, in the event of a default under the convertible Senior Notes, the holders and/or the trustee under the indenture
governing the convertible Senior Notes may accelerate the payment obligations thereunder, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations. Moreover, amounts outstanding under our term loan and revolving credit facility could become due and payable on an
accelerated basis under certain conditions and in certain circumstances. For a further discussion of our indebtedness, please see Note 7 to our consolidated
Financial Statements included herein.
Our inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy our debt service obligations, or to refinance or restructure our obligations on commercially reasonable terms
or at all, would likely have an adverse effect, which could be material, on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Moreover, actions by credit
rating agencies, such as downgrades or negative changes to ratings outlooks or recovery ratings, can affect the availability of financing options for the company,
increase our cost of capital and hurt our competitive position. In addition, our significant indebtedness, combined with our other financial obligations and
contractual commitments, could have other important consequences. For example, it could:
·

make us more vulnerable to adverse changes in general U.S. and worldwide economic, industry and competitive conditions and adverse changes in
government regulation;

·

expose us to the risk of increased interest rates because certain of our borrowings are at variable rates of interest;

·

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and our industry;

·

place us at a disadvantage compared to our competitors who have less debt; and

·

limit our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, research and development efforts, acquisitions, debt service
requirements, execution of our business strategy or other purposes.

Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if we incur additional
indebtedness, the risks related to our business and our ability to service or repay our indebtedness would increase. Also, under our convertible Senior Notes, we
are required to offer to repurchase the convertible notes upon the occurrence of a fundamental change, which could include, among other things, any acquisition of
our company for consideration other than publicly traded securities. The repurchase price must be paid in cash, and this obligation may have the effect of
discouraging, delaying or preventing an acquisition of our company that would otherwise be beneficial to our shareholders .
Restrictions under our credit agreement may prevent us from obtaining additional sources of funding that we may require to advance certain of our
business objectives.
During 2016, in connection with the euticals Acquisition, we entered into a Third Amended and Restated credit Agreement (the “credit Agreement”) with
Barclays Bank PLc. The credit Agreement contains customary restrictions on our activities, including covenants that may restrict us from:
·

incurring additional indebtedness;

·

paying dividends on or repurchasing our capital stock;
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·

making investments or acquisitions;

·

creating liens;

·

selling assets;

·

guaranteeing indebtedness;

·

engaging in transactions with affiliates;

·

consolidating, merging or transferring all or substantially all of our assets.

Our ability to comply with these restrictive covenants will depend on our future performance, which may be affected by events beyond our control. If we violate
any of these covenants and are unable to obtain waivers, we would be in default under our credit Agreement and payment of the indebtedness could be accelerated.
In addition, complying with these covenants may preclude us from obtaining additional sources of financing in the short-term and may make it more difficult for us
to successfully execute our business strategy and compete against companies that are not subject to such restrictions.
We face increased competition.
We compete with other contract development manufacturing organizations, clinical research organizations, large pharmaceutical companies offering third-party
manufacturing services to fill their excess capacity, laboratories and research and academic institutions. We compete on a variety of factors, including: quality,
regulatory compliance, expertise, scope and breadth of services, reliability, price, value and manufacturing flexibility.
We also experience significant competition from foreign companies operating under lower cost structures, primarily those in china, India and other Asian
countries. While we operate in certain lower relative cost jurisdictions, such as India , we do not have operations in china. Many of our competitors have greater
financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we have. As new companies enter the market and as more advanced technologies become available, we
currently expect to face increased competition. Moreover, pharmaceutical companies may elect to provide their development and manufacturing services internally
rather than outsource those functions to us or any of our competitors.
In the future, any one of our competitors may develop technological advances that render the services that we provide less desirable or obsolete. In order to
compete, we must properly anticipate our customers’ needs and enhance, innovate and develop new, more cost-efficient services. We may not be able to develop
the services we need to successfully compete in the future, and our competitors may be able to develop such services before we do or provide those services at a
lower cost. consequently, we may lose existing customers and fail to attract new customers, which would materially harm our financial condition and prospects.
Along with significant property and equipment balances, we have a significant and increasing amount of intangible assets, including goodwill, recorded
on our balance sheet, mainly related to our acquisitions, which may lead to potentially significant impairment charges.
We review long-lived assets, including goodwill, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not
be recoverable based on the existence of certain triggering events. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are also subject to an impairment assessment at
least annually. The amount of goodwill and identifiable intangible assets in our consolidated balance sheet has increased significantly as a result of acquisitions. At
December 31, 2016, the total goodwill related to DDS, API and DP was $52.0 million, $104.6 million and $74.7 million, respectively, and total intangible assets
and patents recorded on our consolidated balance sheet was $165.2 million.
Factors we consider important which could result in long-lived asset impairment include the following:
·

a significant change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset group is being used;

·

a significant change in the business climate that could affect the value of a long-lived asset group; and

·

a significant decrease in the market value of assets.

18

If long-lived assets are determined to be impaired in the future, we would be required to record a charge to our results of earnings, which would have a material,
adverse effect on our business and financial condition.
If we are unable to protect our technology and proprietary information, our business could be materially harmed.
Some of the most valuable assets of the company include patents. We seek patent protection with respect to products and processes developed in the course of our
activities when we believe such protection is in our best interest and when the cost of seeking such protection is justifiable. We cannot be assured that our patent
applications will result in the issuance of patents or, if any patent are issued, they will provide significant proprietary protection or commercial advantage. In
addition to patent protection, we also rely on trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovation and licensing opportunities. There can be no assurance
that these protections will prove meaningful against competitive offerings or otherwise be commercially valuable or that we will be successful in enforcing our
intellectual property rights against unauthorized users. In an effort to maintain the confidentiality and ownership of our information, such as trade secrets,
proprietary information and other confidential information, we require our employees, consultants and advisors to execute confidentiality and proprietary
information agreements. however, these agreements may not provide us with adequate protection against improper use or disclosure of confidential information
and there may not be adequate remedies in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure. Furthermore, we may from time to time hire scientific personnel formerly
employed by other companies involved in one or more areas similar to the activities we conduct. In some situations, our confidentiality and proprietary information
agreements may conflict with, or be subject to, the rights of third parties with whom our employees, consultants or advisors have prior employment or consulting
relationships. Although we require our employees and consultants to maintain the confidentiality of all proprietary information of their previous employers, these
individuals, or we, may be subject to allegations of trade secret misappropriation or other similar claims as a result of their prior affiliations.
In addition, others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques causing some technologies that we develop to be
patented by other companies. Our failure to protect our proprietary information and techniques may inhibit our ability to compete effectively and our investment in
those technologies may not yield the benefits we expected. In connection with our collaboration activities, we or our partner may seek approval to market a generic
product before the expiration of patents for that product, based upon our belief that such patents are invalid, unenforceable or would not be infringed by our
products. In these cases and others, we could be subject to claims that we are infringing on the intellectual property of others. We could incur significant costs
defending such claims and if we are unsuccessful in defending these claims, we may be subject to liability for infringement and could be required, among other
things, to discontinue the use of the infringing technology, expend significant resources to develop non-infringing technology, license such technology from the
third party claiming infringement and/or cease the manufacture, use or sale of the infringing processes or offerings. even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us,
these proceedings could result in substantial cost. The filing and prosecution of patent applications, litigation to establish the validity and scope of patents,
assertion of patent infringement claims against others and the defense of patent infringement claims by others can be expensive and time consuming.
If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our customers’ proprietary information, we may be subject to claims.
Many of the formulations and processes used by us in manufacturing or developing products to customer specifications are subject to trade secret protection,
patents or other protections owned or licensed by the relevant customer. We take significant efforts to protect our customers’ proprietary and confidential
information, including requiring our employees to enter into agreements protecting such information. If, however, any of our employees breaches the nondisclosure provisions in such agreements, or if our customers make claims that their proprietary information has been disclosed, this could damage our reputation,
subject us to legal proceedings and significant expense and have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Failure to manage our business to consistent profitability without Allegra and/or other royalties will have a significant impact on our operations, financial
condition and stock value.
The recurring royalties we received on the sales of Allegra/Telfast historically provided a material portion of our revenue, earnings and operating cash flows. These
royalties ceased in May 2015. Recurring royalties have significantly higher margins than do our other business activities, resulting in the need to replace a
significant amount of margin in order to achieve the same level of profitability. While recently we have begun to receive royalties on the sales of other products in
connection with our collaboration arrangement activities, we must continue to develop our business and manage our operating costs in order to operate profitably.
In recent years, we have acquired revenue-generating businesses, including euticals and Gadea, that are expected to produce consistent and growing revenue and
profit over time and have effected certain cost saving measures in order to support the profitability that is achievable from our core contract research and
manufacturing businesses. In the future, we may need to take additional cost cutting measures if our revenues do not continue to increase or are not profitable
enough to support our operations. If we are unable to do so, there will be a material and adverse impact on our business, including negative impact on our operating
cash flow, access to capital and ability to implement required capital improvements to our facilities.
Our sales forecast and/or revenue projections may not be accurate.
We use a backlog system, a common industry practice, to forecast sales and trends in our business. Our sales personnel monitor the status of proposals, including
the date when they estimate a customer will make a purchase decision and the potential size of the order. We aggregate these estimates on a quarterly basis in order
to generate a sales backlog. While this process provides us with some guidance in business planning and forecasting, it is based on estimates only and is therefore
subject to risks and uncertainties. We believe our aggregate backlog as of any date is not necessarily a meaningful indicator of our future results for a variety of
reasons. First, contracts vary in duration, and as such the timing and amount of revenues recognized from backlog can vary from period to period. Second, certain
of our manufacturing and services contracts are of a nature that a customer may, at its option, cancel or delay the timing of delivery, which would change our
projections concerning the timing and extent to which revenue may be recognized. Moreover, the volume of product under each contract is subject to change,
sometimes, significantly, based on the expected forecast volume required by our customers. In addition, the value of our services contracts that are conducted on a
time and materials or full-time equivalent basis are based on estimates, from which actual revenue generated could vary. Finally, there is no assurance that projects
included in backlog will not be terminated or delayed at any time by customers or regulatory authorities. We cannot provide any assurance that we will be able to
realize all or most of the net revenues included in backlog or estimate the portion to be filled in the current year. Any variation in the conversion of the backlog into
revenue or the backlog itself could cause us to improperly plan or budget and thereby adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
Delays in, or failure to obtain, the approval of our customers’ regulatory submissions could impact our revenue and earnings.
The successful transition of preclinical and clinical candidates into long term commercial supply agreements is a key component of the Drug Product and API
business strategy. If our customers do not receive approval for their products from the applicable regulatory authorities, this could have a significant negative
impact on our revenue and earnings. In addition, the manufacture of controlled substances requires timely approval by the DeA of sufficient controlled substance
quota. If we do not receive sufficient DeA quota to meet our customers’ demands, and/or if our customers do not receive sufficient quota to take delivery of and/or
formulate the product at their facilities, this could have a significant negative impact on our revenue and earnings.
We are subject to foreign currency risks.
Our global business operations give rise to market risk exposure related to changes in foreign exchange rates, interest rates, commodity prices and other market
factors. These foreign market risks were further heightened following our recent acquisitions of euticals, with operations in Italy, Germany and France and Gadea,
with operations in Spain. While we have derivative financial instruments in place as appropriate to mitigate certain of our foreign exchange risk, these hedges may
not be successful and they do not fully cover the foreign currency exposure that results from the operation of the entire business. If we fail to effectively manage
such risks, it could have a negative impact on our consolidated financial statements. For a further discussion of our foreign currency risks, please see “Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”.
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Our business is subject to risks relating to operating internationally.
We have significant international operations, particularly following the acquisitions of Gadea and euticals. As a result, a significant part of our contract revenue is
derived from operations outside the U.S. Our international revenues, which include revenues from our non-U.S. subsidiaries, have represented approximately 47%,
36% and 32% of our total contract revenue in 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively. We expect that international revenues will continue to account for a significant
percentage of our revenues for the foreseeable future. We currently have operations in eight countries. There are a number of risks associated with our international
business including:
·

fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

·

general economic and political conditions in the markets in which we operate;

·

potential international conflicts, including terrorist acts;

·

potential trade restrictions, exchange controls, adverse tax consequences, and legal restrictions on the repatriation of funds into the U.S.;

·

difficulties and costs associated with staffing and managing foreign operations, including risks of work stoppages and/or strikes, as well as violations of
local laws or anti-bribery laws such as the U.S. Foreign corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act, and the OecD convention on combating Bribery of
Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions;

·

unexpected changes in regulatory requirements;

·

the difficulties of compliance with a wide variety of foreign laws and regulations;

·

unfavorable labor regulations in foreign jurisdictions;

·

potentially negative consequences from changes in or interpretations of US and foreign tax laws and particularly any changes in tax laws affecting any
repatriation of profits;

·

exposure to business disruption or property damage due to geographically unique natural disasters;

·

longer accounts receivable cycles in certain foreign countries; and

·

import and export licensing requirements.

These risks, individually or in the aggregate, could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. For example, as mentioned above,
we are subject to compliance with the United States Foreign corrupt Practices Act and similar anti-bribery laws, which generally prohibit companies and their
intermediaries from making improper payments to foreign government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. While our employees and agents
are required to comply with these laws, we cannot be sure that our internal policies and procedures will always protect us from violations of these laws despite our
commitment to legal compliance and corporate ethics. The occurrence or allegation of these types of risks may adversely affect our business, performance,
prospects, value, financial condition, and results of operations.
In addition, on June 23, 2016, the U.K. held a non-binding referendum, in which a majority of voters approved an exit from the european Union (referred to as
“Brexit”). The Brexit referendum may impact our relationship with foreign customers and the operations of our european facilities, and expose us to fluctuations in
foreign currency rates and heightened volatility in our stock price due to reactions in global markets. The Brexit referendum constituted an advisory, non-binding
vote, and its full impact is subject to the results of following the two-year negotiation period from the date of on which the British government commences formal
withdrawal proceedings.
In December 2016, the Italian Prime Minister, Matteo Renzi, resigned his position. If the new government calls for a referendum on Italy’s membership in the
european Union and such an exit is approved, this could have a significant adverse impact on our API operations in Italy. Such an exit could increase regulatory
costs and the abandonment of the euro could adversely affect pricing and profitability, which would provide competitive advantages to API manufacturers outside
of Italy. Following the euticals Acquisition, we have significant API operations in Italy and our business could therefore be materially adversely impacted by such
a withdrawal.
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Our future success depends on our ability to retain our senior management and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel.
Our business is highly dependent on our senior management, including William Marth, our chief executive Officer and President, and George Svokos, our Senior
Vice President and chief Operating Officer. Although we have formal employment agreements with our executive officers, these agreements do not prevent them
from terminating their employment with us at any time. We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees.
Our future growth and profitability also depends upon the research and efforts of our highly skilled employees, such as our scientists, and their ability to keep pace
with changes in drug discovery and development technologies. We compete with pharmaceutical firms, biotechnology firms, contract research firms, and academic
and research institutions to recruit scientists. These employees may voluntarily terminate their employment with us at any time. If we cannot retain such scientists
and other highly skilled employees, or attract additional qualified employees, we will not be able to continue our existing services and will not be able to expand
the services we offer to our customers.
Furthermore, retaining and motivating key personnel from our recent acquisitions who will be instrumental in integrating our businesses will be important to our
ability to successfully achieve our business objectives.
We are subject to labor and employment laws and regulations, which could increase our costs and restrict our operations in the future.
We employ approximately 3,100 employees worldwide. Some of our employees are represented by labor organizations and national works councils. Our
management believes that our employee relations are satisfactory. however, further organizing activities or collective bargaining may increase our employmentrelated costs and we may be subject to work stoppages and other labor disruptions. Moreover, if we are subject to employment-related claims, such as individual
and class actions relating to alleged employment discrimination, wage-hour and labor standards issues, and such actions are successful in whole or in part, this may
affect our ability to compete or have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We may be held liable for harm caused by drugs that we develop and test.
We develop, test and manufacture drugs that are used by humans. If any of the drugs that we develop, test or manufacture harm people, we may be named as a
defendant in a product liability lawsuit, which could be costly to defend and could result in significant liability and divert management’s time, attention and
resources. even claims without merit could subject us to adverse publicity and require us to incur significant legal fees. Although we have generally sought to
mitigate this risk through liability insurance and contractual indemnities and liability limitations in our agreements with customers and vendors, we may
nevertheless be required to pay damages and such amounts may be in excess of the amounts of our insurance coverage or excluded from coverage entirely. Product
liability claims and lawsuits, regardless of their ultimate outcome, could have a material adverse effect on our operations, financial condition, reputation and on our
ability to attract and retain customers.
We may be liable for contamination or other harm caused by hazardous materials that we use.
Our manufacturing and research and development processes involve the use of hazardous or potentially hazardous materials, chemicals and substances. We are
subject to federal, state and local laws and regulation governing the use, manufacture, handling, storage and disposal of such materials, including but not limited to
radioactive compounds and certain waste products. Additionally, we are subject to various laws and regulations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory and
manufacturing practices and emissions and wastewater discharges. Although we believe that our activities currently comply with the standards prescribed by such
laws and regulations, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of contamination or injury resulting from these materials. We may incur liability as a result of any
contamination or injury. In addition, we cannot predict the extent of regulations that might result from any future legislative or administrative actions, and therefore
we could be required to incur significant costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations which could restrict our operations in the future. Such expenses,
liabilities or restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial condition.
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We have been required to conduct remediation activities, including ongoing monitoring and reporting, at certain of our facilities. It is the company’s policy to
record appropriate liabilities for environmental matters where remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. Such liabilities are based on
the company’s best estimate of the future costs required to complete the remedial work. environmental matters often span several years and frequently involve
regulatory oversight or adjudication. Additionally, many remediation efforts are fluid and are likely to be affected by future technology, site and regulatory
developments. each of these matters is subject to various uncertainties, and it is possible that some of these liabilities will be materially higher than the company
has estimated. In addition, our operations have grown through acquisitions, and it is possible that facilities that we have acquired may expose us to environmental
liabilities associated with historical site conditions that have not yet been discovered. If such remediation costs or claims were to arise, they may be material and
may not be recoverable under any contractual indemnity or otherwise from prior owners or operators or any insurance policy.
Our operations may be interrupted by the occurrence of a natural disaster or other catastrophic event at our facilities.
We depend on our laboratories, manufacturing facilities and equipment for the continued operation of our business. Our research and development, manufacturing
and administrative functions are primarily conducted at our facilities in Albany and Rensselaer, New York, Albuquerque, New Mexico, Valladolid, Spain, Milan,
Italy, Grafton, Wisconsin, and Burlington, Massachusetts. Although we have contingency plans in effect for natural disasters or other catastrophic events, these
events could still disrupt our operations. For example, in 2014, our facility in Albuquerque, New Mexico experienced a power failure which resulted in certain
business interruption losses. even though we carry business interruption insurance policies, we may suffer losses as a result of business interruptions that exceed
the coverage available under our insurance policies. Any natural disaster or catastrophic event at any of our facilities could have a significant negative impact on
our operations.
Terrorist attacks or acts of war may seriously harm our business.
Terrorist attacks or acts of war may cause damage or disruption to our company, our employees, our facilities and our customers, which could significantly impact
our revenues, costs and expenses and financial condition. The increasing potential for terrorist attacks over the past several years, the national and international
responses to terrorist attacks, and other acts of war or hostility have created many economic and political uncertainties, which could materially adversely affect our
business, results of operations, and financial condition in ways that we currently cannot predict.
Our systems and networks may be subject to cyber security breaches and other disruptions that could compromise our information, interrupt our
operations and harm our business.
In the ordinary course of our business, we rely heavily upon our technology systems and networks to input, maintain and communicate the confidential and
proprietary data we receive on behalf of our customers, to facilitate the manufacture of inventory, to receive and process orders of product, to manage the billing
and collections from our customers and to generally operate our global network of manufacturing and development facilities. Our security measures could be
compromised and, as a result, our data, customers’ data, information technology or infrastructure could be accessed improperly, made unavailable or improperly
modified, or our servers could be attacked or corrupted by computer hackers, nefarious actors, computer viruses or other malicious software programs or breached
due to employee error or malfeasance, all of which could create system disruptions and cause shutdowns or denials of service. In addition, subcontractors, partners
or other third party vendors that receive or utilize confidential information on our behalf may become subject to a security breach, which may result in
unauthorized access to such third party’s information systems and/or our or our customers’ protected information. The occurrence of any of these events could
cause our infrastructure to be perceived as vulnerable, cause our customers to lose confidence in our services and to terminate or not renew their agreements with
us, damage our reputation and negatively affect our ability to attract new customers, all of which could reduce our revenue, increase our expenses and expose us to
legal claims and regulatory actions. Similarly, if our internal networks are compromised, we could be adversely affected by the loss of proprietary, trade secret or
confidential technical and financial data. Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not
identified until they are launched against a target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventive measures. We could be
forced to expend significant resources in response to a cybersecurity breach, including repairing system damage, increasing cyber security protection costs by
deploying additional personnel and protection technologies, paying regulatory fines and and resolving legal claims and regulatory actions, all of which could
increase our expenses, divert the attention of our management and key personnel away from our business operations and adversely affect our results of operations.
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Domestic governmental policy changes, including health care reform and budgetary policies could reduce the reimbursement rates pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies receive for drugs they sell, which in turn, could reduce the demand for our services.
We depend on contracts with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for a majority of our revenues. We therefore depend upon the ability of pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies to earn enough profit on the drugs they market to drive continued demand for our services and to devote substantial resources to the
research and development of new drugs. Additionally, under our long-term collaboration agreements, we rely on our partners to obtain acceptable prices or an
adequate level of reimbursement for current and potential future products developed under those agreements. If they are unable to do so, we may not be able to sell
those products on a competitive and profitable basis. continued efforts of government and third-party payors to contain or reduce the cost of health care through
various means could affect our levels of revenues and earnings. In certain foreign markets, pricing and/or profitability of pharmaceutical products are subject to
governmental control. Domestically, there have been and may continue to be proposals to implement similar governmental control. Future legislation may limit the
prices pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can charge for the drugs they market and cost control initiatives could affect the amounts that third-party
payors agree to reimburse for those drugs. As a result, such laws and initiatives may have the effect of reducing the resources that pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies can devote to the research and development of new drugs. If pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies decrease the resources they
devote to the research and development of new drugs, the amount of services that we perform, and therefore our revenues, could be reduced.
Our business may be adversely affected if we encounter complications in connection with the upgrade and implementation of our global enterprise
resource planning (“ERP”) system, our information technology systems and infrastructure. Upgrading and integrating our business systems could result
in implementation issues and business disruptions.
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, we implemented a new eRP system at all of our global locations, except our Gadea and euticals locations. We
may implement or upgrade eRP systems at our recently acquired businesses during 2017. The implementation or upgrade of eRP systems affects the processes that
constitute our internal control over financial reporting and will require testing for effectiveness. In general, the process of planning and preparing for these types of
implementations is extremely complex and we are required to address a number of challenges including data conversion, system cutover and user training.
Problems in any of these areas could cause operational problems during implementation including delayed shipments, missed sales, billing and accounting errors
and other operational issues. There have been numerous, well-publicized instances of companies experiencing difficulties with the implementation of eRP systems
which resulted in negative business consequences. We rely to a large extent upon sophisticated information technology systems and infrastructure, with respect to
enterprise resource planning, manufacturing, and the storage of business, financial, intellectual property, and other information essential to the effective operation
and management of our business. While we have invested significantly in the operation and protection of data and information technology, there can be no
assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions, or identify breaches in our systems. Prolonged interruptions or significant breaches could result in a
material adverse effect on our operations.
The ability of our stockholders to control our policies and effect a change of control of our Company is limited, which may not be in every shareholder’s
best interests.
There are provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws which may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from making a proposal to acquire us, even
if some of our stockholders might consider the proposal to be in their best interests. Among other things, these provisions:
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·

establish a classified board of directors such that not all members of the board are elected at one time;

·

Limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from the board;

·

establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and nominations to our board of directors;

·

Require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly-called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written consent;

·

Limit who may call stockholder meetings; and

Authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could discourage or delay a tender offer or change in control.
Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General corporation Law, which prohibits
a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us for a period of three years after the date of the transaction
in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.
Our officers and directors have significant control over us and their interests as shareholders may differ from our other shareholders.
As of March 2, 2017, our directors and officers beneficially owned or controlled approximately 14.8% of our outstanding common stock. Individually and in the
aggregate, these stockholders significantly influence our management, affairs and all matters requiring stockholder approval. In particular, this concentration of
ownership may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing an acquisition of us and may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Our stock price is volatile and could experience substantial change.
The market price of our common stock has historically experienced and may continue to experience volatility. Our quarterly operating results, changes in general
conditions in the economy or the financial markets and other developments affecting us or our competitors could cause the market price of our common stock to
fluctuate substantially.
Because we do not intend to pay dividends, our shareholders will benefit from an investment in our common stock only if it appreciates in value.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to finance the expansion of our
business and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, the success of our shareholders’ investment in our common stock will
depend entirely upon any future appreciation. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate in value or even maintain the price at which
shareholders purchased their shares.
We may experience significant increases in operational costs beyond our control.
costs for certain items which are needed to run our business, such as energy and certain materials, have the potential to fluctuate.These cost increases are often
dependent on market conditions. Although we do our best to manage these price increases, we may experience increases in our costs due to the volatility of prices
and market conditions. Increases in these costs could negatively impact our results of operations to the extent that we are unable to incorporate these increases into
the pricing of our goods and services.
A reduction or delay in government funding of research and development may adversely affect our business.
A portion of our overall revenue is derived either from governmental sources directly, such as the U.S. National Institutes of health (“NIh”), or indirectly, from
customers whose funding is partially dependent on both the level and timing of funding from government sources. A reduction in government funding for the NIh
or other government research agencies could adversely affect our business and our financial results and there is no guarantee that future government funding will
be directed towards projects and studies that require use of our services.
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Any claims beyond our insurance coverage limits, or that are otherwise not covered by our insurance, may result in substantial costs and a reduction in
our available capital resources.
We maintain property insurance, employer’s liability insurance, product liability insurance, general liability insurance, business interruption insurance, and
directors and officers liability insurance, among others. Although we maintain what we believe to be adequate insurance coverage, potential claims may exceed the
amount of insurance coverage or may be excluded under the terms of the policy, which could cause an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. In addition, in the future we may not be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage or we may be required to pay higher premiums and accept
higher deductibles and additional risk to our business and financial condition.
Tax legislation initiatives or challenges to our tax positions could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
We are a multinational business with global operations. As such, we are subject to the tax laws and regulations of Italy, France, Germany, Spain, the United
Kingdom, the United States and several other international jurisdictions. From time to time, various legislative initiatives may be proposed that could have a
material adverse effect on our effective tax rate or tax payments. In addition, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations.
If our tax positions are challenged by relevant tax authorities, we may not be successful in defending such a challenge and this could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition.
Tax assessments by various tax authorities could be materially different than the amounts we have provided for in our consolidated financial statements. We are
regularly audited by various tax authorities. From time to time, these audits could result in proposed assessments. While we believe that we have adequately
provided for any such assessments, future settlements could be materially different than we have provided for and thereby have a material adverse effect on our
earnings and cash flows. We operate in various tax jurisdictions, and although we believe that we have provided for income and other taxes in accordance with the
relevant regulations, if the applicable regulations were ultimately interpreted differently by a taxing authority, we could be exposed to additional tax liabilities.
While we believe our tax positions, including, among others, intercompany transfer pricing policies, are consistent with the tax laws in the jurisdictions in which
we conduct our business, it is possible that these positions may be challenged by jurisdictional tax authorities, which could have a significant impact on our tax
position.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.
The aggregate square footage of our operating facilities is approximately 3,007,000 square feet, of which 2,539,000 square feet are owned and 468,000 square feet
are leased. Set forth below is information on our principal facilities:
Location
Rensselaer, New York
Origgio, Italy
Valladolid, Spain
Zamora, Spain
Lodi, Italy
Albuquerque, New Mexico
Aurangabad, India
Albany, New York
Bon-encontre, France
Springfield, Missouri
Rozzano, Italy
Leon, Spain
Tonneins, France
holywell, United Kingdom
Frankfurt,.Germany
hyderabad, India
Burlington, Massachusetts
West Lafayette, Indiana
Grafton, Wisconsin
Varese, Italy
Zejtun, Malta
Glasgow, UK
Denver, colorado
Lebanon, New Jersey
Singapore
Waltham, Massachusetts
Gerenzano, Italy

Square Feet
331,000*
323,000
268,000
259,000
245,000
220,000
208,000
159,000*
113,000
108,000
108,000
103,000*
70,000
63,000
61,000*
54,000*
51,000*
49,000
43,000*
32,000*
31,000*
30,000*
25,000*
20,000*
18,000*
8,000*
7,000*

*All or a portion of the square footage of this location is leased.

Segment
API, DDS
API
API
API
API
DP
API
corporate, DDS
API
API
API
API, DP
API
API
DDS, Fc
DDS
DP
DDS
API
API, Fc
API
DP
API
DDS
DDS
corporate
API, Fc

Primary Purpose
contract Manufacturing & contract Research
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
Administration & contract Research
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing & contract Research (held-for-sale)
contract Research
contract Research
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Manufacturing
contract Research
contract Manufacturing
contract Research and Administration
contract research
contract Research
Administration
contract Research
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We believe these facilities are generally in good condition and suitable for their purpose. We believe that the capacity associated with these facilities is adequate to
meet our anticipated needs through 2017.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
The company, from time to time, may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. except as noted below, the
company is not currently a party to any such claims or proceedings which, if decided adversely to the company, would either individually or in the aggregate have
a material adverse effect on the company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
On November 12, 2014, a purported class action lawsuit, John Gauquie v. Albany Molecular Research, Inc., et al., No. 14-cv-6637, was filed against the company
and certain of its current and former officers in the United States District court for the eastern District of New York. An amended complaint was filed on March
31, 2015. The amended complaint alleges claims under the Securities exchange Act of 1934 arising from the company’s alleged failure to disclose in its August 5,
2014 announcement of its financial results for the second quarter of 2014 that one of the manufacturing facilities experienced a power interruption in July 2014.
The amended complaint alleges that the price of the company’s stock was artificially inflated between August 5, 2014 and November 5, 2014, and seeks
unspecified monetary damages and attorneys’ fees and costs. The defendants submitted on July 29, 2015 a motion to dismiss lead plantiffs’ amended complaint.
Lead plantiffs submitted an opposition on October 7, 2015, and defendants submitted a reply on November 20, 2015. On July 26, 2016, the court denied the
defendants’ motion to dismiss. The company filed a motion to reconsider its July 29, 2015 motion to dismiss lead plantiff’s amended complaint. On December 12,
2016, the parties agreed to a settlement in principle of all legal claims, subject to the court approval process, which will be funded by the company’s insurance.
ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
None.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES.
(a) Market Information. Our common Stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol “AMRI.” The following table sets forth
the high and low closing prices for our common Stock as reported by NASDAQ for the periods indicated:
Period
Year ending December 31, 2016
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High

Low

$
$
$
$

19.65
16.42
16.64
18.99

$
$
$
$

13.71
12.45
13.16
14.27

Year ending December 31, 2015
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

19.08
20.80
22.20
20.50

$
$
$
$

15.07
17.72
17.23
17.08

Stock Performance Graph
The following graph provides a comparison, from December 31, 2011 through December 31, 2016 , of the cumulative total stockholder return (assuming
reinvestment of any dividends) among the company, NASDAQ composite Index (the “NASDAQ composite”) and the NASDAQ U.S. Benchmark
Pharmaceuticals Total Return Index (the “Pharmaceuticals Index”), respectively. The historical information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of future
performance.
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December 31, 2011
December 31, 2012
December 31, 2013
December 31, 2014
December 31, 2015
December 31, 2016

Albany Molecular
Research, Inc.
100.000
180.205
344.027
555.631
677.474
640.273

NASDAQ
Composite
100.000
117.452
164.569
188.835
201.984
219.894

Pharmaceutical
Index
100.000
114.320
155.114
188.954
199.222
197.054

(b) holders.
The number of record holders of our common Stock as of March 1, 2017 was approximately 170. We believe that the number of beneficial owners of our
common Stock at that date was substantially greater than 170.
(c) Dividends.
We have not declared any cash dividends on our common Stock since our inception in 1991. We currently intend to retain our earnings for future growth and,
therefore, do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
(d) equity compensation Plan Information.
The following table provides information about the securities authorized for issuance under our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2016:

Plan Category
equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1)
equity compensation plans not approved by security holders
Total

(a)
Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants
and rights
1,577,871
—
1,577,871

(b)
Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
$
9.93
—
$
9.93

(c)
Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in
column (a))
3,155,889(2)
—
3,155,889

(1) consists of our 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 1998 employee Stock Purchase Plan (“eSPP”).
Does not include purchase rights accruing under the eSPP because the purchase price (and therefore the number of shares to be purchased) will not
be determined until the end of the purchase period.
(2) Includes 2,691,756 shares available under the 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan and 464,133 shares available under the eSPP.
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(e) Purchases of equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.
The following table represents treasury share repurchases during the three months ended December 31, 2016:

Period
October 1, 2016 – October 31, 2016
November 1, 2016 – November 30, 2016
December 1, 2016 – December 31, 2016
Total

(a)
Total Number
of Shares
Purchased (1)
5,409
2,156
504
8,069

(b)
Average Price
Paid Per
Share
$
16.73
$
15.09
$
18.11
$
16.38

(c)
Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Plans or
Programs
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

(d)
Maximum
Dollar Value of
Shares that
May Yet Be
Purchased
Under the
Program
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

(1) consists of shares repurchased by the company for certain employees’ restricted stock that vested in order to satisfy minimum tax withholding
obligations that arose on the vesting of the restricted stock.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
The selected financial data shown below for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, and as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, have been derived from
our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K. The selected financial data set forth below for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 and as of December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for those years, which are not included in
this Form 10-K. The information should be read in conjunction with the our audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial
information included herein, including Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial condition and Results of Operations”.
As of and for the Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013
(in thousands, except per share data)

2016
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
contract revenue
Recurring royalties
Milestone revenue
Total revenue
cost of contract revenue
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Impairment charges
Restructuring and other charges
Technology incentive award
Postretirement benefit plan settlement gain
Total costs and expenses
(Loss) income from operations
Interest expense, net
Other (expense) income, net
(Loss) income before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net (loss) income
Basic (loss) income per share
Diluted (loss) income per share
Weighted average common shares outstanding, basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding, diluted
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
cash and cash equivalents
Property and equipment, net
Working capital
Total assets
Long-term debt, excluding current installments
Total stockholders’ equity
Other Consolidated Data:
capital expenditures

$

$
$
$

560,430
10,020
—
570,450
437,649
16,046
122,136
3,126
10,252
—
—
589,209
(18,759)
(39,923)
(1,277)
(59,959)
10,212
(70,171)
(1.83)
(1.83)

$

$
$
$

38,304
38,304

384,738
17,618
—
402,356
295,527
5,474
77,394
3,770
5,988
554
—
388,707
13,649
(19,338)
2,220
(3,469)
(1,168)
(2,301)
(0.07)
(0.07)

$

$
$
$

33,169
33,169

250,704
25,867
—
276,571
209,193
1,004
48,897
7,835
3,582
1,621
(1,285)
270,847
5,724
(10,957)
(235)
(5,468)
(2,190)
(3,278)
(0.10)
(0.10)

$

$
$
$

31,526
31,526

2012

210,001
36,574
—
246,575
171,923
414
42,256
1,857
7,183
2,767
—
226,400
20,175
(1,244)
772
19,703
7,935
11,768
0.38
0.37
30,912
31,845

$

$
$
$

189,858
35,988
840
226,686
168,064
906
40,904
8,334
4,632
3,143
—
225,983
703
(454)
(130)
119
4,380
(4,261)
(0.14)
(0.14)
30,318
30,318

$

52,000
364,806
217,393
1,209,648
604,476
298,982

$

49,343
209,508
181,149
865,567
373,692
287,223

$

46,995
165,475
139,851
515,868
155,895
241,822

$

175,928
127,775
228,626
440,184
118,050
240,757

$

23,293
135,519
73,097
262,161
6,526
202,106

$

51,428

$

22,041

$

17,189

$

11,135

$

9,890

Strategic Acquisitions:
During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we made the following strategic business acquisitions, which, along with the long-term debt used to
finance these acquisitions, had a significant impact on our selected financial data shown above and the comparability of that data period to period:
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July 11, 2016, euticals
December 15, 2015, Whitehouse
July 16, 2015, Gadea
February 13, 2015, SScI
January 8, 2015, Glasgow
July 1, 2014, OsoBio
April 4, 2014, cedarburg
Refer to Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial condition and Results of Operations” for additional details.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview
We are a leading global contract research and manufacturing organization providing customers fully integrated drug discovery, development, and manufacture
services. We supply a broad range of services and technologies supporting the discovery and development of pharmaceutical products, the manufacturing of active
pharmaceutical ingredients and the manufacture of drug product for new and generic drugs, as well as research, development and manufacturing for the
agrochemical and other industries. In addition, we offer analytical and testing services to the medical device and personal care industry. With locations in the
United States, europe, and Asia, we maintain geographic proximity to our customers and flexible cost models.
We continue to integrate our research and manufacturing facilities worldwide, increasing our access to key global markets and enabling us to provide our
customers with a flexible combination of high quality services and competitive cost structures to meet their individual outsourcing needs. Our service offerings
range from early stage discovery through formulation and manufacturing. We believe that the ability to partner with a single provider is of significant benefit to our
customers as we are able to provide them with a more efficient transition of experimental compounds through the research and development process, ultimately
reducing the time and cost involved in bringing these compounds from concept to market. compounds developed in our contract research facilities can then be
more easily transitioned to production at our large-scale manufacturing facilities for use in clinical trials and, ultimately, commercial sales if the product obtains
regulatory approval.
In addition to providing an integrated services model for outsourcing, we offer our customers the option of insourcing. With our world class expertise in managing
high performing groups of scientists, this option allows us to embed our scientists into the customers’ facility allowing the customer to cost-effectively leverage
their unused laboratory space.
As our customers continue to seek innovative new strategies for R&D efficiency and productivity, we are aggressively realigning our business and resources to
address their needs. We use a cross-functional approach that maximizes the strengths of both insourcing and outsourcing, by leveraging the company’s people,
know-how, facilities, expertise and global project management to provide exactly what is needed across the discovery, development or manufacturing process. We
have also aligned our sales and marketing organization to optimize selling opportunities within our respective business segments, underscoring our dedication to
client service. Our improved organizational structure, combined with more focused marketing efforts, should enable us to continue to drive long-term growth and
profitability.
Over the last few years, we have implemented a number of organizational and rationalization initiatives and acquired new businesses to better align our operations
to most efficiently support our customers’ needs and grow our revenue and overall profitability. The goal of these restructuring activities has been to advance our
strategy of increasing global competitiveness and managing costs by aligning resources to meet shifting customer demand and market preferences, while
optimizing our location footprint. Our acquisitions enhance and complement our existing service offerings and have contributed to our growth.
We may consider additional acquisitions that enhance or complement our existing service offerings. In addition to growing organically, any acquisitions would
generally be expected to contribute to our growth by integrating with and expanding our current services, or adding services within the drug discovery,
development and manufacturing life cycle. In July 2016, we acquired euticals, which has contributed to our results of operations and will continue to contribute to
our future operations.
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Our backlog of open manufacturing orders and accepted service contracts was $391.2 million at December 31, 2016, including backlog acquired in the euticals
Acquisition, as compared to $173.8 million at December 31, 2015. Our manufacturing and services contracts are completed over varying durations, from short to
extended periods of time, which may be as long as several years.
Our total revenue for 2016 was $570.5 million, including $560.4 million from our contract service business and $10.0 million from royalties on certain products
sold by Actavis, Inc. (“Actavis”) and Teva Pharmacuticals (“Teva”), certain royalties paid to Gadea and profit sharing revenue from our first commercialized
collaboration arrangement product, Sodium Nitroprusside Injection. We generated $26.6 million in cash from operations, and we used $142.0 million for the
acquisitions of euticals, and $51.4 million for capital expenditures on our facilities and equipment, primarily related to maintaining and upgrading our facilities.
Our net loss was $70.2 million in 2016, largely due to the impact of acquisition accounting inventory adjustments of $33.3 million, business acquisition charges of
$13.6 million, eRP implementation costs of $4.7 million, interest expense on long-term debt of $39.9 million, restructuring and other charges of $10.3 million,
impairment charges of $3.1 million, the recognition of a full valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets of $8.5 million and the recognition of a realized
loss on a cash flow hedge related to the euticals Acquisition of $6.5 million, partially offset by a $7.4 million insurance recovery. As of December 31, 2016, we
had $52.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and $683.5 million in bank and other debt (at face value).
Results of Operations
Operating Segment Data
We organize our operations into the following segments: Discovery and Development Services (“DDS”), Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (“API”), Drug Product
(“DP”, formerly referred to as Drug Product Manufacturing or “DPM”) and Fine chemicals (“Fc”). DDS includes activities such as drug lead discovery,
optimization, drug development and small scale commercial manufacturing. API includes pilot to commercial scale manufacturing of active pharmaceutical
ingredients and intermediates. DP includes pre-formulation, formulation and process development through commercial scale production of complex liquid-filled
and lyophilized sterile injectable products and ophthalmic formulations. Fc includes lab to commercial scale synthesis of reagents and diverse compounds.
corporate activities include sales and marketing and administrative functions, as well as research and development costs that have not been allocated to the
operating segments.
Contract Revenue
contract revenue consists primarily of fees earned under manufacturing or service contracts with third-party customers. contract revenue for each of our segments
were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(in thousands)
337,835 $
204,868 $
146,474
104,473
83,060
74,611
98,377
96,810
29,619
19,745
—
—
560,430 $
384,738 $
250,704

2016
API (a)
DDS (a)
DP
Fc
Total

$

$

(a) A portion of the 2014 amounts were reclassified from DDS to API to better align business activities within segments.
API contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased from 2015 primarily due to $156.2 million of incremental revenue from the acquisitions of
Gadea and euticals. This was partially offset by lower revenue of $16.7 million primarily associated with the timing of product transfers from the holywell, UK
site closure.
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API contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased from 2014 primarily due to $6.5 million of incremental revenue from the cedarburg
acquisition in April 2014, incremental revenues from our July 2015 acquisition of Gadea of $41.4 million, increased demand for our commercial and clinical
manufacturing services in the U.S. and improved pricing.
DDS contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased from 2015 primarily due to incremental revenue of $11.0 million from our acquisition of
Whitehouse Laboratories (“Whitehouse”) in December 2015 as well as $2.5 million of revenue from our acquisition of euticals in July 2016. Our revenue also
increased by $5.3 million due to the launch of the compound Library consortium and $3.6 million from the Integrated Discovery center in Buffalo, NY, partially
offset by the downsizing of our facility in Singapore due to the expiration of a significant contract in 2015.
DDS contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased from 2014 primarily due to incremental revenue of $14.9 million from our acquisition of
the Solid State chemical Information (“SScI”) business in February 2015.
DP contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased from 2015 due to incremental revenue of $5.1 million from a full year of Gadea revenue,
which was acquired in July 2015, and increased demand at our Glasgow, UK facility. This was partially offset by decreased volume at our Albuquerque, NM
facility of $3.4 million.
DP contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased from 2014 due to incremental revenue of $36.7 million from a full year of revenue from our
Albuquerque, NM facility, which we acquired in July 2014, $15.6 million from our acquisition of the Glasgow, U.K. facility in January 2015, and increased
demand and pricing at our Burlington, MA facility. Additionally, during 2014, DP contract revenues were impacted due to a business interruption at our
Albuquerque, NM facility.
Fc contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 totaled $19.8 million, which is entirely attributable to the euticals Acquisition in July 2016.
Recurring royalty revenue

2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
10,020 $
17,618 $

2014
25,867

We earn recurring royalty revenue in conjunction with Development and Supply Agreements with Actavis and Teva. During the fourth quarter of 2016, we began
earning profit sharing revenue in the amount of $0.6 million from our first commercialized collaboration arrangement product, Sodium Nitroprusside Injection,
which was developed with our partner Namigen and launched by Sagent. During the third quarter of 2015, we began earning royalties under an agreement with a
customer of Gadea. The recurring royalties on the sales of Allegra/Telfast have historically provided a material portion of our revenues, earnings and operating
cash flows. All patents covered by our Allegra license agreements associated with Allegra/Telfast expired during the second quarter of 2015.
Recurring royalties decreased during the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to 2015 as a result of the patent expirations associated with Allegra/Telfast.
This decrease was partially offset by an increase in the other royalties during the period.
Recurring royalties decreased during the year ended December 31, 2015 from 2014 primarily due to the introduction of generic competition to Allegra in Japan.
Additionally, there was a decrease in Allegra royalties as a result of patent expirations that began in late 2013, as well as a less severe allergy season in Japan in
2014.
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Cost of Contract Revenue
cost of contract revenue consists of compensation and associated fringe benefits for employees, cost of chemicals, depreciation and other indirect project related
costs. cost of contract revenue for our segments were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
(in thousands)
272,866 $
154,670 $
114,171
70,431
61,180
60,101
76,343
79,677
34,921
18,008
—
—
437,648 $
295,527 $
209,193
19.2%
24.5%
22.1%
32.6%
26.1%
19.4%
22.4%
17.3%
(17.9)%
8.8%
—
—
%
%
21.9
23.2
16.6%

2016
API (a)
DDS (a)
DP
Fc
Total
API Gross contract Margin
DDS Gross contract Margin
DP Gross contract Margin
Fc Gross contract Margin
Total Gross contract Margin

$

$

(a) A portion of the 2014 amounts were reclassified from DDS to API to better align business activities within segments
API cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased from 2015 by $118.2 million. The increase was primarily due to our acquisitions of
euticals in July 2016, which contributed $81.8 million of the increase, and Gadea in July 2015, which contributed $25.8 million of the increase. API Gross
contract Margin decreased by 5.3 points during 2016 as compared to 2015. This decrease reflects a 10.0 point decrease related to euticals lower margin as
compared to our legacy API business, which was partially offset by the strong performance in Gadea.
API cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased from 2014 by $40.5 million. $35.6 million of the increase was due to the
acquisition of Gadea in July 2015. Additionally, there was a $4.9 million increase attributable to higher sales volumes related to our existing API facilities. API
Gross contract Margin increased by 2.4 points during 2015 from 2014 based on product mix.
DDS cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased from 2015 by $9.3 million. The euticals Acquisition in July 2016 contributed $5.0
million of costs, and the acquisition of Whitehouse in December 2015 contributed $4.7 million of costs. DDS Gross contract Margin increased by 6.5 points
during 2016 from 2015. The acquisition of Whitehouse in December 2015 contributed 2.5 points of the increase, and the remaining increase was driven by
operating efficiencies.
DDS cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased from 2014 by $1.1 million. There was an $8.2 million increase due to the
acquisition of the SScI business in February 2015, which was particially offset by reduced Discovery Services sales volume. The period over period comparison
also reflects a decrease of $5.3 million due to a recast between the DDS and DP segments, as the Analytical and Formulations business units moved to DPin 2016.
DDS Gross contract Margin increased by 7.0 points in 2015 compared to 2014. A 4.0 point increase was due to the margins contributed by the SScI business with
the remaining growth resulting from improved cost efficiencies.
DP cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 decreased from 2015 by $3.3 million. This was a result of reduced costs of $8.2 million at our
Albuquerque, NM facility, primarily due to strong operational execution and effective cost management. This was partially offset by higher costs of $2.4 million
from a full-year of Gadea operations in Spain and higher production at the Burlington, MA facility. DP Gross contract Margin increased by 5.1 points during 2016
from 2015. The main driver was the strong operational performance at the Albuquerque, NM facility, which was partially offset by lower gross margins at our
Burlington, MA facility.
DP cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased from 2014 by $44.8 million. $27.0 million of the increase was due to the full year of
operations of our Albuquerque, NM facility, which we acquired in 2014. $8.7 million of the increase was due to the addition of the Glasgow, UK business, which
we acquired in January 2015, and also reflected in the period over period comparison is an increase of $5.3 million due to a recast between the DDS and DP
segments, as the Analytical and Formulations business units moved to DP in 2016. DP Gross contract Margin increased 35.0 points during 2015 compared to
2014. 24.0 points of the increase was due to improved operational performance at our Burlington, MA facility and 6.0 points of the increase was attributable to the
Albuquerque, NM facility, following a business interruption which occurred in 2014. The remaining increase was due to the mix of higher margins contributed by
the Glasgow, UK business.
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Fc cost of contract Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 totaled $18.0 million, which is entirely attributable to the euticals Acquisition in July 2016.
Research and Development
Research and development (“R&D”) expense consists of compensation and benefits for scientific personnel for work performed on proprietary product and process
R&D projects, costs of chemicals, materials, outsourced activities and other related out of pocket and overhead costs.
Our R&D activities are primarily in our API and DP segments and relate to the potential manufacture of new products, the development of processes for the
manufacture of generic products with commercial potential, and the development of alternative manufacturing processes.
Research and development expenses were as follows:

2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
16,046 $
5,474 $

2014
1,004

R&D expense for year ended December 31, 2016 increased compared to 2015 primarily due to development efforts on new APIs, investments in developing
generic API and drug products pursuant to our collaboration arrangements of $8.3 million as a result of our acquisitions of Gadea and euticals. This increase was
in line with our strategy.
R&D expense for year ended December 31, 2015 increased compared to 2014 primarily due to development efforts on new APIs and investments in developing
generic API and drug products pursuant to our collaboration arrangements of $1.2 million.
Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses consist of compensation and related fringe benefits for sales, marketing, operational and administrative
employees, professional service fees, marketing costs and costs related to facilities and information services. SG&A expenses were as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
122,136 $
77,394 $

2016
$

2014
48,897

SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased by $44.7 million compared to the same period in 2015 primarily due to business acquisition costs
related to the euticals Acquisition, along with the addition of euticals SG&A expenses and a full year of Gadea SG&A expenses. There were additional costs
associated with investments made to grow the business, as we continue to invest in key supporting functions such as corporate quality and compliance,
procurement and finance, as well as in training and developing our people.
SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015 increased by $28.5 million compared to the same period in 2014. This increase was partially due to $10.5
million of employee compensation and operating costs related to expanded corporate supporting functions associated with the company’s growth, both organically
and through acquisitions. The increase was also attributed to the company’s three business acquisitions during 2015, which collectively contributed $7.7 million of
SG&A expense. Also contributing to the increase was $2.0 million of business acquisition costs and $1.8 million of amortization of identifiable intangible assets
resulting from the acquired businesses.
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Impairment Charges

2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
3,126 $
3,770 $

2014
7,835

During the year ended December 31, 2016, we recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $0.9 million in our DDS segment related to the closing of
our Singapore facility, which is expected in June 2017. We also recorded an impairment charge of $1.7 million in our API segment related to property and
equipment at our Rensselaer site. Additionally, we recorded an impairment charge of $0.3 million to reduce the fair value of our held-for-sale holywell, UK
facility, and we wrote off a patent asset in the amount of $0.2 million from a proprietary drug discovery program due to our licensing partner terminating the
licensing agreement.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $3.2 million in our API segment associated with the
company’s decision to cease operations at our holywell, U.K. facility. Additionally, during the fourth quarter of 2015, we recorded an impairment charge of $0.6
million in our DDS segment related to our Syracuse, NY building, which was sold in 2016.
During 2014, we recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $5.4 million in our DDS segment. Part of the charge was associated with our
consolidation of facility resources at our Singapore site, for which we recorded $1.7 million of impairment charges. Additionally, we recorded property and
equipment impairment charges of $3.7 million in our DDS segment associated with our decision to cease operations at our Syracuse, New York facility.
During 2014, as a result of a semi-annual review of our proprietary drug development programs, we concluded that we would no longer actively pursue partnering
opportunities for all programs that were not then partnered and would not continue to fund additional patent filing or required maintenance costs for these
programs. Based on the aforementioned conclusions, we recorded intangible asset impairment charges of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 in the
DDS segment.
Restructuring Charges

2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
10,252 $
5,988 $

2014
3,582

In December 2016, management committed to a plan to close the Singapore site and transfer customer activities, and some employees, to other sites within our
company. As part of the transition, Singapore operations will cease by the end of June 2017. This decision will impact approximately 53 employees in Singapore.
We recorded $0.5 million in charges for reduction in force and termination benefits during the year ended December 31, 2016 in connection with this action. In
conjunction with the actions to cease operations at our Singapore facility, we also recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $0.9 million. These
charges are included in the caption “impairment charges” on the consolidated statement of operations.
In August 2016, we announced a restructuring plan in connection with the euticals Acquisition. Under the restructuring plan, we reviewed our operations and
initiated a reduction in workforce in the US and europe and ceased operations in one location in Italy. Including euticals, we recorded $7.1 million total in charges
for reduction in force and termination benefits during the year ended December 31, 2016.
During 2016, we also recognized a change in estimate of $634,000, which reduced the restructuring liabilities related to the operations of cedarburg. Other
restructuring and other charges for various sites for the year ended December 31, 2016 were $3.2 million.
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In the first quarter of 2015, we announced a proposal, subject to consultation with our U.K. workforce, to close our U.K. facility in holywell, Wales, within the
API segment, by the fourth quarter of 2015. Additionally, we made resource changes at our DDS Singapore site to optimize the cost profile of the facility. These
actions were consistent with our ongoing efforts to consolidate our facility resources to more effectively utilize our resource pool and to further reduce our facility
cost structure.
Restructuring charges for the year ended December 31, 2015 consisted primarily of U.K. termination charges, employee termination costs and transitioning
activities at our Singapore facility and costs associated with the transfer of continuing products from the holywell, U.K. facility to our other manufacturing
locations as well as lease termination and other charges associated with the restructuring at our Syracuse, NY facility.
In the third quarter of 2014, we recorded restructuring charges related to our activities to optimize both the Singapore and hyderabad, India facilities’ footprint. In
the second quarter of 2014, we announced a restructuring plan, transitioning activities at our Syracuse, NY site to other sites within the company and we ceased
operations in Syracuse, NY at the end of June 2014. In connection with these activities, we recorded restructuring charges in our DDS segment related to
termination benefits, lease termination settlements, and additional operating costs related to the Syracuse, NY site.
Technology Incentive Award
We historically maintained a Technology Development Incentive Plan, the purpose of which was to stimulate and encourage novel innovative technology
developments by our employees. This plan allows eligible participants to share in a percentage of the net revenue earned by us relating to patented technology with
respect to which the eligible participant is named as an inventor or made a significant intellectual contribution. To date, the royalties from Allegra hae been the
main driver of the awards. These royalties from Allegra ceased during the second quarter of 2015 due to the expiration of the underlying patents. The incentive
awards were as follows:

2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
— $
554 $

2014
1,621

Post-retirement benefit plan settlement gain
Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
— $
— $

2016
$

2014
(1,285)

In the first quarter of 2014, we recognized a gain on settlement of post-retirement liability in the API segment.
Interest expense, net
Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
(39,923) $
(19,338) $

2016
$

2014
(10,957)

Net interest expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2016 from 2015 primarily due to increased levels of outstanding debt used to finance our 2016 and
2015 acquisitions, as well as an increase in amortization of deferred financing costs and original issue discounts related to our long-term debt.
Net interest expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2015 from 2014 primarily due to increased levels of outstanding debt under our revolving credit
facility and line of credit used to finance our acquisitions, as well as an increase in the accretion of discount and deferred financing amortization related to these
borrowings.
The non-cash charges for the accretion of discount and deferred financing amortization were $15.8 million, $9.0 million and $7.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.

38

Other (expense) income, net

2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
(1,277) $
2,220 $

2014
(235)

Other expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily related to the fluctuation in exchange rates associated with foreign currency transactions. In
addition, we recognized a realized loss on a cash flow hedge related to the purchase price of the euticals Acquisition of $7.2 million, offset by the receipt of a final
insurance recovery of $7.4 million related to a business interruption at the Albuquerque, NM facility that occurred in 2014.
Other income for the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily related to the fluctuation in exchange rates associated with foreign currency transactions. In
addition, we recognized an initial insurance recovery of $0.6 million related to the business interruption at the Albuquerque, NM facility.
Income tax expense (benefit)
2016
$

Year Ended December 31,
2015
(in thousands)
10,212 $
(1,168) $

2014
(2,190)

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2016 increased as compared to 2015, primarily due to the recognition of a full valuation allowance on our
U.S. deferred tax assets of $8.5 million and the recognition of the deferred tax impact for the original issue discount on the euticals Seller Notes (as defined below
in the Liquidity and capital Resources section) of $4.0 million, partially offset by an increase in tax credits.
Income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2015 decreased as compared to the same period in 2014 due to increases in U.S. tax losses offset by taxes in
newly acquired entities and the lapsing of the tax holiday in Singapore.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have historically funded our business through operating cash flows and proceeds from borrowings. As of December 31, 2016, we had $52.3 million in cash,
cash equivalents and restricted cash, and $683.8 million in bank and other debt (at face value). Working capital, defined as current assets less current liabilities,
was $217.4 million at December 31, 2016 as compared to $181.1 million as of December 31, 2015. This increase primarily relates to increased inventory and
accounts receivable levels associated with euticals.
During 2016, we generated cash of $26.6 million from operating activities, which is outlined in further detail below. We used cash of $193.2 million in investing
activities primarily attributable to the acquisition of euticals of $141.0 million in cash and $51.4 million in capital expenditures. capital expenditures in 2016 were
primarily related to the growth, maintenance and upgrading of our facilities, including euticals, as well as building additional capacity for sterile API
manufacturing in Spain, additional capacity in Rensselaer, NY for a key product, and the launch of our global eRP system covering all locations except euticals
and Gadea. During 2016, cash flow generated from financing activities was $170.8 million, primarily related to the issuance of additional long-term debt of $227.8
million largely used to finance the euticals Acquisition, partially offset by principal payments of long-term debt of $49.0 million and financing costs of $8.2
million.
During 2015, we generated cash of $39.6 million from operating activities, which is outlined in further detail below. We used cash of $221.7 million in investing
activities primarily attributable to the acquisitions of Whitehouse, Gadea, SScI and Glasgow totaling $199.6 million in aggregate, and $22.0 million in capital
expenditures. capital expenditures in 2015 were primarily related to the growth, maintenance and upgrading of our facilities. Additionally, during 2015, we
generated cash of $185.4 million from financing activities, primarily related to net borrowings on our credit facility.
During 2014, we generated cash of $1.9 million from operating activities, which is outlined in further detail below. We used cash of $163.3 million in investing
activities primarily attributable to the acquisitions of OsoBio and cedarburg totaling $145.8 million in aggregate, and $17.2 million in capital expenditures. capital
expenditures in 2014 were primarily related to the growth, maintenance and upgrading of our facilities. Additionally, during 2014, we generated cash of $33.2
million from financing activities, primarily related to borrowings on our credit facility.
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cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities of $26.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 reflected a net loss of $(70.2) million, offset by adjustments for
noncash items of $77.8 million and cash provided by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $19.0 million.
Net cash provided by operating activities of $39.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 reflected a net loss of $(2.3) million, offset by adjustments for
noncash items of $42.5 million and cash used by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $0.6 million.
Net cash provided by operating activities of $1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 reflected a net loss of $(3.3) million, offset by adjustments for
noncash items of $33.8 million and cash used by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $28.6 million.
2016 compared to 2015
Net loss, adjusted for non-cash items, of $11.7 million in 2016 decreased from $40.2 million in 2015 primarily due to the following:
- An increase in contract margin of approximately $33.6 million (before being adjusted for the change in depreciation noted below) due to the acquisition of
euticals, a full year of contract margin contribution from our 2015 acquisitions, and enhanced operating efficiencies at our Albuquerque, NM facility;
- A decrease in royalty income, net of technology incentive compensation, of approximately $7.0 million due to the expiration of the patents underlying the
Allegra royalties in the second quarter of 2015;
- An increase in R&D expenses of approximately $10.6 million before being adjusted for the change in depreciation noted below due to development efforts
on new APIs and investments in developing generic API and drug products with third party partners;
- An increase in SG&A expenses of approximately $44.7 million (before being adjusted for the increase in depreciation and amortization noted below), due to
incremental SG&A expenses from businesses acquired in 2016 and 2015, merger and acquisition related costs and eRP system implementation costs;
- An increase in restructuring and other expenses of $4.3 million primarily related to the plans initiated that impacted euticals and our site in Singapore during
2016;
- An increase in cash interest expense of approximately $13.8 million due to increased levels of outstanding debt used to finance our recent business
acquisitions; and
- The adjustment for non-cash depreciation and amortization, which impacts the contract margin, R&D expense, and SG&A expense items noted above,
increased by $23.6 million, due to the recognition of a full year of depreciation and amortization resulting from the 2015 acquisitions, and the addition of
depreciation and amortization from the euticals Acquisition.
cash provided (used) by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $15.0 million in 2016 increased from $(0.6) million in 2015 primarily due to cash inflows
from the net liquidation of inventory of $21.5 million in 2016 compared to $7.7 million in 2015, and a $1.8 million net decrease in other working capital accounts
in 2016 compared to 2015.
2015 compared to 2014
Net loss, adjusted for non-cash items, of $40.2 million in 2015 increased from $30.5 million in 2014 primarily due to the following:
- An increase in contract margin of $47.8 million (before being adjusted for the change in depreciation) due to the acquisitions of SScI, Glasgow, and Gadea,
cost reduction initiatives and facility optimization in our DDS segment, and increased profitability at our Burlington, MA and Albuquerque, NM facilities;
- A decrease in royalty income, net of technology incentive compensation of $7.2 million, due to the expiration of the patents underlying the Allegra royalties
in the second quarter of 2015;
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- An increase in R&D expenses of $4.5 million (before being adjusted for the noncash change in depreciation noted below) due to development efforts on new
APIs and investments in developing generic API and drug products with third party partners;
- An increase in SG&A expenses of $28.5 million (before being adjusted for the increase in depreciation and amortization noted below), due to incremental
SG&A expenses from businesses acquired in 2014 and 2015 and merger and acquisition related costs;
- An increase in cash interest expense of $6.6 million due to increased levels of outstanding debt used to finance our 2014 and 2015 acquisitions; and
- The adjustment for depreciation and amortization, which impacts the contract margin, R&D expense, and SG&A expense items noted above, increased by
$8.7 million due to the recognition of a full year of depreciation and amortization resulting from the 2014 acquisitions, and the addition of depreciation and
amortization from the Glasgow, SScI, Gadea, and Whitehouse acquisitions.
cash used by changes in operating assets and liabilities of $0.6 million in 2015 decreased from $28.6 million in 2014 primarily due to the following:
- cash inflows from the net liquidation of inventory of $7.7 million in 2015 compared to cash outflows from the net acquisition and production of inventory of
$8.0 million in 2014; and
- Other significant working capital fluctuations including increases in accounts payable, accrued compensation, and accrued expenses of $6.8 million in 2015,
compared to cash outflows related to decreases in these items of $4.9 million in 2014. The balances of accounts payable and accrued expenses fluctuated
primarily due to the timing of payments in both 2014 and 2015. The increase in accrued compensation in 2015 is due primarily to incentive compensation.
Bank and Other Debt Obligations
Short-Term Borrowings
In connection with the euticals Acquisition, we assumed the short-term borrowing obligations of euticals, consisting of multiple bank revolving lines of credit with
a maximum borrowing capacity of €40.8 million, or $42.9 million at December 31, 2016, (the “euticals Revolving credit Facilities”). The euticals Revolving
credit Facilities support euticals’ short-term working capital needs and are collateralized, in part, by certain euticals’ trade receivables balances.
Term Loans
In connection with the euticals Acquisition, we entered into a Third Amended and Restated credit Agreement (the “Third Restated credit Agreement”) with
Barclays Bank PLc, which (i) provided incremental senior secured first lien term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $230 million (the “Incremental Term
Loans”) which increased the aggregate principal amount of senior secured first lien term loans under the company’s prior credit agreement to $428.5 million and
(ii) increased the first lien revolving credit facility commitments by $5 million to $35 million. We used the proceeds of the Incremental Term Loans primarily to:
(i) pay a portion of the cash consideration for the euticals Acquisition; (ii) pay various fees and expenses incurred in connection with the euticals Acquisition and
related financing activities; and (iii) repay the $30 million outstanding under the first lien revolving credit facility.
The Third Restated credit Agreement requires that we make quarterly repayments of $0.6 million toward the Incremental Term Loans principal beginning on
September 30, 2016, with all remaining unpaid principal amounts of the Incremental Term Loans maturing and payable on July 16, 2021. The revolving credit
facility commitments under the Third Restated credit Agreement terminate and all amounts then outstanding thereunder are payable on July 16, 2020, subject, in
each case, to earlier acceleration (i) to six months prior to the scheduled maturity date of our 2.25% cash convertible Senior Notes issued on December 4, 2013
(the “Notes”) if on such date, both (x) more than $25 million of the Notes shall remain outstanding and (y) the ratio of the secured debt of the company and its
subsidiaries to the eBITDA of the company and its subsidiaries exceeds 1.50:1.00 and (ii) to April 7, 2019, April 7, 2020 or April 7, 2021, respectively, in each
case to the extent that at any such date we have not (x) prepaid or otherwise satisfied the amortization or final maturity payment amounts to next come due under
each euticals Seller Note (as defined below) then outstanding or (y) refinanced such amortization or final maturity payment amount to next come due under each
euticals Seller Note then outstanding in a manner permitted by the Third Restated credit Agreement.
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At our election, loans made under the Third Restated credit Agreement bear interest at (a) the one-month, three-month or six-month LIBOR rate subject to a floor
of 1.0% (the “LIBOR Rate”) or (b) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (i) the United States federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (ii) the rate of interest
quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate,” and (iii) a daily rate equal to the one-month LIBOR Rate plus 1.0%, subject to a floor of 2.0% (the “Base
Rate”), plus an applicable margin of 4.75% per annum for LIBOR Rate loans and 3.75% per annum for Base Rate loans.
The borrowings under the Third Restated credit Agreement are prepayable at our option without premium or penalty (other than customary breakage costs for
LIBOR Rate loans). Amounts prepaid are available for reborrowing, subject to the terms and conditions of the Third Restated credit Agreement.
The obligations under the Third Restated credit Agreement are guaranteed by each of our material domestic subsidiaries (each a “Guarantor”) and are secured by
first priority liens on, and security interests in, substantially all of the present and after-acquired assets of the company and each Guarantor subject to certain
customary exceptions.
Euticals Seller Notes
In connection with the euticals Acquisition, on July 11, 2016, we issued two notes to Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. (together the “euticals Seller Notes”) with a
combined face value of €55 million, that were valued at $44.3 million (net of original issue discount of $16.4 million). The euticals Seller Notes are unsecured
promissory notes, guaranteed by the company, and are subject to customary representations and warranties and events of default with repayment to be made in
three equal annual installments made on the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the euticals Acquisition closing date. The repayment is subject to certain set off
rights by us relating to the seller’s indemnification obligations. The euticals Seller Notes are subject to an interest rate equal to 0.25% per annum, which is due and
payable in cash on the first day of January, April, July and October during each calendar year. The euticals Seller Notes were recognized net of an original issue
discount of $16.4 million.
Convertible Senior Notes
On December 4, 2013, we completed the private offering of $150 million aggregate principal amount of the Notes. The Notes mature on November 15, 2018,
unless earlier repurchased or converted into cash in accordance with their terms prior to such date, and interest is paid in arrears semiannually on each of May 15
and November 15 at an annual rate of 2.25% beginning on May 15, 2014. The Notes were offered and sold only to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to Rule
144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
The Notes are not convertible into our common stock or any other securities under any circumstances. holders may convert their Notes solely into cash at their
option at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding May 15, 2018 only under the following circumstances: (1) during any
calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2013 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of our
common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the
immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day
period after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per thousand dollars principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the
measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day; or (3)
upon the occurrence of specified corporate events. On or after May 15, 2018 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding
the maturity date, holders may convert their Notes solely into cash at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon conversion, in lieu of receiving
shares of our common stock, a holder will receive, per thousand dollars principal amount of Notes, an amount in cash equal to the settlement amount, determined
in the manner set forth in the indenture. The initial conversion rate is 63.9844 shares of our common stock per thousand dollars principal amount of Notes
(equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $15.63 per share of common stock). The conversion rate is subject to adjustment upon certain events as
described in the indenture but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, following certain corporate events that occur prior to the
maturity date, we have agreed to pay a cash make-whole premium by increasing the conversion rate for a holder who elects to convert its Notes in connection with
such a corporate event in certain circumstances as described in the indenture.
We may not redeem the Notes prior to the maturity date, and no sinking fund is provided for the Notes.
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The cash conversion feature of the Notes (“Notes conversion Derivative”) requires bifurcation from the Notes in accordance with ASc 815, “Derivatives and
hedging,” and is accounted for as a derivative liability. In connection with the pricing of the Notes, on November 19, 2013, we entered into cash convertible note
hedge transactions (“Notes hedges”) relating to a notional number of shares of our common stock underlying the Notes with two counterparties (the “Option
counterparties”). The Notes hedges, which are cash-settled, are intended to reduce our exposure to potential cash payments that we are required to make upon
conversion of the Notes in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes if our common stock price exceeds the conversion price.
At the same time, we also entered into separate warrant transactions with each of the Option counterparties initially relating, in the aggregate, to 9,598,000 shares
of our common stock underlying the Note hedges. The Note hedges are intended to offset cash payments due upon any conversion of the Notes. however, the
warrant transactions could separately have a dilutive effect to the extent that the market price per share of our common stock (as measured under the terms of the
warrant transactions) exceeds the applicable strike price of the warrants. The initial strike price of the warrants is $18.944 per share, which was 60% above the last
reported sale price of our common stock of $11.84 on November 19, 2013 and proceeds of $23.1 million was received from the Option counterparties from the
sale of the warrants.
Aside from the initial payment of a $33.6 million premium to the Option counterparties, we are not required to make any cash payments to the Option
counterparties under the Note hedges and will be entitled to receive from the Option counterparties an amount of cash, generally equal to the amount by which
the market price per share of common stock exceeds the strike price of the Note hedges during the relevant valuation period. The strike price under the Note
hedges is initially equal to the conversion price of the Notes. Additionally, if the market price per share of our common stock, as measured under the warrant
transactions, exceeds the strike price of the warrants during the measurement period at the maturity of the warrants, we will be obligated to issue to the Option
counterparties a number of shares of our common stock in an amount based on the excess of such market price per share of our common stock over the strike price
of the warrants. We will not receive any proceeds if the warrants are exercised.
Loans with various institutions – Gadea Loans
In connection with the Gadea acquisition, we assumed various unsecured debt instruments as part of the transaction totaling $25.8 million at December 31, 2016.
These loans are issued by various financial institutions and public bodies, have interest rates ranging from 0.5% to 1.9% (generally at a rate equivalent to the
euribor plus a market spread or a fixed rate) and have various due dates ranging from April 2017 to February 2026. The loans are all euro-denominated, with
payments made on a monthly, quarterly and biannual basis.
Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not use special purpose entities or other off-balance sheet financing techniques that we believe have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future
material effect on our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity or capital resources.
Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our long-term contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2016:
Payments Due by Period (in thousands)

Long-Term Debt Obligations (principal)
Operating Leases Obligations
Purchase Obligations
Restructuring Liabilities
Pension Plan contributions

$

Less
than 1 Year
13,917
3,807
87,480
4,486
347

Total
661,250
18,606
87,480
4,615
1,735

1-3 Years
605,404
5,965
—
27
694

4-5 Years
41,266
3,084
—
102
694

More
than 5 Years
663
5,750
—
—
*

*Pension and other postretirement benefits include estimated payments made from company assets. No estimate of payments after five years has been
provided due to many uncertainties.
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Critical Accounting Estimates
Accounting estimates and assumptions discussed in this section are those that we consider to be the most critical to an understanding of our financial statements
because they inherently involve significant judgments and uncertainties. All of these estimates reflect our best judgment and are based on historical experience and
on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Under different assumptions or conditions, it is reasonably possible that
the judgments and estimates described below could change, which may result in future impairments of inventories and long-lived assets, as well as increased
pension liabilities, the establishment of valuation allowances on deferred tax assets and increased tax liabilities, among other effects. Also see Note 1, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies, in Part II, Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this report, which discusses the significant accounting
policies that we have selected from acceptable alternatives.
Business Combinations
In accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations, we used the acquisition method of accounting to allocate costs of acquired businesses to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the dates of acquisition. The excess costs of acquired businesses over the fair values
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized as goodwill. The valuations of the acquired assets and liabilities will impact the determination of
future operating results. In addition to using management estimates and negotiated amounts, we used a variety of information sources to determine the estimated
fair values of the assets and liabilities, including third-party appraisals for the estimated value and lives of identifiable intangible assets and property and
equipment. The business and technical judgment of management and third-party experts was used in determining the useful lives of finite-lived intangible assets in
accordance with the accounting guidance for goodwill and intangible assets and patents.
Inventory
Inventory consists primarily of commercially available fine chemicals used as raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods in our large-scale manufacturing
plants. API and DP manufacturing inventories are valued on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) or average cost basis. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
market. We regularly review inventories on hand and record a charge for slow-moving and obsolete inventory, inventory not meeting quality standards and
inventory subject to expiration. The charge for slow-moving and obsolete inventory is based on current estimates of future product demand, market conditions and
related management judgment. Any significant unanticipated changes in future product demand or market conditions that vary from current expectations could
have an impact on the value of inventories. Total inventories recorded on our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $167.1 million and
$89.2 million, respectively. We recorded charges to reduce obsolete inventory balances of $1.9 million, $1.7 million and $0.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
Income Taxes
Our annual tax rate is based on our income, statutory tax rates and tax planning opportunities available to us in the various jurisdictions in which we operate. Tax
laws are complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and respective governmental taxing authorities. Significant judgment is required in
determining our tax expense and in evaluating our tax positions, including evaluating uncertainties and the need for valuation allowances. We review our tax
positions quarterly and adjust the balances as new information becomes available. Our income tax rate is significantly affected by the tax rates on our international
operations, each of which are subject to local country tax laws and regulations.
Deferred income tax assets represent amounts available to reduce income taxes payable on taxable income in future years. Such assets arise because of temporary
differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as from net operating loss and tax credit carry-forwards. We evaluate the
recoverability of these future tax deductions and credits by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income from all sources, including reversal of taxable
temporary differences, forecasted operating earnings, tax planning strategies, and taxable income in prior carryback year(s) if carry back is permitted under the tax
law. These sources of income inherently rely heavily on estimates. To the extent we do not consider it more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will be
recovered, a valuation allowance is established. We use our historical experience and our short and long-range business forecasts to provide insight. Amounts
recorded for deferred tax assets (liabilities), net of valuation allowances, were $(39.6) million and $(10.1) million at December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
The increase in our net deferred tax liability is due to the recognition of a full valuation against our U.S. deferred tax assets during 2016, as well as the recognition
of deferred tax liabilities in connection with the acquisition of euticals during 2016.
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
We record derivative instruments on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at fair value. Additionally, changes in a derivative’s fair value are
recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. A change in inputs or estimates, including but not limited to, interest rates and
the trading price and implied volatility of our common stock, may materially impact the resulting fair value measurements of these instruments and may also
impact our results of operations. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, amounts recorded for both the Note hedges and the Notes conversion Derivative were $51.0
million and $76.4 million, respectively. The decrease in the amounts recorded is primarily due to the decrease in the market value of our common stock that
underlies these instruments.
Goodwill and intangible assets
We test goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or circumstances make it more likely than not that impairment may have occurred, such as a
significant adverse change in the business climate or a decision to sell or dispose of a reporting unit. The goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level, which is at the operating segment or one level below (known as a component). If a component has similar economic characteristics, the components are to be
aggregated and tested at the operating segment level. For purposes of testing goodwill, our reporting units have been defined as Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients
(“API”), Drug Product (“DP”), Fine chemicals (“Fc”), Discovery & Development Services (“DD”) and Analytical Services (“AS”). Goodwill was tested at this
level based on the manner in which we operate our businesses and goodwill is recoverable. The API, DP and Fc operating segments have been determined to be
reporting units because the products, processes, and customers are similar and resources are managed at the segment level. Our Discovery and Development
Services (DDS) operating segment consists of two reporting units, DD and AS. At December 31, 2016, goodwill for API, DP, DDS, Fc was $104.6 million, $74.7
million, $52.0 million and $0, respectively.
We test goodwill for impairment by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a two-step quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an assessment of factors,
including reporting unit specific operating results as well as industry, market, and general economic conditions, to determine whether it is more likely than not that
the fair values of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. Depending on the factors specific to some or all of our reporting units, we may
be required to perform a two-step quantitative test. A qualitative assessment was performed for the DD reporting unit given that the goodwill in this unit relates to
the recent euticals Acquisition in 2016. A quantitative assessment was performed for API, DP and AS. We concluded there were no impairments as of October 1,
2016, our annual impairment testing date. Additionally, we considered the qualitative factors for each component subsequent to the annual impairment testing date
and through December 31, 2016, noting no indicators of potential impairment.
The valuations for API, DP and AS used in the quantitative goodwill assessment were based on the discounted cash flow method using projected financial
information of the reporting unit. consideration was also given to a market approach as a possible indication of value but not weighted. Key assumptions used in
the discounted cash flow method include prospective financial information and the discount rate or weighted-average cost of capital (WAcc). The prospective
financial information includes our five year projections, which are based on information available to management as of October 1, 2016 and, for API and DP,
includes projected revenue on generic drug products in development and expected to be commercialized in the five year period. The long-term sales growth rate
assumed for API, DP and AS was 3%. The WAcc takes into consideration the capital structure of both our company and peer groups for each of the businesses.
In addition, the WAcc includes a market equity and country specific risk premium. The country specific risk premium is based on a blended average of the
geographies in which the business units operate. A discount rate was estimated and applied to each revenue stream, specifically contract manufacturing revenue
and royalties on long-term collaboration agreements for both API and DP. The discount rates for contract manufacturing revenue were 11.5%, 10.0% and 9.5% for
API, DP and AS, respectively. The discount rates for royalty revenue on the collaboration agreements were 24.5% and 23.5% for API and DP, respectively, given
the higher level of uncertainty surrounding these cash flows.
The estimated fair value for the DP business compared to its carrying value was relatively close given that DP is primarily comprised of recent acquisitions. The
estimated fair value of the DP business exceeded carrying value by approximately 13%. The future projections have included discounted cash flows for our current
DP manufacturing and development business as well as separate projections of estimated royalties on the long-term collaboration agreements. The achievement of
these royalties could be impacted by the complexity to develop the product, the number of competitors in the market, and the timing of the product launch. These
risks have been contemplated in our projections. If our DP business is unable to achieve the future projections of the manufacturing and development business or
the projections of estimated royalties on the long-term collaboration agreements, some or all of the goodwill allocated to DP may be impaired in future periods.
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We test intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a two-step quantitative test. We perform this
test whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable, and at a minimum, annually.
Other Long-Lived Assets
We review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
Factors we consider important that could trigger an impairment review include, among others, the following:
·
·
·

A significant change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset group is being used;
A significant change in the business climate that could affect the value of a long-lived asset group; and
A significant decrease in the market value of assets.

Determining whether an impairment has occurred typically requires various estimates and assumptions, including determining which undiscounted cash flows are
directly related to the potentially impaired asset group, the useful life over which cash flows will occur, their amount, and the asset group’s residual value, if any.
In turn, measurement of an impairment loss requires a determination of fair value, which is based on the best information available. We derive the required
undiscounted cash flow estimates from our historical experience, internal business plans and our understanding of current marketplace valuation estimates. To
determine fair value, we use our internal cash flow estimates discounted at an appropriate interest rate, quoted market prices when available and independent
appraisals, as appropriate.
In December 2016, we recorded fixed asset impairment charges of $0.9 million in our DDS segment related to the closing of our Singapore facility. In December
2016, we recorded an impairment fixed asset charge of $1.7 million in our API segment related to fixed asset disposals in our Rensselaer site. In December 2016,
we recorded a non-cash charge of $0.2 million related to our held for sale facility resulting from the closing of our holywell, UK facility. In the second quarter of
2016, we wrote off a patent asset from a proprietary drug discovery program due to our licensing partner terminating the license agreement.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-04, “Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment.” The standard simplifies the accounting for goodwill impairment by removing Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a hypothetical
purchase price allocation. The ASU is effective for annual or interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and should be
applied on a prospective basis. early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The
adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “clarifying the Definition of a Business.” The standard clarifies the definition of a business by adding guidance
to assist entities in evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or businesses. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted for certain transactions. The adoption of this standard is not
expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, “Restricted cash.” The standard addresses the classification and presentation of restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents within the statement of cash flows. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.
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In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, “Intra-entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory.” The standard requires the immediate recognition of tax
effects for an intra-entity asset transfer other than inventory. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. We are still evaluating the impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “classification of certain cash Receipts and cash Payments.” The standard addresses the classification of certain
transactions within the statement of cash flows, including cash payments for debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, contingent consideration payments
made after a business combination, and distributions received from equity method investments. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. We are still evaluating the impact this standard will have on our consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Improvements to employee Share-Based Payment Accounting.” The standard reduces complexity in several
aspects of the accounting for employee share-based compensation, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities
and classification on the statement of cash flows. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal
years. early adoption is permitted. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases.” The standard established the principles that lessees and lessors will apply to report useful information
to users of financial statements about the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. We are still evaluating the impact this standard will have on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory.” This ASU simplifies the subsequent measurement of inventories by
replacing the current lower of cost or market test with a lower of cost or net realizable value test. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods therein. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on our consolidated
financial statements and related disclosures.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from contracts with customers: (Topic 606)." This ASU affects any entity that either enters into
contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of
other standards (e.g., insurance contracts or lease contracts). This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in ASc Topic 605, "Revenue
Recognition," and most industry-specific guidance. In addition, the existing requirements for the recognition of a gain or loss on the transfer of nonfinancial assets
that are not in a contract with a customer (e.g., assets within the scope of ASc Topic 360, "Property, Plant, and equipment," and intangible assets within the scope
of ASc Topic 350, "Intangibles-Goodwill and Other") are amended to be consistent with the guidance on recognition and measurement (including the constraint on
revenue) in this ASU. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In July 2015, the FASB
deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09. This ASU is now effective for calendar years beginning after December 15, 2017. early adoption is not permitted. We
have begun to evaluate the impacts of this new standard on our consolidated financial statements, information technology ("IT") systems, policies and business
processes and controls. We have developed an implementation plan to adopt this new guidance including determining the method of adoption. As part of this plan,
we are currently assessing the potential impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Based on our assessment
procedures performed to date, we are currently unable to estimate the impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements; however, we
anticipate that the adoption of the new standard may require us to make changes to our business processes and controls.
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Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Disclosure of Uncertainties about an entity’s Ability to continue as a Going concern.” The standard requires
management to assess if there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the issuance date and, as applicable,
provide additional disclosures on management’s plan to alleviate the substantial doubt. The ASU is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2016, and
interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. early adoption is permitted. During the fourth quarter of 2016, we adopted this standard,
which had no impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, "compensation - Stock compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of
an Award Provide That a Performance Target could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period." This ASU requires that a performance target that affects
vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period, be treated as a performance condition. The performance target should not be reflected in
estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. compensation cost should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target
will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already been rendered. If the
performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost should be
recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation cost recognized during and after the requisite service
period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period
ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the performance target is achieved. This ASU is effective for annual
periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. We adopted this ASU during 2016, which did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We have market risk with respect to foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The market risk is the potential loss arising from adverse changes in these
rates as discussed below.
The company has facilities and customers in foreign jurisdictions and therefore is subject to foreign currency risk. This risk is composed of both potential losses
from the translation of foreign currency financial statements and the remeasurement of foreign currency transactions. The total net assets of non-U.S. operations
not denominated in our functional currency, the U.S. dollar, and subject to potential loss amount to approximately $413.7 million. The potential loss in fair value
resulting from a hypothetical 10% adverse change in quoted foreign currency exchange rates amounts to approximately $41.4 million. Furthermore, related to
foreign currency transactions, the company has exposure to non-functional currency assets of $86.6 million and liabilities of $25.6 million as of December 31,
2016. As currency rates change, these non-functional currency balances are revalued, and the corresponding adjustment is recorded in the consolidated statement of
operations. A hypothetical change of 10% in currency rates could result in an adjustment to the consolidated statement of operations of approximately $6.1 million.
With respect to interest rates, the risk is composed of changes in future cash flows due to changes in interest rates on our $22.5 million euticals revolving credit
facilities, $25.8 million of Gadea debt and $423.7 million of term loan debt.. The potential loss in 2016 cash flows from a 10% adverse change in quoted interest
rates would approximate $2.7 million.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.
Financial statements and notes thereto appear on pages F-1 to F-39 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As required by Rule 13a-15(b) under the Securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, the company’s management conducted an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the company’s chief executive
Officer and chief Financial Officer regarding the effectiveness of the design and operation of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the exchange Act). Based upon that evaluation the company’s management has concluded that the company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2016.
(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rule 13a15(f) under the exchange Act. The company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles,
and includes those policies and procedures that:
· pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
· provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles and, that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorization of management
and directors of the company; and
· provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
The company’s management, including the chief executive Officer and chief Financial Officer, assessed as of December 31, 2016 the effectiveness of the
company’s internal control over financial reporting. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth in the framework in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway commission (cOSO). Based on the results of this
evaluation, management has concluded that the company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016 was effective.
On July 11, 2016, the company acquired euticals. This acquisition represents a material change in the internal control over financial reporting since management’s
last assessment of effectiveness. Management has excluded euticals from its assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016. Total
assets of euticals, excluding goodwill and other intangible assets which were included in management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2016, are $211.9 million at December 31, 2016. Total revenues of euticals were $131.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2016. The total
assets and total revenues excluded from management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, represent approximately
27% and 23%, respectively, of the company’s related consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year end December 31, 2016.
During the company’s fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2016, we implemented a new eRP system at all of our global locations, except
the Gadea and euticals locations. The implementation of the new eRP affects the processes that constitute our internal control over financial reporting and required
testing of effectiveness.
The company’s independent registered public accounting firm has issued a report on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting,
as of December 31, 2016, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference.
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(c) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Other than the effects of the euticals Acquisition and eRP implementation referred to above, there were no changes in the company’s internal control over
financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) or Rule 15d-15 under the exchange Act that occurred during the
company’s fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over
financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

50

PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.
Information required by this item will be set forth in our proxy statement for our 2017 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed within 120 days after December
31, 2016) (the “Proxy Statement”), and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
Information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.
Information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.
Information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Information required by this item will be set forth in our Proxy Statement, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1)

Financial Statements.

The consolidated financial statements required by this item are submitted in a separate section beginning on page F-1 of this report.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
consolidated Statements of comprehensive Loss for the Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2016 and 2015
consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ equity for the Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
consolidated Statements of cash Flows for the Years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
Notes to consolidated Financial Statements
(a) (2)

Page
Number
F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8

Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial schedule of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. is included in this annual report on Form 10-K.
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

F-52

Schedules other than that which is listed above have been omitted since they are either not required, are not applicable, or the required information is shown in
the consolidated financial statements or related notes.
(a) (3)

exhibits
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No.
2.1

2.2

2.3

2.4

2.5

Description
LLc Interest Purchase Agreement by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Brian W. Mulhall and Alan Weiss as the members of
Whitehouse Analytical Laboratories, LLc, dated December 15, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 15, 2015, filed with the Securities and exchange commission on March 30, 2016, File No.
001-35622).
Share Purchase Agreement by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Gadea Grupo Farmaceutico, S.L., exirisk Spain, S.L. and certain
other persons thereto, dated as of July 16, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the company’s 8-K filed with the Securities
and exchange commission on July 16, 2015, File No. 001-35622).
Purchase Agreement by and between Aptuit, LLc and Albany Molecular Luxembourg S.à.r.l., dated as of January 8, 2015 (incorporated herein
by reference to exhibit 2.2 to the company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on January 15, 2015, File No. 00135622).
Asset Purchase Agreement by and among Aptuit (West Lafayette), LLc, Aptuit, LLc, AMRI Americium, LLc, and Albany Molecular
Research, Inc. dated as of January 8, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on January 15, 2015, File No. 001-35622).
Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among Oso Biopharm holdings, LLc, Oso Biopharmaceuticals Manufacturing, LLc, ALO
Acquisition LLc, and Albany Molecular Research, Inc. dated as of June 1, 2014 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the
company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on June 2, 2014, File No. 001-35622).
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Exhibit
No.
2.6

2.7

2.8

2.9

3.1
3.2
3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3
4.4

4.5

4.6

10.1

Description
Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., AIcu Acquisition corp., cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and
James Gale, dated March 22, 2014 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on March 24, 2014, File No. 001-35622).
Share Purchase Agreement by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A., dated as of May 5, 2016
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on May 6, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Amendment letter by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Albany Molecular Research Luxembourg Sarl, evergreen S.r.l. and Lauro
cinquantasette S.p.A dated July 7, 2016, to the Share Purchase Agreement dated May 5, 2016 by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
and Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.1 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended September 30, 2016, filed with the Securities and exchange commission on November 9, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Amendment letter by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Albany Molecular Research Luxembourg Sarl, evergreen S.r.l. and Lauro
cinquantasette S.p.A dated August 8, 2016, to the Share Purchase Agreement dated May 5, 2016 by and between Albany Molecular Research,
Inc. and Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 2.2 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
period ended September 30, 2016, filed with the Securities and exchange commission on November 9, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Restated certificate of Incorporation of the company (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 3.2 to the company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, File No. 000-25323).
Amended and Restated By-Laws of the company (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, File No. 000-25323).
certificate of Amendment to the Restated certificate of Incorporation of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. dated June 3, 2015 (incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 3.1 to the company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on June 5, 2015, File No. 00135622).
Specimen certificate for shares of common Stock, $0.01 par value, of the company (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 4.1 to the
company’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed with the Securities and exchange commission on October 2, 2015, File No. 333207247).
Indenture, dated as of November 25, 2013, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Wilmington Trust, National Association
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 4.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on November 25, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Form of 2.25% cash convertible Senior Note due 2018 (included in exhibit 4.2).
Registration Rights Agreement by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and 3-Gutinver, S.L., dated as of July 16, 2015 (incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 3.2 to the company’s 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on July 16, 2015, File No. 00135622).
Registration Rights and Lock-Up Agreement by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A., dated as of
May 5, 2016 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 4.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on May 6, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Stockholders Agreement by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and the stockholders identified therein, dated as of July 11, 2016
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 4.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on July 12, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Form of Indemnification Agreement between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 15, 2015, filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on March 30, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
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Exhibit
No.
10.2

10.3*
10.4*
10.5

10.6*

10.7*
10.8*

10.9*

10.10

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14

Description
License Agreement dated March 15, 1995 by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Marion Merrell Dow Inc. (now Sanofi)
(excluding certain portions which have been omitted as indicated based upon an order for confidential treatment, but which have been filed
separately with the commission) (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.7 to Amendment No. 3 to the company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-58795).
Amendment to 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan of the company (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.7 to the company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, File No. 000-25323).
Amended and Restated Technology Development Incentive Plan of the company (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.8 to the
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, File No. 001-35622).
Form of employee Innovation, Proprietary Information and Post-employment Activity Agreement between Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
and each of its executive officers (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.14 to Amendment No. 3 to the company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, File No. 333-58795).
Amended and Restated employment Agreement, dated as of April 5, 2012, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Lori M.
henderson (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on April 5, 2012, File No. 000-25323 ).
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to
the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on March 17, 2005, File No. 000-25323).
Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.3
to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005 filed with the Securities and exchange commission on
May 10, 2005, File No. 000-25323).
Amended and Restated employment Agreement, dated as of April 5, 2012, by and between the company and Steven R. hagen, Ph.D.
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on April 5, 2012, File No. 000-25323).
Development and Supply Agreement between Organichem corporation (now AMRI Rensselaer, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
company) and Purepac Pharmaceuticals co. (now Actavis, Inc.), effective May 10, 2000 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.26
(with certain information omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and filed separately with the Securities and exchange
commission) to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on March 18, 2013, File No. 001-35622).
Amended Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
exhibit 10.29 to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on March 18, 2013, File No. 001-35622).
Amended Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference
to exhibit 10.30 to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on March 18, 2013, File No. 001-35622).
employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2013, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and William S. Marth (incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on November 8, 2013, File No. 001-35622).
call Option Transaction confirmation, dated November 19, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and JPMorgan chase Bank,
National Association, London Branch (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the Securities and exchange commission on November 25, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
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Exhibit
No.
10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22*

10.23

10.24*

10.25

10.26

Description
call Option Transaction confirmation, dated November 19, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Morgan Stanley & co.
International plc (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on November 25, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Base Warrants confirmation, dated November 19, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and JPMorgan chase Bank, National
Association, London Branch (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on November 25, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Base Warrants confirmation, dated November 19, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Morgan Stanley & co. International plc
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on November 25, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Amendment to call Option Transaction confirmation, dated November 29, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and JPMorgan
chase Bank, National Association, London Branch (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s current Report on Form
8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on December 4, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Amendment to call Option Transaction confirmation, dated November 29, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Morgan
Stanley & co. International plc (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.2 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on December 4, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Additional Warrants confirmation, dated November 29, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and JPMorgan chase Bank, National
Association, London Branch (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on December 4, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
Additional Warrants confirmation, dated November 29, 2013, between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Morgan Stanley & co.
International plc (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on December 4, 2013, File No. 001-35622 ).
employment Agreement dated December 13, 2013, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and George Svokos (incorporated herein
by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2014, filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on May 9, 2014, File No. 001-35622).
Amendment No. 1, dated December 23, 2014, to credit Agreement dated October 24, 2014, by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc.,
Barclays Banks plc, each Lender thereto and each Loan Party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s
current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on December 30, 2014, File No. 001-35622 ).
employment Agreement dated February 11, 2015, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Felicia Ladin (incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10.41 to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on March 16, 2015, File No. 001-001-35622).
Amendment No. 2 to credit Agreement, dated as of July 14, 2015, among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Barclays Bank PLc, as
administrative agent and collateral agent, each Lender party Research, Inc., Barclays Bank PLc, as administrative agent and collateral agent,
each Lender party thereto and each other Loan Party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s 8-K filed with
the Securities and exchange commission on July 16, 2015, File No. 001-35622).
First Amended and Restated credit Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2015, among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Barclays Bank PLc, as
administrative agent, collateral Agent, L/c Issuer and Swing Line Lender, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by reference
to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the Securities and
exchange commission on November 9, 2015, File No. 001-35622).
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Exhibit
No.
10.27

10.28*

10.29*

10.30*

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37*
10.38*
10.39*
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
32.2

Description
Second Amended and Restated credit Agreement, dated as of August 19, 2015, among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Barclays Bank PLc,
as administrative agent, collateral Agent, L/c Issuer and Swing Line Lender, and the other lenders party thereto (incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10.2 to the company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the
Securities and exchange commission on November 9, 2015, File No. 001-35622).
Third Amended 1998 employee Stock Purchase Plan of the company, approved on June 3, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit
10.38 to the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on March 30, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Third Amended 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, approved on June 3, 2015 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.39 to the
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the Securities and exchange commission on
March 30, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Albany Molecular Research, Inc. Senior executive cash Incentive Bonus Plan (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.40 to the
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed with the Securities and exchange commission on
March 30, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Subscription Agreement by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A., dated as of May 5, 2016
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on May 6, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Promissory Note A issued by Albany Molecular Luxembourg S. à .r.l. to Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. on July 11, 2016 (incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10.1 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on July 12, 2016,
File No. 001-35622).
Promissory Note B issued by Albany Molecular Luxembourg S. à .r.l. to Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. on July 11, 2016 (incorporated herein by
reference to exhibit 10.2 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on July 12, 2016,
File No. 001-35622).
Guarantee to Promissory Notes by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A., dated as of July 11, 2016
(incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.3 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange
commission on July 12, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Amendment No. 1 to Second Amended and Restated credit Agreement, by and among Albany Molecular Research Inc., each other loan party
thereto, Barclays Bank PLc, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders party thereto, dated as of July 7, 2016 (incorporated
herein by reference to exhibit 10.4 to the company’s current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on July
12, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Third Amended and Restated credit Agreement by and among Albany Molecular Research, Inc., Barclays Bank PLc, as administrative agent
and the other lenders party thereto, dated as of July 7, 2016 (incorporated herein by reference to exhibit 10.5 to the company’s current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and exchange commission on July 12, 2016, File No. 001-35622).
Amended and Restated employment Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2015, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and James Milton
Boyer (filed herein).
Amended and Restated employment Agreement, dated as of February 4, 2014, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and
christopher conway (filed herein).
Directorship Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2016, by and among Prime european Therapeuticals S.p.A, Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and
Margalit Fine (filed herein).
Subsidiaries of the company (filed herein).
consent of KPMG LLP (filed herein).
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) certification (filed herein).
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) certification (filed herein).
Section 1350 certification (furnished herein). (1)
Section 1350 certification (furnished herein). (1)
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Exhibit
No.
101

*

Description
XBRL (extensible Business Reporting Language). The following materials from Albany Molecular Research, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 formatted in XBRL: (i) the consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) the consolidated Statements of
Operations, (iii) the consolidated Statements of comprehensive Loss, (iv) the consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ equity, (v) the
consolidated Statements of cash Flows, and (vi) the Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements.

Denotes management contract of compensation plan or arrangement

(1) This certification is not “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the exchange Act or incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the
exchange Act.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
We may voluntarily include a summary of information required by Form 10-K under this Item 16. We have elected not to include such summary information.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
Dated: March 16, 2017

ALBANY MOLecULAR ReSeARch, INc.
By:

/s/ WILLIAM S. MARTh
William S. Marth
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature
/s/ WILLIAM S. MARTh
William S. Marth

Title

Date

President, chief executive Officer, Director
(Principal executive Officer)

March 16, 2017

Senior Vice President, chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

March 16, 2017

chairman of the Board of Directors

March 16, 2017

/s/ DAVID h. DeMING
David h. Deming

Director

March 16, 2017

/s/ GeRARDO GUTIeRReZ FUeNTeS
Gerardo Gutierrez Fuentes

Director

March 16, 2017

/S/ KeNNeTh hAGeN
Kenneth hagen

Director

March 16, 2017

/s/ ANThONY MADDALUNA
Anthony Maddaluna

Director

March 16, 2017

/s/ FeRNANDO NAPOLITANO
Fernando Napolitano

Director

March 16, 2017

/s/ KeVIN O’cONNOR
Kevin O’connor

Director

March 16, 2017

/s/ ARThUR J. ROTh
Arthur J. Roth

Director

March 16, 2017

/s/ UNA S. RYAN
Una S. Ryan, Ph.D., O.B.e.

Director

March 16, 2017

/S/ FeLIcIA I. LADIN
Felicia I. Ladin
/s/ ThOMAS e. D’AMBRA
Thomas e. D’Ambra, Ph.D.
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F- 1

Page
F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-7
F-8

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Albany Molecular Research, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and subsidiaries (“Albany Molecular Research, Inc.” or “the
company”) as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2016. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited
the financial statement schedule of valuation and qualifying accounts. We also have audited Albany Molecular Research, Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway commission (cOSO). Albany Molecular Research, Inc.’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements
and financial statement schedule, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal control over Financial Reporting (Item 9A(b)). Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule, and an opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Albany Molecular Research,
Inc. as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31,
2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. In our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. Also in our opinion, Albany
Molecular Research, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway commission.
Albany Molecular Research, Inc. acquired Prime european Therapeuticals S.p.A. (the Acquired Business) during 2016, and management excluded from its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, the Acquired Business’ internal control over financial
reporting associated with assets representing 27% of consolidated total assets and revenues representing 23% of consolidated total revenues included in the
consolidated financial statements of the company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Albany
Molecular Research, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of the Acquired Business.
/s/ KPMG LLP
Albany, New York
March 16, 2017
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ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

contract revenue
Recurring royalties
Total revenue
cost of contract revenue
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Impairment charges
Restructuring and other charges
Technology incentive award
Postretirement benefit plan settlement gain
Total costs and expenses
(Loss) income from operations
Interest expense, net
Other (expense) income, net
(Loss) before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net loss

$

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2016
2015
560,430 $
384,738 $
10,020
17,618
570,450
402,356
437,649
295,527
16,046
5,474
122,136
77,394
3,126
3,770
10,252
5,988
—
554
—
—
589,209
388,707
(18,759)
13,649
(39,923)
(19,338)
(1,277)
2,220
(59,959)
(3,469)
10,212
(1,168)
)
(70,171 $
(2,301) $

See Accompanying Notes to consolidated Financial Statements.
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(1.83)

$

(0.07) $

2014
250,704
25,867
276,571
209,193
1,004
48,897
7,835
3,582
1,621
(1,285)
270,847
5,724
(10,957)
(235)
(5,468)
(2,190)
(3,278)
(0.10)

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC .
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014
(In thousands)

Net loss
Reclassification adjustment of foreign currency translation loss upon dissolution of a foreign
subsidiary
Foreign currency translation loss
Net actuarial gain (loss) of pension and postretirement benefits
Total comprehensive loss

$

$

Years Ended December 31,
2016
2015
(70,171) $
(2,301) $
–
(21,848)
519
(91,500)

See Accompanying Notes to consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

–
(4,760)
793
(6,268) $

2014
(3,278)
734
(1,657)
(2,234)
(6,435)

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
December 31,
2016
Assets
current assets:
cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Royalty income receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income taxes receivable
Property and equipment held for sale
Total current assets

$

Property and equipment, net
Notes hedges
Goodwill
Intangible assets and patents, net
Deferred income taxes
Other assets
Total assets

$

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Accrued compensation
Income taxes payable
Accrued pension benefits
Short-term borrowings
current installments of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt, excluding current installments, net
Notes conversion derivative
Income taxes payable
Pension and postretirement benefits
Deferred income taxes
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
commitments and contingencies (Notes 11 and 13)
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 2,000 shares, none issued or outstanding
common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 100,000 shares, 48,465 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2016
and 41,130 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net
Less, treasury shares at cost, 5,573 shares at December 31, 2016 and 5,512 shares at December 31, 2015
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See Accompanying Notes to consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$

2015

52,000
236
144,795
3,486
167,111
22,109
2,026
1,148
392,911
364,806
51,003
231,256
165,174
504
3,994
1,209,648

111,147
13,370
11,063
2,826
680
22,515
13,917
175,518

$

$

$

49,343
2,966
110,427
6,184
89,231
16,159
5,419
516
280,245
209,508
76,393
169,471
120,204
6,342
3,404
865,567

60,890
14,718
7,319
—
578
—
15,591
99,096

604,476
51,003
3,769
18,615
40,058
17,227
910,666

373,692
76,393
2,956
6,909
16,405
2,893
578,344

—

—

485
400,496
7,160
(39,730)
368,411
(69,429)
298,982
1,209,648 $

411
296,337
77,331
(18,401)
355,678
(68,455)
287,223
865,567

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014
(In thousands)

Balances at January 1, 2014
Net loss
Pension and other
postretirement benefits:
Amortization of actuarial
loss, net of taxes
current year actuarial loss,
net of taxes
Reclassification adjustment of
foreign currency translation
loss upon dissolution of a
foreign subsidiary
Foreign currency translation
loss
excess tax benefit from sharebased compensation
Share-based payment expense
Issuance of restricted stock
Forfeiture of unearned
compensation - restricted
stock
Issuance of common stock in
connection with stock
option plan and eSPP
Treasury repurchases
Balances at December 31, 2014
Net loss
Pension and other postretirement
benefits:
Amortization of actuarial
loss, net of taxes
current year actuarial loss,
net of taxes
Foreign currency translation loss

Preferred
Stock
$
—

Share-based payment expense
Issuance of restricted stock
Issuance of restricted stock due to
acquisition
Forfeiture of unearned
compensation - restricted stock
Issuance of common stock in
connection with stock option
and incentive plan and eSPP
Treasury repurchases
Balances at December 31, 2016

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$
235,806

Retained
Earnings
$
82,910
(3,278)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss, net
$
(11,277)

Treasury Stock
Number of
Shares
Amount
5,425 $
(67,052)

$

398

(2,632)

734

(734)

(1,657)

$

—

7

(72)

-

2

456

4

2,309

38,098

$

381

(1,657)

1,642
4,122
(7)

691

$

243,874

1,642
4,122
2

$

79,632
(2,301)

$

(14,434)

40
5,465

$

(579)
(67,631)

$

885

$

-

471

5

2,200

22

40,546

(144)

-

505

3

41,130

$

411

)
( 92
(4,760)

(1)

296,337

$

77,331
(70,171)

$

(18,401)

47
5,512

$

(824)
(68,455)

$

)
(340
(21,848)

(340
(21,848)

$

-

7,188

72

(120)

-

252

2

48,465

$

485

8,425

8,425

93,493

93,565

2,241
$

(824)
287,223
(70,171)

859

)

-

40,568

3,458

859

15

2,108
(6,291)
64

(1)

3,455
$

(2,313)
(579)
241,822
(2,301)

885

( 92 )
(4,760)
2.108
6,291
64

Total
240,757
(3,278)

398

(2,632)

excess tax benefit from sharebased compensation
Share-based payment expense
Issuance of restricted stock
Issuance of restricted stock due to
acquisition
Forfeiture of unearned
compensation - restricted stock
Issuance of common stock in
connection with stock option
plan and eSPP
Treasury repurchases
Balances at December 31, 2015
Net loss
Pension and other postretirement
benefits:
Amortization of actuarial
loss, net of taxes
current year actuarial loss,
net of taxes
Foreign currency translation loss

Common Stock
Number of
Par
Shares
Value
37,023 $
370

400,496

$

7,160

$

(39,730)

See Accompanying Notes to consolidated Financial Statements.
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61
5,573

$

(974)
(69,429)

$

2,243
(974)
298,982

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
DECEMBER 31, 2016, 2015 AND 2014
(In thousands)

2016
Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Deferred financing amortization
Accretion of discount on long-term debt
Provision for doubtful accounts
Deferred income tax
Impairment charges
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
cumulative translation loss related to foreign subsidiary dissolution
Share-based compensation expense
Gain on settlement of post-retirement liability
excess tax benefit of stock option exercises
changes in operating assets and liabilities that provide (use) cash, net of impact of business
combinations:
Accounts receivable
Royalty income receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued compensation and accrued expenses
Income taxes receivable/payable
Deferred revenue and licensing fees
Pension and postretirement benefits
Other long-term liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing Activities
Purchase of businesses, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Payments for patent applications and other costs
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Issuance of short-term borrowings
Principal payments on short-term borrowings
Issuance of long-term debt
Principal payments on long-term debt
Deferred financing costs
Purchases of treasury stock
changes in restricted cash
excess of tax benefit of stock option exercises
Proceeds from exercise of options and employee Stock Purchase Plan
Net cash provided by financing activities
effect of exchange rate changes on cash flows
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Actuarial gain (loss) on pension and other postretirement liability, net of tax
Issuance of common stock for business acquisition
Issuance of restricted stock
equipment purchase financed with a capital lease
Non-cash forgiveness of arbitration reserve
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
cash paid during the period for:
Interest
Income taxes

$

Year ended December 31,
2015

(70,171)

$

2014

(2,301) $

(3,278)

50,604
6,102
9,712
2,777
943
3,126
151
—
8,425
—
—

27,049
2,470
6,564
1,289
(2,915)
3,770
118
—
6,291
—
(2,108)

18,353
1,537
5,765
343
(2,101)
7,835
166
734
4,122
(1,285)
(1,642)

(10,787)
2,649
21,482
(1,986)
(384)
6,180
(3,961)
(24)
1,797
26,635

(9,353)
(1,167)
7,732
(753)
6,815
(4,918)
1,442
(99)
(298)
39,628

(12,664)
2,462
(7,967)
(814)
(4,866)
(5,842)
1,225
(215)
37
1,905

(142,016)
(51,428)
(441)
688
(193,197)

(199,580)
(22,041)
(126)
31
(221,716)

(145,752)
(17,189)
(398)
80
(163,259)

$

50,344
(53,888)
227,792
(48,961)
(8,222)
(974)
2,730
—
2,024
170,845
(1,626)
2,657
49,343
52,000

—
—
269,661
(81,864)
(8,209)
(824)
1,086
2,108
3,458
185,416
(980)
2,348
46,995
49,343 $

—
—
35,000
(5,063)
(544)
(579)
472
1,642
2,313
33,241
(820)
(128,933)
175,928
46,995

$

$
$
$
$
$

519
93,565
9,796
250
—

$
$
$
$
$

793
40,568
9,482
—
—

$
$
$
$
$

(2,234)
—
8,660
—
1,024

$
$

21,356
8,258

$
$

11,574
8,204

$
$

3,536
5,928

See Accompanying Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements
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ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business and Operations:
Albany Molecular Research, Inc. (the “company”) is a leading global contract research and manufacturing organization providing customers fully integrated drug
discovery, development, and manufacturing services. The company supplies a broad range of services and technologies supporting the discovery and development
of pharmaceutical products, the manufacture of fine chemicals and Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients (“API”), the development and manufacture of drug product
(“DP”) for new and generic drugs, as well as research, development and manufacturing for the agrochemical and other industries. In addition, the company offers
analytical and testing services to the medical device and personal care industry. With locations in the United States, europe, and Asia, the company maintains
geographic proximity to our customers and flexible cost models.
Basis of Presentation:
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. When necessary, prior years’ consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the current
year presentation. Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. operations are translated at period-end rates of foreign currency exchange, and the statements of operations are
translated at the average rates of foreign currency exchange for the period. Gains or losses resulting from translating non-U.S. currency financial statements are
recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss and in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Use of Management Estimates:
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities, at the date of the financial statements, and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
include the assumptions regarding the company’s accounting for business combinations and goodwill impairment assessment, valuation of inventory, intangible
assets and long-lived assets, and the amount and realizability of deferred tax assets. Other significant estimates include assumptions utilized in determining
actuarial obligations in conjunction with the company’s pension and postretirement health plans, assumptions utilized in determining stock-based compensation,
environmental remediation liabilities, as well as those utilized in determining the value of both the notes hedges and the notes conversion derivative and the
assumptions related to the collectability of trade receivables. Actual results can vary from these estimates.
Contract Revenue Recognition:
The company’s contract revenue consists primarily of amounts earned under contracts with third-party customers and reimbursed expenses under such contracts.
Reimbursed expenses consist of chemicals and other project specific costs. The company also seeks to include provisions in certain contracts that contain a
combination of up-front licensing fees, milestone and royalty payments should the company’s proprietary technology and expertise lead to the discovery of new
products that become approved by the applicable regulatory agencies for commercial sale. Generally, the company’s contracts may be terminated by the customer
upon 30 days’ to two years’ prior notice, depending on the terms and/or size of the contract. The company analyzes its agreements to determine whether the
elements can be separated and accounted for individually or as a single unit of accounting in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (the
“FASB”) Accounting Standards codification (“ASc”) 605-25, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” and Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 104,
“Revenue Recognition”. Allocation of revenue to individual elements that qualify for separate accounting is based on the separate selling prices determined for
each component, and total contract consideration is then allocated based on relative fair value across the components of the arrangement. If separate selling prices
are not available, the company will use its best estimate of such selling prices, consistent with the overall pricing strategy and after consideration of relevant
market factors.
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ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
The company generates contract revenue under the following types of contracts:
Fixed-Fee . Under a fixed-fee contract, the company charges a fixed agreed upon amount for a deliverable. Fixed-fee contracts have fixed deliverables upon
completion of the project. Typically, the company recognizes revenue for fixed-fee contracts after projects are completed and when delivery is made or title and
risk of loss otherwise transfers to the customer, and collection is reasonably assured. In certain instances, the company’s customers request that the company
retain materials produced upon completion of the project due to the fact that the customer does not have a qualified facility to store those materials or for other
reasons. In these instances, the revenue recognition process is considered complete when project documents have been delivered to the customer, as required under
the arrangement, or other customer-specific contractual conditions have been satisfied.
Full-time Equivalent (“FTE”). An FTe agreement establishes the number of company employees contracted for a project or a series of projects, the duration of
the contract period, the price per FTe, plus an allowance for chemicals and other project specific costs, which may or may not be incorporated in the FTe rate. FTe
contracts can run in one month increments, but typically have terms of six months or longer. FTe contracts typically provide for annual adjustments in billing rates
for the scientists assigned to the contract.
These contracts involve the company’s scientists providing services on a “best efforts” basis on a project that may involve a research component with a timeframe
or outcome that has some level of unpredictability. There are no fixed deliverables that must be met for payment as part of these services. As such, the company
recognizes revenue under FTe contracts on a monthly basis as services are performed according to the terms of the contract.
Time and Materials. Under a time and materials contract, the company charges customers an hourly rate plus reimbursement for chemicals and other project
specific costs. The company recognizes revenue for time and material contracts based on the number of hours devoted to the project multiplied by the customer’s
billing rate plus other project specific costs incurred.
Recurring Royalty Revenues:
Recurring royalties historically related to royalties under a license agreement with Sanofi based on the worldwide net sales of fexofenadine hcl, marketed as
Allegra in the Americas and Telfast elsewhere, as well as on sales of Sanofi’s authorized or licensed generics and sales by certain authorized sub-licensees. These
royalty payments ceased in May 2015 due to the expiration of patents under the license agreement. The company currently receives royalties in conjunction with a
Development and Supply Agreement with Teva Pharmaceuticals (“Teva”) .These royalties are earned on net sales of generic products sold by Allergan. The
company records royalty revenue in the period in which the net sales of this product occur. Royalty payments from Allergan are due within 60 days after each
calendar quarter and are determined based on sales of the qualifying products in that quarter. The company also receives royalties on certain other products and
revenue is generally estimated and recognized when the sales of product occur.
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ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
Collaboration Arrangement Revenues:
The company enters into collaboration arrangements with third parties for the development and manufacture of certain products and/or product candidates. T hese
arrangements may include non-refundable, upfront payments, milestone payments and cost sharing arrangements during the development stage, payments for
manufacturing based on a cost plus an agreed percentage, as well as profit sharing payments during the product’s commercial stage.
The company recognizes revenue for payments received for services performed under these arrangements as contract revenue in accordance with ASc 605,
“Revenue Recognition.” Development stage payments are recognized using the milestone method when the contractual milestones are determined to be substantive
and have been achieved. certain contractual milestones are deemed to be achieved upon the occurrence of the contractual performance events. Other nonperformance based milestones, including the filing of an Abbreviated New Drug Application (ANDA) and approval by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA),
which are generally events that occur at the end of the development period, are recognized upon occurrence of the related event. contractual milestones that are
deemed not substantive are recognized using proportional performance over the remaining development period. Upfront, non-refundable payments are recognized
over the term of the development period using the proportional performance recognition model. Revenue associated with payments received for contract
manufacturing services are recognized upon delivery of the product to the company’s collaborative partners. Revenue associated with payments received for profit
sharing payments are recognized as recurring royalties revenue when earned based on the terms of the agreements.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash:
cash equivalents consist of money market accounts and overnight deposits. For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, the company considers all
highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. The company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at
several financial institutions and at times may exceed insured limits. The company has placed these funds in high quality institutions in order to minimize risk
relating to exceeding insured limits.
Restricted cash balances at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 are required pursuant to the company’s Singapore lease agreements. The additional
restricted cash balance at December 31, 2015 was required as collateral for the letters of credit associated with the company’s debt agreements.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
The company records an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated trade receivable losses. Management reviews outstanding trade receivable balances on a
regular basis in order to assess the collectability of these balances, and adjusts the allowance for doubtful accounts accordingly. The allowance and related accounts
receivable are reduced when the account is deemed uncollectible.
Allowances for doubtful accounts were $3,730 and $1,096 as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
Inventory:
Inventory consists primarily of commercially available fine chemicals used as raw materials, work-in-process and finished goods in the company’s large-scale
manufacturing plants. Manufacturing inventories are valued on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) or average cost basis. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or
market. The company writes down inventories equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about
future demand and market conditions. Any such write-down, which represents a new cost basis for the inventory, results in a charge to operations.
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ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
Property and Equipment:
Property and equipment are initially recorded at cost or, if acquired as part of a business combination, at fair value. expenditures for maintenance and repairs are
expensed when incurred. When assets are sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, the applicable costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts
and the resulting gain or loss is recognized. Spare parts purchased for in-service property and equipment are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation is determined using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the individual assets. Accelerated methods of depreciation have been
used for income tax purposes.
The company provides for depreciation of property and equipment over the following estimated useful lives:
Machinery, laboratory equipment and fixtures
Office equipment
computer equipment
Buildings

7-18 years
3-7 years
3-5 years
39 years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the useful life of the asset or the lease term.
Equity Investments:
The company maintains an equity investment in a company that has operations in areas within the company’s strategic focus. This investment is in a leveraged
start-up company and was recorded at historical cost. The company accounts for this investment using the cost method of accounting as the company’s ownership
interest in the investee is below 20% and the company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investee.
The company records an impairment charge when an investment has experienced a decline in value that is other-than-temporary. Future adverse changes in market
conditions or poor operating results of underlying investments could result in the company’s inability to recover the carrying value of the investment thereby
requiring an impairment charge in the future.
The carrying value of the equity investment at December 31, 2016 and 2015 was $956 and is included within “Other assets” on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.
Business Combinations:
In accordance with the accounting guidance for business combinations, the company used the acquisition method of accounting to allocate costs of acquired
businesses to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the dates of acquisition. The excess costs of acquired businesses
over the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recognized as goodwill. The valuations of the acquired assets and liabilities will impact the
determination of future operating results. In addition to using management estimates and negotiated amounts, the company used a variety of information sources to
determine the estimated fair values of the assets and liabilities, including third-party appraisals for the estimated value and lives of identifiable intangible assets and
property and equipment. The business and technical judgment of management and third-party experts was used in determining the useful lives of finite-lived
intangible assets in accordance with the accounting guidance for goodwill and intangible assets and patents.
Long-Lived Assets:
The company assesses the impairment of a long-lived asset group whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying value may not be
recoverable. Factors the company considers important that could trigger an impairment review include, among others, the following:
·

a significant change in the extent or manner in which a long-lived asset group is being used;
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ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
·

a significant change in the business climate that could affect the value of a long-lived asset group; or

·

a significant decrease in the market value of assets.

If the company determines that the carrying value of long-lived assets may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of
impairment, the company compares the carrying value of the asset group to the undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset group. If the
carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment charge is indicated. An impairment charge is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount
of the asset group exceeds its fair value and will reduce only the carrying amounts of the long-lived assets.
Goodwill:
The company tests goodwill for impairment annually and whenever events or circumstances make it more likely than not that impairment may have occurred, such
as a significant adverse change in the business climate or a decision to sell or dispose of a reporting unit. The goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit
level, which is at the operating segment or one level below (known as a component). If a component has similar economic characteristics, the components are
aggregated and tested at the operating segment level. For purposes of testing goodwill, the company’s reporting units have been defined as Active Pharmaceutical
Ingredients (“ API”), Drug Product (“DP”), Fine chemicals (“Fc”), Discovery & Development Services (“DD”) and Analytical Services (“AS”). Goodwill was
tested at this level based on the manner in which the company operates its businesses and goodwill is recoverable. The API, DP and Fc operating segments have
been determined to be reporting units because the products, processes, and customers are similar and resources are managed at the segment level. The company’s
Discovery and Development Services (DDS) operating segment consists of two reporting units, DD and AS.
The company tests goodwill for impairment by either performing a qualitative evaluation or a two-step quantitative test. The qualitative evaluation is an
assessment of factors, including reporting unit specific operating results as well as industry, market, and general economic conditions, to determine whether it is
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, including goodwill. Depending on the factors specific to some or all of
our reporting units, the company may be required to perform a two-step quantitative test. A qualitative assessment was performed for the DD reporting unit given
that the goodwill in this unit relates to the acquisition of euticals in 2016. A quantitative assessment was performed for API, DP and AS. The company concluded
there were no impairments as of October 1, 2016, our annual impairment testing date. Additionally, the company considered the qualitative factors for each
component subsequent to the annual impairment testing date and through December 31, 2016, noting no indicators of potential impairment.
The valuations for API, DP and AS used in the quantitative goodwill assessment were based on the discounted cash flow method using projected financial
information of the reporting unit. consideration was also given to a market approach as a possible indication of value but not weighted. Key assumptions used in
the discounted cash flow method include prospective financial information and the discount rate or weighted-average cost of capital (WAcc). The prospective
financial information includes company-prepared five year projections, which are based on information available to management as of October 1, 2016 and, for
API and DP, includes projected revenue on generic drug products in development and expected to be commercialized in the five year period. The long-term sales
growth rate assumed for API, DP and AS was 3%. The WAcc takes into consideration the capital structure of both the company and peer groups for each of the
businesses. In addition, the WAcc includes a market equity and country specific risk premium. The country specific risk premium is based on a blended average
of the geographies in which the business units operate. A discount rate was estimated and applied to each revenue stream, specifically contract revenue and
royalties on long-term collaboration agreements for both API and DP. The discount rates for contract revenue were 11.5%, 10.0% and 9.5% for API, DP and AS,
respectively. The discount rates for royalty revenue on long-term collaboration arrangements were 24.5% and 23.5% for API and DP, respectively, given the
higher level of uncertainty surrounding these cash flows.
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The estimated fair value for the DP business compared to its carrying value was relatively close given that DP is primarily comprised of recent acquisitions. The
estimated fair value of the DP business exceeded carrying value by approximately 13%. The future projections have included discounted cash flows for the
company’s current DP manufacturing and development business as well as separate projections of estimated royalties on the long-term collaboration agreements.
The achievement of these royalties could be impacted by the complexity to develop the product, the number of competitors in the market, and the timing of the
product launch. These risks have been contemplated in the company’s projections. If the company’s DP business is unable to achieve the future projections of the
manufacturing and development business or the projections of estimated royalties on the long-term collaboration agreements, some or all of the goodwill allocated
to DP may be impaired in future periods.
Patents, Patent Application Costs, Trademarks, Tradenames, Customer Relationships and In-process Research & Development:
customer relationships and trademarks are being amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from five to twenty years. Acquired
tradenames are not amortized, but instead are periodically reviewed for impairment.
The costs of patents issued and acquired are being amortized on the straight-line basis over the estimated remaining lives of the issued patents. Patent application
and processing costs are capitalized and amortized over the estimated life once a patent is acquired or expensed in the period the patent application is denied or the
related appeal process has been exhausted. An impairment charge is recognized to the extent that the carrying amount of the intangible asset group exceeds its fair
value and will reduce only the carrying amounts of the intangible assets.
The costs of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”), related to the company’s business combination with Gadea, were recorded at fair value on the
acquisition date. IPR&D intangible assets are considered indefinite-lived intangible assets until completion or abandonment of the associated research and
development efforts. IPR&D is not amortized but is reviewed for impairment at least annually, or when events or changes in the business environment indicate the
carrying value may be impaired.
Pension and Postretirement Benefits:
The company maintains pension and postretirement benefit costs and liabilities that are developed from actuarial valuations. Inherent in these valuations are key
assumptions, including actuarial mortality assumptions, discount rates and expected return on plan assets, which are updated on an annual basis. The company
considers current market conditions, including changes in interest rates, in making these assumptions. changes in the related pension and postretirement benefit
costs may occur in the future due to changes in the assumptions.
Loss Contingencies:
Loss contingencies are recorded as liabilities when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss is reasonably estimable. Disclosure is
required when there is a reasonable possibility that the ultimate loss will be material. contingent liabilities are often resolved over long time periods. estimating
probable losses requires analyses that often depend on judgments about potential actions by third parties such as regulators. The company enlists the technical
expertise of its internal resources in evaluating current exposures and potential outcomes, and will utilize third party subject matter experts to supplement these
assessments as circumstances dictate.
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Environmental Matters:
Liabilities for future remediation costs are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be reasonably
estimated. Other than for assessments, the timing and magnitude of these accurals generally are based on the completion of investigations or other studies or a
commitment to a formal plan of action. environmental remediation liabilities are based on best estimates of probable undiscounted future costs using currently
available technology and applying current regulations and contractual obligations.
Research and Development:
Research and Development (“R&D”) costs are charged to operations when incurred and are included in operating expenses.
Income Taxes:
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the income tax consequences attributable
to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
A valuation allowance is provided for when it is determined that deferred tax assets are not recoverable. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets,
management considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred
tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income. The company considers all available evidence (positive and negative) in support of its ability
to utilize its deferred tax assets, including cumulative income or loss in recent years, taxable income in recent years against which future losses may be carried
back, future reversals of existing temporary differences, forecasted future taxable income and tax planning strategies. A greater weight is placed on objectively
verifiable evidence.
Additionally, a tax position is a position in a previously filed tax return or a position expected to be taken in a future tax filing that is reflected in measuring current
or deferred income tax assets and liabilities. Tax positions are recognized only when it is more likely than not (likelihood of greater than 50%), based on technical
merits, that the position would be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. Tax positions that meet the more likely than not threshold are measured using
a probability-weighted approach.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities:
The company accounts for derivatives in accordance with FASB ASc Topic 815, “Derivatives and hedging”, which establishes accounting and reporting
standards requiring that derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet as either an asset or a liability measured at fair value. Additionally, changes in a
derivative’s fair value shall be recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. If the specific hedge accounting criteria is met,
then changes in fair value are recorded in accumulative other comprehensive loss, net.
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Stock-Based Compensation:
The company records compensation expense associated with stock options and other equity based compensation by establishing fair value as the measurement
objective in accounting for share-based payment transactions with employees and directors and recognizing expense on a straight-line basis over the applicable
vesting period.
Earnings Per Share:
The company computes net (loss) earnings per share by dividing net (loss) income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted earnings per share would reflect the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common
stock were exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in the earnings of the company (such as stock
options).
The following table provides basic and diluted loss per share calculations:

Basic and diluted loss per share

$

Year Ended December 31, 2016
Weighted
Net
Average
Per Share
Loss
Shares
Amount
(70,171)
38,304
$
(1.83)

$

Year Ended December 31, 2015
Weighted
Net
Average
Per Share
Loss
Shares
Amount
(2,301)
33,169 $
(0.07)

$

Year Ended December 31, 2014
Weighted
Net
Average
Per Share
Loss
Shares
Amount
(3,278)
31,526 $
(0.10)

The company has excluded all outstanding stock options and non-vested restricted shares from the calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 because the net losses cause these outstanding stock options and non-vested restricted shares to be anti-dilutive.
The weighted average number of anti-dilutive common equivalents outstanding was 12,022, 11,971 and 12,502 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and
2014, respectively, and were excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share.
Restructuring Charges:
The company accounts for its restructuring costs as required by FASB ASc Subtopic 420-10, “Accounting for costs Associated with exit or Disposal Activities”,
which requires that a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized and measured initially at its fair value in the period in which the
liability is incurred, except for one-time termination benefits that meet certain requirements.
Transfers of Financial Assets:
The company enters into arrangements with financial institutions to factor certain accounts receivable transactions. In these arrangements, the company is
obligated to collect the factored accounts receivable from the company’s customers on behalf of the financial institutions and remit the collections to the financial
institutions. The company accounts for these transfers of financial assets as sales when it has surrendered control over the related assets and the company can
demonstrate that the transferred financial assets have been isolated from, and are beyond the reach of, the company’s creditors. Whether control has been
relinquished requires, among other things, an evaluation of relevant legal considerations and an assessment of the nature and extent of the company’s continuing
involvement with the assets transferred. Upon receipts of cash proceeds in connection with the transfer of financial assets accounted for as sales, the company
removes the related assets from the company’s consolidated balance sheets and records the proceeds as “cash and cash equivalents”. If gains and losses result
from transfers reported as sales, such amounts are included in “Other (expense) income, net” in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. If assets
are obtained and liabilities incurred in connection with transfers reported as sales, such amounts are initially recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at fair
value. Accounts receivable factored under these arrangements was $8,433 as of December 31, 2016. No gains or losses were recognized during 2016.
cash proceeds received in connection with transfers of financial assets that do not qualify for sale accounting are reported as “Short-term borrowings” in the
consolidated balance sheets. Accordingly, the related assets remain on the company’s consolidated balance sheets and continue to be reported and accounted for as
if the transfer had not occurred.
Subsequent Events:
The company evaluates subsequent events at the date of the balance sheet as well as conditions that arise after the balance sheet date but before the consolidated
financial statements are issued. The effects of conditions that existed at the date of the balance sheet date are recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
events and conditions arising after the balance sheet date but before the consolidated financial statements are issued are evaluated to determine if disclosure is
required to keep the consolidated financial statements from being misleading. To the extent such events and conditions exist, if any, disclosures are made regarding
the nature of events and the estimated financial effects for those events and conditions. For purposes of preparing the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and the notes to these consolidated financial statements, the company evaluated subsequent events through the date the accompanying consolidated
financial statements were issued.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements:
Accounting Pronouncements Issued But Not Yet Adopted
In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2017-04, “Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment.” The standard simplifies the accounting for goodwill impairment by removing Step 2 of the goodwill impairment test, which requires a hypothetical
purchase price allocation. The ASU is effective for annual or interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and should be
applied on a prospective basis. early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The
adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “clarifying the Definition of a Business.” The standard clarifies the definition of a business by adding guidance
to assist entities in evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or businesses. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted for certain transactions. The adoption of this standard is not
expected to have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-18, “Restricted cash.” The standard addresses the classification and presentation of restricted cash and restricted
cash equivalents within the statement of cash flows. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those
fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial
statements .
In October 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-16, “Intra-entity Transfers of Assets Other Than Inventory.” The standard requires the immediate recognition of tax
effects for an intra-entity asset transfer other than inventory. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within
those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. The company is still evaluating the impact this standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.
In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “classification of certain cash Receipts and cash Payments.” The standard addresses the classification of certain
transactions within the statement of cash flows, including cash payments for debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs, contingent consideration payments
made after a business combination, and distributions received from equity method investments. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. The company is still evaluating the impact this standard will have on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, “Improvements to employee Share-Based Payment Accounting.” The standard reduces complexity in several
aspects of the accounting for employee share-based compensation, including the income tax consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities
and classification on the statement of cash flows. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal
years. early adoption is permitted. The adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases.” The standard established the principles that lessees and lessors will apply to report useful information
to users of financial statements about the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from a lease. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. early adoption is permitted. The company is currently evaluating the impact of its pending
adoption of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
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In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, “Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory.” This ASU simplifies the subsequent measurement of inventories by
replacing the current lower of cost or market test with a lower of cost or net realizable value test. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods therein. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, "Revenue from contracts with customers: (Topic 606)." This ASU affects any entity that either enters into
contracts with customers to transfer goods or services or enters into contracts for the transfer of nonfinancial assets unless those contracts are within the scope of
other standards (e.g., insurance contracts or lease contracts). This ASU will supersede the revenue recognition requirements in ASc Topic 605, "Revenue
Recognition," and most industry-specific guidance. In addition, the existing requirements for the recognition of a gain or loss on the transfer of nonfinancial assets
that are not in a contract with a customer (e.g., assets within the scope of ASc Topic 360, "Property, Plant, and equipment," and intangible assets within the scope
of ASc Topic 350, "Intangibles-Goodwill and Other") are amended to be consistent with the guidance on recognition and measurement (including the constraint on
revenue) in this ASU. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In July 2015, the FASB
deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09. This ASU is now effective for calendar years beginning after December 15, 2017. early adoption is not permitted. We
have begun to evaluate the impacts of this new standard on our consolidated financial statements, information technology ("IT") systems, policies and business
processes and controls. We have developed an implementation plan to adopt this new guidance including determining the method of adoption. As part of this plan,
we are currently assessing the potential impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Based on our assessment
procedures performed to date, we are currently unable to estimate the impact this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements; however, we
anticipate that the adoption of the new standard may require us to make changes to our business processes and controls.
Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted
In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-15, “Disclosure of Uncertainties about an entity’s Ability to continue as a Going concern.” The standard requires
management to assess if there is substantial doubt about an entity’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the issuance date and, as applicable,
provide additional disclosures on management’s plan to alleviate the substantial doubt. The ASU is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2016, and
interim periods within annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016. early adoption is permitted. During the fourth quarter of 2016, the company adopted
this standard, which had no impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, "compensation - Stock compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of
an Award Provide That a Performance Target could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period." This ASU requires that a performance target that affects
vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period, be treated as a performance condition. The performance target should not be reflected in
estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. compensation cost should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target
will be achieved and should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already been rendered. If the
performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the remaining unrecognized compensation cost should be
recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation cost recognized during and after the requisite service
period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should be adjusted to reflect those awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period
ends when the employee can cease rendering service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the performance target is achieved. This ASU is effective for annual
periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. The company adopted this ASU during 2016, which did not have a
material impact on its consolidated financial statements
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2.

Business Acquisitions

2016 Acquisition
Euticals
On July 11, 2016, the company purchased from Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. all of the capital stock of Prime european Therapeuticals S.p.A. (“euticals”) (the
“euticals Acquisition”), a privately-held company headquartered in Lodi, Italy, specializing in custom synthesis and the manufacture of active pharmaceutical
ingredients with a network of facilities located in Italy, Germany, the U.S. and France. The euticals operations have been assigned to the API, DDS and Fc
segments based on the activities performed and markets served at each location.
The aggregate net purchase price was $277,067 (net of cash acquired of $20,784), which consisted of (i) the issuance of 7,051 unregistered shares of common
stock subject to a six month lock-up provision, valued at $91,765 (net of lock-up provision discount of $9,633), (ii) the issuance of two unsecured promissory notes
to Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. with a combined face value of €55,000, or $60,783, that were valued at $44,342 (net of an original issue discount of $16,441) (the
“euticals Seller Notes”), and (iii) $140,960 in cash, net of a final working capital adjustment of $2,309.
The following table summarizes the allocation of the aggregate purchase price to the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired:
July 11,
2016
Assets Acquired
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Inventory
Income taxes receivable
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other long term-assets
Total assets acquired

$

$

30,977
4,492
103,895
189
159,924
59,457
67,364
713
427,011

Liabilities Assumed
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Short-term borrowings
Deferred revenue
Deferred income taxes
Pension benefits
environmental liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

$

$

61,011
27,362
3,399
31,734
13,201
11,716
1,521
149,944
277,067

The company has attributed the goodwill of $67,364 to an expanded global footprint and additional market opportunities that the euticals business offers within
the API and DDS segments. The goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired consisted of customer relationships of $7,073, with an
estimated life of 9 years, developed technology of $44,648, with an estimated life of 16 years, and manufacturing intellectual property and know-how of $7,736,
with an estimated life of 18 years.
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In May 2016, the company entered into a forward contract to hedge the foreign currency exposure related to the purchase price of the euticals Acquistion. In this
arrangement, the company was obligated to purchase €150,000 at a fixed price on July 8, 2016. The forward contract did not qualify as a hedging instrument in
accordance with ASc 815, “Derivatives and hedging.” As a result, as of June 30, 2016, an unrealized loss of $6,401 was recorded in ‘Other (expense) income, net
on the consolidated statements of operations. In connection with the closing of the euticals Acquisition, the forward contract was settled on July 8, 2016, at which
time the company recognized an additional loss of approximately $90 related to this contract.
2015 Acquisitions
Whitehouse Laboratories
On December 15, 2015, the company acquired all of the outstanding equity interests of Whitehouse Analytical Laboratories, LLc (“Whitehouse”), a leading
provider of testing services that includes chemical and material analysis, method development and validation and quality control verification services to the
pharmaceutical, medical device and personal care industries. Whitehouse offers a comprehensive array of testing solutions for life sciences from materials and
excipients, container qualification and container closure integrity testing, routine analytical chemistry, drug delivery systems and device qualification programs,
packaging, distribution, and stability and storage programs. The aggregate net purchase price was $55,986 (net of cash acquired of $377), which included the
issuance of 137 shares of common stock, valued at $1,800, with the balance comprised of $53,924 in cash, plus a working capital adjustment of $262. Whitehouse
has been assigned to the DDS segment.
During 2016, the purchase price was increased by $262 due to the finalization of the net working capital adjustment and was reduced to recognize the discount
associated with the 137 unregistered shares issued in conjunction with the Whitehouse acquisition in the amount of $200. These adjustments resulted in a net
increase of goodwill of $62. The company has attributed the goodwill of $26,670 to additional market opportunities that the Whitehouse business offers within the
DDS segment. The goodwill is deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired consisted of customer lists of $25,600, with an estimated life of 13 years and
a tradename of $600, with an estimated life of 8 years.
Gadea
On July 16, 2015, the company completed the purchase of Gadea Grupo Farmaceutico, S.L. (“Gadea”), a contract manufacturer of complex active pharmaceutical
ingredients and finished drug product. Gadea operates within the company's API and DP segments. The aggregate net purchase price was $127,572 (net of cash
acquired of $10,961), which included the issuance of 2,200 shares of common stock, valued at $40,568, with the balance comprised of $97,965 in cash. The
purchase price has been allocated based on the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired as of the acquisition date.
During 2016, the purchase price allocation was adjusted primarily due to the recognition of an environmental remediation liability of $1,542 and a corresponding
indemnification receivable from the seller of $771. The purchase price allocation was also adjusted to reduce the estimated uncertain tax position liabilities
associated with pre-acquisition tax years by $498 and to reduce the corresponding indemnification receivable from the seller by $293. These adjustments resulted
in a net increase of goodwill of approximately $1,200.
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The company has attributed the goodwill of $51,358 to an expanded global footprint and additional market opportunities that the Gadea business offers. The
goodwill has been allocated between business segments, with API of $30,879 and DP of $20,479, and is not deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired
consisted of customer relationships of $24,000 (with an estimated life of 13 years), a tradename of $4,100 (with an indefinite estimated life), intellectual property
of $11,900 (with an estimated life of 15 years), in-process research and development of $18,000 (with an indefinite estimated life), and $200 of order backlog.
SSCI
On February 13, 2015, the company completed the purchase of assets and assumed certain liabilities of Aptuit’s Solid State chemical Information business, now
AMRI SScI, LLc (“SScI”), for total consideration of $35,850. SScI brings extensive material science knowledge and technology and expands the company’s
capabilities in analytical testing to include peptides, proteins and oligonucleotides. SScI has been assigned to the DDS segment. The goodwill of $19,317 is
primarily attributed to the synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and is deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired consisted of patents of
$2,370 (with an estimated life of 10 years).
Glasgow
On January 8, 2015, the company completed the purchase of all of the outstanding equity interests of Aptuit's Glasgow, U.K. business, now Albany Molecular
Research (Glasgow) Limited (“Glasgow”), for total consideration of $23,805 (net of cash acquired of $146). The Glasgow facility extends the company’s
capabilities to sterile injectable drug product pre-formulation, formulation and clinical stage manufacturing. Glasgow has been assigned to the DP segment. The
goodwill of $12,505 is primarily attributed to the synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and is not deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired
consisted of customer relationships of $6,100 (with an estimated life of 8 years).
2014 Acquisitions
OsoBio
On July 1, 2014, the company completed the purchase of all of the outstanding equity interests of Oso Biopharmaceuticals Manufacturing, LLc (OsoBio”), a
contract manufacturer of highly complex injectable drug products located in Albuquerque, NM. The acquisition of OsoBio extends the company’s industry leading
expertise in developing and manufacturing highly complex injectable drug products and provides customers a single source to address all their sterile fill/finish
needs – from discovery to phase 1 development to commercial supply. The aggregate purchase price was $109,194. OsoBio has been assigned to the DP segment.
The goodwill of $44,879 is primarily attributed to the synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and is deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired
consisted of customer relationships of $19,400 (with an estimated life of 20 years) and trademarks of $1,200 (with an estimated life of 5 years).
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Cedarburg
On April 4, 2014, the company completed a purchase of all of the outstanding shares of cedarburg Pharmaceuitcals, Inc. (“cedarburg), a contract developer and
manufacturer of technically complex active pharmaceutical ingredients for both generic and branded customers, located in Grafton, WI. The transaction is
consistent with the company’s strategy to be the preeminent supplier of custom and complex drug development services and product to both the branded and
generic pharmaceutical industry. The aggregate purchase price was $39,028. cedarburg has been assigned to the API segment. The goodwill of $16,899 is
primarily attributed to the synergies expected to arise after the acquisition and is not deductible for tax purposes. Intangible assets acquired consisted of customer
relationships of $12,100 (with an estimated life of 20 years) and trademarks of $400 (with an estimated life of 5 years).
Proforma Information (Unaudited)
Revenue and operating loss for the euticals Acquisition included in these consolidated financial statements were $131,298 and $(23,367), respectively.
The following table shows revenue and operating income for the 2015 business combinations included in these consolidated financial statements:
Whitehouse
Gadea
SSCI
Glasgow
December 15July 16 –
February 13January 9December 31,
December
December
December 31,
2015
31, 2015
31, 2015
2015
$
505 $
44,821 $
14,862 $
15,810
$
204 $
2,802 $
2,925 $
3,673

Period
Revenue
Operating income

The following table shows revenue and operating income for the 2014 business combinations included in these consolidated financial statements:
OsoBio
July 1December 31,
2014
$
16,721
$
(7,345)

Period
Revenue
Operating loss

Cedarburg
April 4 –
December
31, 2014
$
9,945
$
(849)

The following table shows the unaudited pro forma statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively, as if the euticals
Acquisition had occurred on January 1, 2015, the Whitehouse, Gadea, Glasgow and SScI acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2014, and the OsoBio and
cedarburg acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2013. This pro forma information does not purport to represent what the company’s actual results would have
been if the acquisitions had occurred as of the date indicated or what such results would be for any future periods.

Total revenue
Net loss
Pro forma shares – basic and diluted
Loss per share:
Basic and diluted

$
$

$
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Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
686,272 $
707,333 $
429,966
(19,689) $
(48,112) $
(18,022)
42,013
41,544
33,863
(0.47) $

(1.16) $

(0.53)

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
The following table shows the pro forma adjustments made to the weighted average shares outstanding for the periods noted:
Year ended December 31,
2016
2015
2014
38,304
33,169
31,526
3,709
8,375
2,337
42,013
41,544
33,863

Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted
Pro forma impact of acquisition consideration
Pro forma weighted average shares – basic and diluted

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, pre-tax net income was adjusted for acquisition related costs by reducing expenses by $21,227, $2,072
and by increasing expenses by $8,425, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, pre-tax net income was adjusted for purchase accounting related depreciation and amortization by
reducing expenses by $393, and increasing expenses by $21,840 and $8,848, respectively.
For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 pre-tax net income was adjusted for purchase accounting related inventory costs by reducing expenses by
$33,347, and increasing expense by $16,950, $16,991, respectively.
The company partially funded the euticals Acquisition utilizing the proceeds from a $230,000 term loan that was provided for in conjunction with the Third
Restated credit Agreement, entered into with Barclays Bank PLc, as administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders party thereto (the “Third Restated
credit Agreement”), which was completed on July 7, 2016, along with the issuance of the euticals Seller Notes on July 11, 2016 (see Note 7). The company did
not have sufficient cash on hand to complete the acquisition as of January 1, 2015. For the purposes of presenting the pro forma statements of operations for the
years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the company has assumed that it entered into the Third Restated credit Agreement and issued the euticals Seller Notes
on January 1, 2015 for an amount sufficient to fund the preliminary cash consideration to acquire euticals as of that date. The pro forma statements of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 reflect the recognition of interest expense that would have been incurred had the Third Restated credit
Agreement and the euticals Seller Notes been entered into on January 1, 2015. The company has recorded $7,682 and $15,364 of pro forma interest expense on
the Third Restated credit Agreement and the euticals Seller Notes for the purposes of presenting the pro forma statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.
A portion of euticals’ debt was paid by the company at the closing of the euticals Acquisition. For the purposes of presenting the pro forma statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the company has reduced expenses by $3,245 and $6,491, respectively, assuming the debt and
accrued interest were paid on January 1, 2015.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the company recognized foreign currency losses of $7,180 associated with the euticals Acquisition. For the purposes
of presenting the pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the company has assumed that it
would have recognized these losses during the year ended December 31, 2015, assuming a January 1, 2015 acquisition date.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the company initiated a plan of restructuring with respect to certain operations in the United States and europe, in
connection with its euticals Acquisition. For the purposes of presenting the pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the years ended December
31, 2016 and 2015, pre-tax net income was increased by $6,187, and reduced by $7,300, respectively, assuming that the company would have initiated and
completed the plan of restructuring during the year ended December 31, 2015 based upon a January 1, 2015 acquisition date.
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The company partially funded the acquisition of Whitehouse utilizing the proceeds from a $30,000 revolving line of credit. For purposes of presenting the pro
forma statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the company has assumed that it borrowed on the revolving line of credit on
January 1, 2014 for an amount sufficient to fund the cash consideration to acquire Whitehouse as of that date. The pro forma statements of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 reflect the recognition of interest expense that would have been incurred on the revolving line of credit had it been entered into
on January 1, 2014. The company has recorded $1,458 and $1,521 of pro forma interest expense on the revolving line of credit for the purposes of presenting the
pro forma statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
The company partially funded the acquisition of Gadea utilizing the proceeds from a $200,000 term loan that was provided for in conjunction with a $230,000
senior secured credit agreement (the “credit Agreement”) with Barclays Bank PLc that was completed in July 2015 (see note 7). The company did not have
sufficient cash on hand to complete the acquisition as of January 1, 2014. For the purposes of presenting the pro forma statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, the company has assumed that it entered into the credit Agreement on January 1, 2014 for an amount sufficient to fund the
preliminary cash consideration to acquire Gadea as of that date. The pro forma statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 reflect
the recognition of interest expense that would have been incurred on the credit Agreement had it been entered into on January 1, 2014. The company has recorded
$3,839 and $7,678 of pro forma interest expense on the credit Agreement for the purposes of presenting the pro forma statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively.
The company funded the acquisitions of SScI and Glasgow utilizing the proceeds from a $75,000 senior secured credit agreement that was in place at the dates of
acquisition for SScI and Glasgow. The company did not have sufficient cash on hand to complete these acquisitions as of January 1, 2014. For the purposes of
presenting the pro forma statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014, the company has included the assumption of bridge financing as of
January 1, 2014 to fund the acquisition of SScI and Glasgow as of that date. The pro forma statements of operations for the year reflects the recognition of interest
expense on the assumed bridge financing for the period January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014, using the rate of interest that the company paid on its senior
secured credit facility during the period. For the year ended December 31, 2015, pre-tax net income was adjusted by $98 of pro forma interest expense on the
senior secured facility to assume that the amount had been outstanding for the entire year. For the year ended December 31, 2014, pre-tax net income was adjusted
by $1,584 of pro forma interest expense on the senior secured facility.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the company recognized income tax expense of $4,715 to establish a deferred tax liability associated with the original
issue discount recorded in conjunction with the issuance of the euticals Seller Notes. For the purposes of presenting the pro forma condensed combined statements
of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, the company has assumed that it would have been required to recognize this deferred tax liability
on January 1, 2015, assuming a January 1, 2015 acquisition date. During the year ended December 31, 2016, the company established a valuation allowance
against its U.S. deferred tax assets. For the purposes of presenting the pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the years ended December 31,
2016 and 2015, the company has assumed that it would have been required to establish a valuation allowance against the combined U.S. deferred tax assets of the
company and euticals on January 1, 2015, assuming a January 1, 2015 acquisition date. In addition, the pro forma adjustments to net income incorporate, at the
applicable effective rates (including the effect of establishing a valuation allowance against the combined U.S. deferred tax assets of the company and euticals),
the tax effects of the pro forma pre-tax adjustments noted above .
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3.

Restructuring

2016 Activities
In December 2016, management committed to a plan to close the Singapore site, transfer customer activities, and some employees, to other sites within the
company. As part of the transition, Singapore operations will cease by the end of June 2017. This decision will impact approximately 53 employees in Singapore.
The company recorded $469 in charges primarily associated with reduction in force and termination benefits during the year ended December 31, 2016 in
connection with this action. In conjunction with the company’s actions to cease operations at its Singapore facility, the company also recorded property and
equipment impairment charges of $899. These charges are included in the caption “Impairment charges” on the consolidated statement of operations.
In August 2016, the company announced a restructuring plan in connection with the euticals Acquisition. Under the restructuring plan, the company reviewed its
operations and initiated a reduction in workforce in the US and europe and ceased operations in one location in Italy. The company recorded a total of $7,069 in
charges for reduction in force and termination benefits during the year ended December 31, 2016.
During 2016, the company recognized a change in estimate of $634, which reduced the restructuring liabilities related to the operations of cedarburg. Other
restructuring and other charges for various sites for the year ended December 31, 2016 was a total of $3,222.
2015 Activities
In April 2015, the company announced a restructuring plan with respect to certain operations in the UK, within its API business segment. In connection with the
restructuring plan, the company ceased all operations at its holywell, UK facility effective in the fourth quarter of 2015. The company recorded $3,375 in charges
for reduction in force and termination benefits related to the UK facility during the year ended December 31, 2015. In conjunction with the company’s actions to
cease operations at its holywell, UK facility, the company also recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $3,090 in the API segment during the year
ended December 31, 2015. These charges are included under the caption “impairment charges” on the consolidated statement of operations. Also in 2015, the
company made resource changes at its Singapore site (within the DDS segment) to optimize the cost profile of the facility, which resulted in a restructuring charge
of $1,323.
Restructuring and other charges for the year ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were $10,252 and $5,988, respectively, consisting primarily of employee
termination charges and costs associated with the euticals Acquisition restructuring plan, costs associated with the closure and related transfer of continuing
products from the holywell, U.K. facility to the company’s other manufacturing locations, and resource optimization and lease termination charges at the
company’s Singapore facility.
2014 Activities
In the third quarter of 2014, the company recorded restructuring charges related to optimizing both the Singapore and hyderabad, India facilities. In the second
quarter of 2014, the company announced a restructuring plan transitioning activities at its Syracuse, NY site to the company’s other sites and ceased operations in
Syracuse at the end of June 2014. The actions taken are consistent with the company’s ongoing efforts to consolidate its facility resources to more effectively
utilize its discovery and development resource pool and to further reduce its facility cost structure.
In connection with these activities, the company recorded restructuring charges in its DDS operating segment of $3,357 during 2014. These amounts primarily
consisted of termination benefits, lease termination settlements, and charges related to additional operating costs of the Syracuse site.
In conjunction with the cedarburg acquisition in April 2014, the company assumed a restructuring liability of $1,134 related to cedarburg’s Denver, colorado
facility consisting of lease termination and related costs. cedarburg commenced this restructuring activity during the fourth quarter of 2013.
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The following tables display the restructuring activity and liability balances for the years ended and as of December 31, 2016 and 2015:

Balance at
January 1,
2016
Termination benefits and personnel realignment
Lease termination and relocation charges
Other
Total

$

$

539
2,153
2,692

Charges/
(reversals)
$
7,069 $
(39)
3,222
$
10,252 $

Amounts
Paid
(3,003)
(2,028)
(1,691)
(6,722)

Foreign
Currency
Translation &
Other
Balance at
Adjustments
December 31,
(1)
2016
$
(134) $
4,471
57
143
(1,531)
$
(1,608) $
4,614

(1) Included in restructuring charges are a non-cash inventory charge of $420 related to the company’s Varese facility and non-cash accelerated depreciation
charges of $1,145 related to the company’s Singapore facility. These charges are not liabilities at December 31 st and as such, are reported as adjustments
in the “Other” line above.

Balance at
January 1,
2015
Termination benefits and personnel realignment
Lease termination and relocation charges
Other
Total

$

$

226
3,280
3,506

Charges/
(reversals)
$
3,350
1,275
1,363
5,988

$

$

Amounts
Paid
(3,004)
(1,721)
(1,228)
(5,953)

Foreign
Currency
Translation &
Other
Balance at
Adjustments
December 31,
(1)
2015
$
(33) $
539
(681)
2,153
(135)
$
(849) $
2,692

(1) Included in restructuring charges are non-cash accelerated depreciation charges of $577 related to the company’s Singapore facility and $201 related to
the company’s holywell, UK facility. These charges are not liabilities at December 31 st and as such, are reported as adjustments in the “Other” line
above.
Termination benefits and personnel realignment costs relate to severance packages, outplacement services, and career counseling for employees affected by the
restructuring. Lease termination charges relate to estimated costs associated with exiting a facility, net of estimated sublease income.
Restructuring charges are included under the caption “Restructuring and other charges” in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December
31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 and the restructuring liabilities are included in “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” and “other long-term liabilities” on the
consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2016 and 2015.
The company is currently marketing its holywell, U.K. facility for sale. The facility is an asset of the API operating segment and is classified as held for sale with
the long-lived assets segregated to a separate line on the consolidated balance sheets until they are sold. Depreciation expense on the facility has ceased. The
carrying value of the facility is $1,148 at December 31, 2016.

F- 25

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
In conjunction with the company’s actions to optimize its location footprint, the company also recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $2,925,
$3,705 and $5,392 during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively. The 2016 charges were in the API, DP and DDS segments, the 2015
charges were in the API and DDS segments and the 2014 charges were in the DDS segment. Included in the 2016 charges were the $1,669 impairment of fixed
assets at the Rensselaer, NY location and the $899 impairment of fixed assets at our Singapore location. Included in the 2015 charges were the impairment of fixed
assets at the UK facility and the write-down of the Syracuse, NY building. Included in the 2014 charges were $1,666 related to the Singapore facility, and $3,718
related to the impairment of the Syracuse facility as well as certain equipment located at that facility. These charges are included under the caption “Impairment
charges” on the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
4.

Inventory
Inventory consisted of the following at December 31, 2016 and 2015:

December 31,
2016
2015 (a)
Raw materials
$
59,987 $
36,628
Work-in-process
74,599
37,574
Finished goods
32,525
15,029
Total inventory
$
167,111 $
89,231
(a) certain adjustments have been made to December 31, 2015 inventory classifications to conform to current year presentation.
5.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the following:

Machinery, laboratory equipment and fixtures
Office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Buildings
Land

$

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
construction-in-progress
$

December 31,
2016
2015
338,443 $
228,737
55,477
39,864
38,522
38,528
113,998
75,092
17,136
10,975
563,576
393,196
(237,903)
(209,942)
325,673
183,254
39,133
26,254
364,806 $
209,508

Depreciation and amortization expense of property and equipment was approximately $41,127, $22,655 and $16,804 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014, respectively.
As discussed in Note 3, the company recorded property and equipment impairment charges of $2,925, $3,705 and $5,392 for the years ended December 31, 2016,
2015 and 2014, respectively. For 2016, impairment charges represent the impairment of fixed assets at Rensselaer and Singapore. For 2015, impairment charges
represent the impairment of fixed assets at holywell and the write-down of the Syracuse, NY building.
6.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:
DDS
Balance as of December 31, 2014
Goodwill acquired
Foreign currency translation
Balance as of December 31, 2015
Goodwill acquired
Measurement period adjustment
Foreign currency translation
Balance as of December 31, 2016

$

$

- $
45,987
45,987
6,251
107
(300)
52,045 $

API
16,899 $
29,668
(385)
46,182
61,113
1,211
(3,950)
104,556 $

DP
44,879 $
32,984
(561)
77,302
(2,647)
74,655 $

Total
61,778
108,639
(946)
169,471
67,364
1,318
(6,897)
231,256
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The components of intangible assets are as follows:

December 31, 2016
Intellectual Property and Know-how
customer Relationships
Product Portfolio
In-Process Research and Development
Tradename
Trademarks
Order Backlog
Total

December 31, 2015
Intellectual Property and Know-how
customer Relationships
Tradename
In-Process Research and Development
Trademarks
Order Backlog
Total

$

$

$

$

Cost

Impairment

28,457
93,847
44,649
18,000
4,100
2,272
200
191,525

$

$

(2,709) $
(2,709) $

Cost

Impairment

20,352
86,774
4,100
18,000
2,200
200
131,626

$

$

Foreign
exchange
translation

Accumulated
Amortization

(4,639) $
(10,522)
(1,253)
(893)
(204)
(17,511) $

Accumulated
Amortization

(2,508) $
(2,508) $

(1,295) $
(1,748)
(2,105)
(804)
(183)
4
(6,131) $

Foreign
exchange
translation

(3,004) $
(4,303)
(727)
(8,034) $

(165) $
(408)
(57)
(250)
(880) $

Net
19,814
81,577
41,291
17,196
3,917
1,379
165,174

Net
14,675
82,063
4,043
17,750
1,473
200
120,204

Amortization
Period
2-18 years
5-20 years
16 years
indefinite
indefinite
5 years
n/a

Amortization
Period
2-16 years
5-20 years
indefinite
indefinite
5 years
n/a

Amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $9,477, $4,394 and $1,549, respectively. The
weighted average amortization period is 12.41 years.
As a result of a semi-annual review of the company’s proprietary drug development programs in 2014, it was concluded that the company would no longer
actively pursue partnering opportunities for all programs that we were not already partnered and would not continue to fund additional patent filing or required
maintenance costs for these programs. Based on the aforementioned conclusions, the company recorded intangible asset impairment charges in the DDS segment
of $2,443 for the year ended December 31, 2014, which is included under the caption “Impairment charges” in the consolidated statements of operations.
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The following chart represents estimated future annual amortization expense related to intangible assets:
Year ending December 31,
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter
Total
7.

$

$

8,681
11,935
11,934
11,934
11,934
87,643
144,061

Debt

Short-Term Borrowings
In connection with the euticals Acquisition, the company assumed the short-term borrowing obligations of euticals, consisting of multiple bank revolving lines of
credit with a maximum borrowing capacity of €40,750 or $42,871 at December 31, 2016 (the “euticals Revolving credit Facilities”). The euticals Revolving
credit Facilities support euticals’ short-term working capital needs and are collateralized, in part, by certain euticals’ trade receivables balances. The euticals
Revolving credit Facilities are subject to variable interest rates and the average effective interest rate was 3.68% during the period July 12, 2016 to December 31,
2016.
As of December 31, 2016, the aggregate outstanding balance under the euticals Revolving credit Facilities was $22,515 and the related trade receivables collateral
was $14,744.
Long-Term Debt
The following table summarizes long-term debt:
December 31,
December 31,
2016
2015
$
135,652 $
128,917
423,698
198,343
43,947
–
25,784
39,655
1,263
111
–
30,000
–
2,080
630,344
399,106
(11,951)
(9,823)
(13,917)
(15,591)
$
604,476 $
373,692

convertible senior notes, net of unamortized discount
Term loan, net of unamortized discount
euticals Seller Notes, net of unamortized discount
Various borrowings with institutions, Gadea loans
capital leases – equipment & other
Revolving credit facility
Industrial development authority bonds
Less deferred financing fees
Less current portion
Total long-term debt
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The aggregate maturities of long-term debt, exclusive of unamortized debt discount of $30,907 at December 31, 2016, are as follows:
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter
Total

$

$

13,917
580,321
25,083
21,376
19,890
663
661,250

Term Loans
In connection with the euticals Acquisition, on July 7, 2016, the company entered into the Third Amended and Restated Agreement (the “Third Restated credit
Agreement”), which (i) provided incremental senior secured first lien term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $230,000 (the “Incremental Term Loans”)
which increased the aggregate principal amount of senior secured first lien term loans under the prior credit agreement to $428,500 and (ii) increased the first lien
revolving credit facility commitments by $5,000 to $35,000. The company used the proceeds of the Incremental Term Loans primarily to: (i) pay a portion of the
cash consideration for the euticals Acquisition; (ii) pay various fees and expenses incurred in connection with the euticals Acquisition and related financing
activities; and (iii) repay the $30,000 outstanding under the first lien revolving credit facility.
The Third Restated credit Agreement requires that we make quarterly repayments of $600 toward the Incremental Term Loans principal beginning on September
30, 2016, with all remaining unpaid principal amounts of the Incremental Term Loans maturing and payable on July 16, 2021. The revolving credit facility
commitments under the Third Restated credit Agreement terminate and all amounts then outstanding thereunder are payable on July 16, 2020, subject, in each
case, to earlier acceleration (i) to six months prior to the scheduled maturity date of our 2.25% cash convertible Senior Notes issued on December 4, 2013 (the
“Notes”) if on such date, both (x) more than $25,000 of the Notes shall remain outstanding and (y) the ratio of the secured debt of the company and its subsidiaries
to the eBITDA of the company and its subsidiaries exceeds 1.50:1.00 and (ii) to April 7, 2019, April 7, 2020 or April 7, 2021, respectively, in each case to the
extent that at any such date we have not (x) prepaid or otherwise satisfied the amortization or final maturity payment amounts to next come due under each euticals
Seller Note (as defined below) then outstanding or (y) refinanced such amortization or final maturity payment amount to next come due under each euticals Seller
Note then outstanding in a manner permitted by the Third Restated credit Agreement.
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At the company’s election, loans made under the Third Restated credit Agreement bear interest at (a) the one-month, three-month or six-month LIBOR rate
subject to a floor of 1.0% (the “LIBOR Rate”) or (b) a base rate determined by reference to the highest of (i) the United States federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (ii)
the rate of interest quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate,” and (iii) a daily rate equal to the one-month LIBOR Rate plus 1.0%, subject to a floor of
2.0% (the “Base Rate”), plus an applicable margin of 4.75% per annum for LIBOR Rate loans and 3.75% per annum for Base Rate loans.
The obligations under the Third Restated credit Agreement are guaranteed by each material domestic subsidiary of the company (each a “Guarantor”) and are
secured by first priority liens on, and security interests in, substantially all of the present and after-acquired assets of the company and each Guarantor subject to
certain customary exceptions.
The face value of the term loans reconcile to the net carrying amount as follows:
December 31,
2016
$
426,341

Principal amount – term loan
Unamortized debt discount

December 31,
2015
$
200,000

(2,643)

Net carrying amount of term loan

$

423,698

(1,657)
$

198,343

For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the company recognized $1,222, $343 and $0, respectively, of amortization of the debt discount as
interest expense based upon the effective rate of approximately 6.2%.
Euticals Seller Notes
As indicated in Note 2, in connection with the euticals Acquisition, on July 11, 2016, the company issued two notes to Lauro cinquantasette S.p.A. with a
combined face value of €55,000, that were valued at $44,342 (net of original issue discount of $16,441). The euticals Seller Notes are unsecured promissory notes,
guaranteed by the company, and are subject to customary representations and warranties and events of default with repayment to be made in three equal annual
installments made on the third, fourth and fifth anniversaries of the euticals Acquisition closing date. The repayment is subject to certain set off rights of the
company relating to the seller’s indemnification obligations. The euticals Seller Notes are subject to an interest rate equal to 0.25% per annum, which is due and
payable in cash on the first day of January, April, July and October during each calendar year. The euticals Seller Notes were recognized net of an original issue
discount of $16,441. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the company recorded $1,755 of amortization of the debt discount as interest expense based upon an
effective rate of 8.32%.
As of December 31, 2016, the face value of the euticals Seller Notes reconcile to the net carrying amount as follows:
Principal amount

$

Unamortized debt discount
Net carrying amount of notes

57,862
(13,915)

$

43,947
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Convertible Senior Notes
On December 4, 2013, the company completed the private offering of $150,000 aggregate principal amount of the Notes. The Notes mature on November 15,
2018, unless earlier repurchased or converted into cash in accordance with their terms prior to such date, and interest is paid in arrears semiannually on each of
May 15 and November 15 at an annual rate of 2.25% beginning on May 15, 2014. The Notes were offered and sold only to qualified institutional buyers pursuant
to Rule 144A under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
The Notes are not convertible into the company's common stock or any other securities under any circumstances. holders may convert their Notes solely into cash
at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding May 15, 2018 only under the following circumstances: (1)
during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2013 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale
price of the company’s common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last
trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the
five business day period after any five consecutive trading day period in which the trading price per thousand dollars principal amount of Notes for each trading
day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the company's common stock and the conversion rate on each
such trading day; or (3) upon the occurrence of specified corporate events. On or after May 15, 2018 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading
day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert their Notes solely into cash at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances. Upon
conversion, in lieu of receiving shares of the company's common stock, a holder will receive, per thousand dollars principal amount of Notes, an amount in cash
equal to the settlement amount, determined in the manner set forth in the indenture. The initial conversion rate is 63.9844 shares of the company's common stock
per thousand dollars principal amount of Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $15.63 per share of common stock). The conversion rate
is subject to adjustment upon certain events as described in the indenture but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest. In addition, following certain
corporate events that occur prior to the maturity date, the company has agreed to pay a cash make-whole premium by increasing the conversion rate for a holder
who elects to convert its Notes in connection with such a corporate event in certain circumstances as described in the indenture.
The company may not redeem the Notes prior to the maturity date, and no sinking fund is provided for the Notes.
The cash conversion feature of the Notes (“Notes conversion Derivative”) requires bifurcation from the Notes in accordance with ASc 815, “Derivatives and
hedging,” and is accounted for as a derivative liability. The fair value of the Notes conversion Derivative at the time of issuance of the Notes was $33,600 and
was recorded as original debt discount for purposes of accounting for the debt component of the Notes. This discount is amortized as interest expense using the
effective interest method over the term of the Notes. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the company recorded $6,735, $6,221 and $5,765,
respectively, of amortization of the debt discount as interest expense based upon an effective rate of 7.69%.
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The fair value of the Notes reconcile to the net carrying amount as follows:
December 31,
2016
$
150,000

Principal amount
Unamortized debt discount

December 31,
2015
$
150,000

(14,348)

Net carrying amount of Notes

$

135,652

(21,083)
$

128,917

In connection with the pricing of the Notes, on November 19, 2013, the company entered into cash convertible note hedge transactions (“Notes hedges”) relating
to a notional number of shares of the company's common stock underlying the Notes with two counterparties (the “Option counterparties”). The Notes hedges,
which are cash-settled, are intended to reduce the company’s exposure to potential cash payments that it is required to make upon conversion of the Notes in
excess of the principal amount of converted Notes if the company’s common stock price exceeds the conversion price. The Notes hedges are accounted for as a
derivative instrument in accordance with ASc 815, “Derivatives and hedging.” The aggregate cost of the note hedge transaction was $33,600.
At the same time, the company also entered into separate warrant transactions with each of the Option counterparties initially relating, in the aggregate, to 9,598
shares of the company's common stock underlying the Note hedges. The Note hedges are intended to offset cash payments due upon any conversion of the Notes.
however, the warrant transactions could separately have a dilutive effect to the extent that the market price per share of the company's common stock (as
measured under the terms of the warrant transactions) exceeds the applicable strike price of the warrants. The initial strike price of the warrants is $18.9440 per
share, which was 60% above the last reported sale price of the company's common stock of $11.84 on November 19, 2013 and proceeds of $23,100 were received
from the Option counterparties from the sale of the warrants.
Aside from the initial payment of a $33,600 premium to the Option counterparties, the company is not required to make any cash payments to the Option
counterparties under the Note hedges and will be entitled to receive from the Option counterparties an amount of cash, generally equal to the amount by which
the market price per share of common stock exceeds the strike price of the Note hedges during the relevant valuation period. The strike price under the Note
hedges is initially equal to the conversion price of the Notes. Additionally, if the market price per share of the company's common stock, as measured under the
warrant transactions, exceeds the strike price of the warrants during the measurement period at the maturity of the warrants, the company will be obligated to issue
to the Option counterparties a number of shares of the company's common stock in an amount based on the excess of such market price per share of the
company's common stock over the strike price of the warrants. The company will not receive any proceeds if the warrants are exercised.
Neither the Notes conversion Derivative nor the Notes hedges qualify for hedge accounting, thus any changes in the fair market value of the derivatives is
recognized immediately in the statement of operations. As of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, the changes in fair market value of the Notes
conversion Derivative and the Notes hedges were equal; therefore there was no change in fair market value that was recognized in the statement of operations.
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The following table summarizes the fair value and the presentation in the consolidated balance sheet:

Notes hedges asset

December 31, December 31,
2016
2015
$
51,003 $
76,393

Notes conversion derivative liability

$

(51,003) $

(76,393)

IDA Bonds
In May 2016, the sale of the company’s Syracuse, N.Y. facility, within the DDS operating segment, was completed for $675. commensurate with the sale of the
facility, the industrial development authority (“IDA”) bonds associated with the facility were repaid in full, with a final payment of $1,760.
8.

Income Taxes

The components of (loss) income before taxes and income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:

2016
(Loss) income before taxes:
U.S.
Non-U.S

$
$

Income tax expense (benefit):
current:
Federal
State
Non-U.S

$

Deferred:
Federal
State
Non-U.S
$
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Year Ended
December 31,
2015

(63,452) $
3,493
(59,959) $

2014

(9,589) $
6,120
(3,469) $

(5,598)
130
(5,468)

$

(2,213) $
159
3,799
1,745

(280)
─
191
(89)

10,515
61
(9,633)
943
10,212 $

(1,112)
(3)
(1,798)
(2,913)
(1,168) $

(1,552)
(13)
(536)
(2,101)
(2,190)

1,273
34
7,962
9,269
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The differences between income tax expense (benefit) and income taxes computed using a federal statutory rate of 35% for the years ended December 31, 2016,
2015 and 2014, were as follows:

U.S. Federal income tax benefit at statutory rate
Increase (reduction) in taxes resulting from:
State taxes, net of federal benefit and valued credits
Rate differential on non-U.S. operations
change in valuation allowance
Research and development credits
employee Stock Purchase Plan
Original issue discount deferred tax impact – Italy
Non-deductible business acquisition costs
(Reduction) increase in uncertain tax position reserves
enhanced capital allowance - Singapore
Write-off of deferred tax asset - hungary
Other, net

Year Ended
December 31
2016
2015
(20,986) $
(1,214)) $

$

22
101
24,486
(1,157)
199
4,008
2,192
(600)
—
—
1,947
10,212 $

$

11,207
(930)
(9,948)
(500)
152
—
471
293
(330)
—
(369)
(1,168) $

The tax effects of temporary differences giving rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2016
Deferred tax assets:
Non-deductible accrued expenses
Library amortization and impairment charges
Inventories
Investment write-downs and losses
Share-based compensation
Goodwill and intangibles
Arbitration reserve
Restructuring
Pension
Net operating loss carry-forwards
Federal tax credit carry-forward

$

Less: valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets, net

2015

4,213 $
1,469
6,358
3,684
1,978
158
9
3,487
33,480
608
55,444
(33,249)
22,195

Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment depreciation differences
Prepaid real estate taxes
Goodwill and intangibles
Other, net
Net deferred tax liability

$

F- 34

(24,601)
(225)
(35,698)
(1,225)
(39,554) $

548
1,582
1,867
867
2,483
3,445
3,778
3,191
15,594
114
33,469
(10,947)
22,522

(11,148)
(267)
(20,186))
(984))
(10,063)

2014
(1,914)
(220)
(1,108)
(508)
—
105
—
195
(180)
—
3,206
(1,766)
(2,190
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The company has tax-effected foreign net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOLs”) of $4,610, which begin to expire beginning in 2017, and tax-effected foreign
NOLs of $6,784, which do not expire. The company has tax-effected U.S. Federal NOL’s carryforwards of $21,591 that begin to expire in 2025. The company
has U.S. Federal research tax credit carryforwards of $114 which will begin to expire in 2035.
Based on the weighting of available evidence, including a recent history of cumulative losses, the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future
taxable income and carry back opportunities, the company determined during 2016 that a full valuation allowance against its U.S. deferred tax assets is required,
as it does not expect these assets to be realized. The acquired U.S. subsidiary of euticals, euticals Inc., also has a history of losses. Therefore, the acquisition of
euticals did not affect the company’s overall conclusion that a full valuation allowance is required in the U.S. jurisdiction.
As of December 31, 2016, a valuation allowance is included in deferred tax assets above as follows:

U.S.
Non-U.S.
Total valuation allowance

$
$

December 31,
2016
2015
23,374 $
945
9,875
10,002
33,249 $
10,947

All remaining net deferred tax assets are more likely than not to be realized, and therefore no valuation allowance is required in any other jurisdictions.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
December 31,
2016
Balance at January 1
Increases related to tax positions
Decreases related to tax positions
Increases for acquired uncertain tax positions
Balance at December 31

$

$

2015
2,605 $
205
(1,755)
2,574
3,629 $

495
256
(65)
1,919
2,605

As of December 31, 2016, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits, which excludes interest and penalties, was $3,629. The 2016 balance is primarily
related to uncertain tax positions at the company’s acquired entities. The statute of limitation on positions related to the non-U.S. acquired entities will begin to
expire in 2017 through 2027. As of December 31, 2015, the total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits, which excludes interest and penalties, was $2,605.
The company classifies interest and, if applicable, penalties for any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. As of December 31, 2016
and December 31, 2015, the company had accumulated interest and penalties of $366 and $351, respectively.
The company files U.S. income tax returns, as well as multiple state and non-U.S. jurisdiction tax returns. As of December 31, 2016, tax years 2013 to 2016 are
subject to examination by US Federal tax authorities and the years 2010 to 2016 are open for examination by certain state tax authorities. The company is open to
examination by certain non–U.S. tax authorities for years 2006 to 2016.
The company has not provided for U.S. income taxes on undistributed earnings of its non-U.S. subsidiaries totaling approximately $54,878 because management
considers such earnings to be reinvested indefinitely outside of the U.S. If the earnings are distributed in the future, the company may be subject to both foreign
withholding taxes and U.S. income taxes that may not be fully offset by foreign tax credits, however calculations of the potential tax liability are not practicable as
of December 31, 2016.
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9.

Share-based Compensation

During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the company recognized total share-based compensation cost of $8,425, $6,291, and $4,122,
respectively, and received cash from stock option exercises and employee stock purchase plan purchases in the amount of $2,026, $3,458, and $2,313, respectively.
The following are the shares of common stock reserved for issuance at December 31, 2016:
Number of
Shares
2,692
464
3,156

Stock Option Plans
employee Stock Purchase Plan
Shares reserved for issuance
Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The company’s 1998 employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”) was adopted during August 1998 and amended, most recently in June 2015. Up to
1,600 shares of common stock may be issued under the Purchase Plan, which is administered by the compensation committee of the Board of Directors. The
Purchase Plan establishes two stock offering periods per calendar year, the first beginning on January 1 and ending on June 30, and the second beginning on July 1
and ending December 31. All U.S. employees, and certain non-US employees who work more than twenty hours per week are eligible for participation in the
Purchase Plan. employees who are deemed to own greater than 5% of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the company are not eligible for
participation in the Purchase Plan.
During each offering, an employee may purchase shares under the Purchase Plan by authorizing payroll deductions up to 10% of their cash compensation during
the offering period. The maximum number of shares to be issued to any single employee during an offering period is limited to 2 shares. At the end of the offering
period, the accumulated payroll deductions will be used to purchase common stock on the last business day of the offering period at a price equal to 85% of the
closing price of the common stock on the first or last day of the offering period, whichever is lower.
The 15% discount and the look-back feature are considered compensatory items for which expense must be recognized. The company values Purchase Plan shares
as a combination position consisting of consisting of the purchase discount (15% of a share of non-vested stock) and the fair value of the look-back feature, which
consists of a six-month call option on .85 of a share of stock and a six-month put option on .15 of a share of stock. The value of the non-vested stock is estimated
based on the fair market value of the company’s common stock at the beginning of the offering period. The value of the stock options are calculated using the
Black-Scholes valuation model using historical expected volatility percentages, a risk free interest rate equal to the six-month U.S. Treasury rate at the beginning of
the offering period, and an expected life of six months. The resulting per-share value is multiplied by the shares estimated to be purchased during the offering
period based on historical experience to arrive at a total estimated compensation cost for the offering period. The estimated compensation cost is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the offering period.
During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 100, 73 and 75 shares, respectively, were issued under the Purchase Plan.
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Stock Option Plan
The company has adopted the 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2008 Option Plan”), through which incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options, as well as other equity instruments such as restricted shares and restricted stock units, may be issued. In addition, certain stock options are
outstanding which were issued under stock option plans that have subsequently expired. Incentive stock options granted to employees may not be granted at prices
less than 100% of the fair market value of the company’s common stock at the date of option grant. Non-qualified stock options may be granted to employees,
directors, advisors, consultants and other key persons of the company at prices established at the date of grant, and may be less than the fair market value at the
date of grant. All stock options may be exercised at any time, after vesting, over a ten-year period subsequent to the date of grant. The company has a variety of
vesting schedules for the stock options that have been granted to employees and non-employee directors. The company has elected to record the compensation
expense associated with these options on a straight-line basis over the vesting term. Non-qualified stock option vesting terms are established at the date of grant,
but have a duration of not more than ten years.
The per share weighted-average fair value of stock options granted is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weightedaverage assumptions:
2016
expected life in years
Interest rate
Volatility
Dividend yield

2015
5
1.27%
42%
—

2014
5
1.59%
42%
—

5
1.52%
53%
—

Following is a summary of the status of stock option activity during 2016, 2015 and 2014:

Weighted
Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares
Outstanding, January 1, 2014
Granted
exercised
Forfeited
expired
Outstanding, December 31, 2014
Granted
exercised
Forfeited
expired
Outstanding, December 31, 2015
Granted
exercised
Forfeited
expired
Outstanding, December 31, 2016
Options exercisable, December 31, 2016

2,046
327
(380)
(98)
(91)
1,804
266
(428)
(202)
(1)
1,439
295
(125)
(31)
1,578
962
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$

$

$

$
$

5.62
10.37
4.34
6.67
11.73
6.18
16.93
5.74
6.85
10.11
8.20
15.77
5.57
2.93
9.93
7.30

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual Term
(Years)

6.4
5.3

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$
$

13,935
11,431
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The weighted average fair value per share of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $5.98, $6.51 and $4.85,
respectively. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was $1,148, $5,555 and $4,262,
respectively. The excess tax benefit for tax deductions from stock option exercises was $0, $2,108 and $1,642 during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015
and 2014.
As of December 31, 2016, there was $2,086 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options. That cost is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 2.6 years. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was approximately
$1,156, $940 and $783, respectively. Of the 1,578 stock options outstanding, we currently expect all options to vest.
Restricted Stock
The company also issues restricted shares of common stock of the company under the 2008 Option Plan. The shares are issued as restricted stock and are held in
the custody of the company until all vesting restrictions are satisfied. The vesting of restricted stock is either time-based or performance-based. The time-based
restricted stock granted to certain employees generally vests 25% per year over four years. The performance-based restricted stock will vest if the company
achieves certain goals in respect to the company’s share price compared to the Russell 2000 Stock Index over the applicable performance period. If the vesting
terms under which the award was granted are not satisfied, the shares are forfeited. Restricted stock is valued based on the fair value of the shares on the grant date,
and is amortized to expense on a straight-line basis over the applicable vesting period. The company reduces the straight-line compensation expense by using an
actual forfeiture rate to account for the impact of shares of restricted stock that are expected to be forfeited before becoming fully vested.
Following is a summary of the restricted stock activity during 2016, 2015 and 2014:

Number of
Shares
509
691
(205)
(72)
923
470
(229)
(144)
1,020
604
(227)
(143)
1,254

Outstanding, January 1, 2014
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding, December 31, 2014
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding, December 31, 2015
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Outstanding, December 31, 2016

Weighted
Average Grant Date
Fair Value
$
6.28
13.02
5.74
8.63
$
11.26
16.95
10.67
10.65
$
13.71
14.88
14.53
14.72
$
14.01

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, a total of 143 and 144 shares, respectively, with an unrecognized compensation expense of $2,103 and
$1,535, respectively, were forfeited. The amount amortized to expense during years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, net of the impact of forfeitures, was
approximately $5,593, $4,000 and $2,558, respectively. As of December 31, 2016, there was $10,838 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted shares. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years. Of the 1,254 shares outstanding, 312 shares of
restricted stock outstanding have market-based vesting provisions and as such, the grant date fair value assumptions for these shares contain a vesting probability
factor to reflect the company’s expectation that not all shares will vest. Of the remaining 937 outstanding shares, the company currently expects all shares to vest.
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10. Employee Benefit Plans
Defined Contribution Plans
The company maintains a savings and profit sharing plan under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue code covering all eligible U.S. non-union employees.
employees must complete one calendar month of service and be over 20.5 years of age as of the plan’s entry dates. Participants may contribute up to 100% of their
compensation, subject to IRS limitations. The company currently makes matching contributions equal to 100% of the participant’s contributions to the Plan for
each payroll period up to the first 4% of the participant’s eligible compensation as defined by the Plan (“Plan compensation”). The company then matches 50% on
the next 2% of Plan compensation, to a maximum company match of 5%. In addition, the company made no discretionary profit sharing contributions. employer
matching contributions are fully (100%) vested after completion of two years of service. employer matching contributions were approximately $3,778, $3,326 and
$1,821 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
The company also sponsors a savings and profit sharing plan under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue code covering U.S. based union employees. employees
must complete one calendar month of service and there is no age requirement as of the plan’s entry dates. Participants may contribute up to 100% of their regular
wages, subject to IRS limitations, and the company matches 50% of each dollar contributed by the employee up to 10% of their wages. In addition, the company
has reserved the right to make discretionary profit sharing contributions to employee accounts. The company has made no discretionary profit sharing
contributions. employer matching contributions were $145, $145 and $131 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
U.S. Defined Benefit and Postretirement Welfare Plan
AMRI Rensselaer maintains a non-contributory defined benefit plan (salaried and hourly) and a non-contributory, unfunded post-retirement welfare plan, covering
substantially all employees. Benefits for the salaried defined benefit plan are based on salary and years of service. Benefits for the hourly defined benefit plan (for
union employees) are based on negotiated benefits and years of service. The hourly defined benefit plan is covered under a collective bargaining agreement with
the International chemical Workers Union which represents the hourly workforce at AMRI Rensselaer.
effective June 5, 2003, the company eliminated the accumulation of additional future benefits under the non-contributory, unfunded postretirement welfare plan
for salaried employees. effective August 1, 2003, the company curtailed the salaried defined benefit pension plan and effective March 1, 2004, the company
curtailed the hourly defined benefit pension plan.
In the first quarter of 2014, the union ratified an action to settle the medical component of the post-retirement plan, significantly reducing the level of benefits
available to the participants. As a result, the company recorded $1,285 of operating income in the first quarter of 2014 due to the settlement of this obligation.
The company recognizes the overfunded or underfunded status of its postretirement plans in its consolidated balance sheet and recognizes changes in that funded
status in the year in which the changes occur. Additionally, the company is required to measure the funded status of a plan as of the end of its fiscal year.
Non-U.S. Defined Benefit and Post-Employment Plans
The company maintains a non-contributory defined benefit plan for employees in Italy. Pursuant to Article 2120 of the Italian civil code, a defined benefit plan is
maintained by each company operating in Italy (Trattamento di Fine Rapporto – “TFR”), to which all employees are eligible regardless of their status and which
provides for a lump sum to be paid to each employee upon termination of the employment contract. For each year of service, the severance pay liability is based on
total annual compensation divided by 13.5. Although the benefit is paid in full by the employer, part (0.5% of pay) of the annual accrual is paid to Instituto
Nazionale Previdenza Sociale (“INPS”), which is the main Italian public pension system, by the employer, and is subtracted from the severance pay liability for the
contribution reference period. As of December 31 st of every year, the severance pay liability as of December 31 st of the preceding year is revalued by a legally
stipulated index as follows: 1.5% plus 75% of the increase over the last 12 months in the consumer price index for families of blue-collar workers and employees,
as determined by the Italian Statistical Institute (“ISTAT”).
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The company maintains a non-contributory defined benefit plan for employees in France, consisting of both retirement benefits and a long-term service award
benefits. As required by French law, the retirement benefits must be paid by the employer upon the employee retiring. The benefit liability to be paid upon
retirement is defined by the collective bargaining agreement of the chemical Industry, which is calculated utilizing a salary multiple based on the respective
employee’s years of service. The pensionable salary utilized in the calculation of the liability is the average monthly salary of the employee over the last 12 months
prior to the retirement date. The company also provides long service awards to employees in France, which are payable based on every ten years of service to the
company.
The company maintains a non-contributory defined benefit plan for employees in Germany, which is eligible to all employees who have attained the age of 35 and
10 years of service or attained the age of 30 and 5 years of service. Under the provisions of the plan, the company pays a notional monthly contribution based on a
set formula that considers employee pensionable salary and the German Social Security contribution ceiling. The pensionable salary utilized in the calculation of
the liability is the employee’s gross monthly salary (for salaried employees) and the employee’s gross basic wage multiplied by the number of hours worked during
that month (for non-salaried employees).
Benefit Plan Obligations
The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the plans’ benefit obligations and fair value of the plans’ assets during the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and a reconciliation of the funded status to the net amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 (the
plans’ measurement dates) of both years:

US Plan
change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at January 1
Benefit obligations acquired ( a )
Service cost
Interest cost
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits paid
Foreign exchange translation
Benefit obligation at December 31
change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
employer contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at December 31
Funded status

2016
Non-US Plan

25,702

Total

2015
US Plan

972
11
(1,656)
0
25,029

25,702
13,124
190
1,096
(96)
(2,067)
(641)
37,308

28,295

13,124
190
124
(107)
(411)
(641)
12,279

18,265
1,185
412
(1,656)
18,206
(6,823)

(12,279)

18,265
1,185
412
(1,656)
18,206
(19,102)

19,540
(272)
637
(1,640)
18,265
(7,437)

955
(1,908)
(1,640)
0
25,702

(a) The company’s non-U.S. plans were assumed with the euticals Acquisition on July 11, 2016.
The company included $519 and $793 in other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively, which represent the respective
net fluctuations in the unrecognized actuarial gains and losses.
At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the accumulated benefit obligation (the actuarial present value of benefits, vested and non-vested, earned by employees based on
current and past compensation levels) for the company’s benefit plans totaled $37,308 and $25,702, respectively.
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Net Periodic Benefit Cost
The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit cost (income) for the years ended December 31:
2016
Non-US Plans
- $
179
972
124
(1,264)
719
140
427
443

US Plans
Service cost
Interest cost
expected return on plan assets
Amortization of net loss (gain)
Net periodic benefit cost
Recognized in Accumulated Other comprehensive Loss
(AOcL) (pre-tax):
Net actuarial loss
Total recognized in AOcL (pre-tax)
Total recognized in consolidated statements of
operations and AOcL

$

$

8,916

$

(107)
(107)

8,489
8,489
$

336

2015
US Plans

Total
179 $
1,096
(1,264)
859
870

8,382
8,382
$

9,252

2014
US Plans

- $
955
(1,302)
885
538

9,119
9,119
$

9,657

1,018
(1,254)
613
377

10,337
10,337
$

10,714

Assumptions Utilized
The following assumptions were used to determine the periodic pension cost for the defined benefit pension plans for the year ended December 31:

US
Discount rate
expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

3.75%
7.25%
N/A

2016
Germany
1.30%
2.50%

Italy
1.50%
2.63%

France
1.40%
2.50%

2015
US
3.90%
7.50%
N/A

2014
US
3.50%
7.30%
N/A

For the U.S. plan, the discount rates utilized for determining the company’s pension obligation and net periodic benefit cost were selected using high-quality longterm corporate bond indices as of the plan’s measurement date. The rate selected as a result of this process was substantiated by comparing it to the composite
discount rate that produced a liability equal to the plan’s expected benefit payment stream discounted using the citigroup Pension Discount curve (“cPDc”). The
cPDc was designed to provide a means for plan sponsors to value the liabilities of their postretirement benefit plans. The cPDc is a yield curve of hypothetical
double-A zero coupon bonds with maturities up to 30 years. This curve includes adjustments to eliminate the call features of corporate bonds. As a result of this
modeling process, the discount rate was 3.75% at December 31, 2016 and 3.9% at December 31, 2015.
For the Italy plan, the discount rate utilized for determining the company’s pension obligation and net periodic benefit cost was selected using high-quality longterm corporate bond indices as of the plan’s measurement date. The rate utilized reflects an estimate of the timing and amounts of future payments of the benefits
to the employees. The rate selected as a result of this process is the iBoxx corporate eurozone AA 10+ index, which is a composite index calculated every day,
made of a portfolio of corporate bonds issued by companies rated AA with average duration higher than 10 years. As a result of this modeling process, the discount
rate was 1.50% at December 31, 2016.
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For the France plan, the discount rate utilized for determining the company’s pension obligation and net periodic benefit cost was selected using high-quality longterm corporate bond indices as of the plan’s measurement date. The rate utilized was based on the yields of AA euroZone corporate Bonds +10 years. As a result
of this modeling process, the discount rate was 1.40% at December 31, 2016.
For the Germany plan, the discount rate utilized for determining the company’s pension obligation and net periodic benefit cost was based on the zero coupon
yield curve derived from AA (including AA+, AA- or equivalent) euroZone corporate Bonds. As a result of this modeling process, the discount rate was 1.30% at
December 31, 2016.
U.S. Benefit Plan Assets
The company’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations at December 31 by asset category are as follows:
2016
Market Value
Mutual Funds:
equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
commodities
Strategic opportunities
Other
Total

$

$

6,459
7,959
929
729
1,868
262
18,206

2015
%

Market Value
36% $
44
5
4
10
1
100% $

7,921
8,598
1,012
585
149
18,265

%
43%
47
6
3
1
100%

Based on the three-tiered fair value hierarchy, all pension plan assets’ fair values can be determined by their quoted market price and therefore have been
determined to be Level I as of December 31, 2016 and 2015. There is no weighted-average asset allocation for non-US plans, as there are no plan assets.
The overall objective of the company’s defined benefit plans is to provide the means to pay benefits to participants and their beneficiaries in the amounts and at
the times called for by the plan. This is expected to be achieved through the investment of the company’s contributions and other assets and by utilizing
investment policies designed to achieve adequate funding over a reasonable period of time.
Defined benefit plan assets are invested so as to achieve a competitive risk adjusted rate-of-return on portfolio assets, based on levels of liquidity and investment
risk that is prudent and reasonable under circumstances which exist from time to time.
While the company’s primary objective is the preservation of capital, it also adheres to the theory of capital market pricing which maintains that varying degrees
of investment risk should be rewarded with compensating returns.
The asset allocation decision includes consideration of the non-investment aspects of the company’s defined benefit plans, including future retirements, lump-sum
elections, contributions, and cash flow. These actual characteristics of the plan place certain demands upon the level, risk, and required growth of trust assets. The
company regularly conducts analyses of the plan’s current and likely future financial status by forecasting assets, liabilities, benefits and contributions over time.
In so doing, the impact of alternative investment policies upon the plan’s financial status is measured and an asset mix which balances asset returns and risk is
selected. The company’s plan policies of preservation of capital, return expectations and investment diversification are all measured during these reviews to aid in
the determination of asset class and risk allocation.
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The company’s decision with regard to asset mix is reviewed periodically. Asset mix guidelines include target allocations and permissible ranges for each asset
category. Assets are monitored on an ongoing basis and rebalanced as required to maintain an asset mix within the permissible ranges. The guidelines will change
from time to time, based on an ongoing evaluation of the plan’s tolerance of investment risk.
To determine the expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets, the company considers current and expected asset allocations, as well as historical and
expected returns on various categories of plan assets. In developing future return expectations for the company’s pension plan’s assets, the company evaluates
general market trends as well as key elements of asset class returns such as expected earnings growth, yields and spreads across a number of potential scenarios.
The 2016 target allocation was as follows:
equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
commodities
Strategic Opportunities
Other
Total

34%
45
5
4
10
2
100%

Future Benefit Payments
The expected future benefit payments are as follows for the years ending December 31:

2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022 - 2026

$
$
$
$
$
$

Pension
Benefits
1,979
2,072
2,009
2,140
2,125
11,321

Based on current actuarial assumptions, the company expects to make contributions of $347 to its U.S. benefit plan in 2017. The company expects to make nonU.S. plan benefit payments of $323 in 2017.
11. Lease Commitments
The company leases both facilities and equipment used in its operations and classifies those leases as operating leases. The company has long-term operating
leases for a substantial portion of its manufacturing and research and development laboratory facilities. The expiration dates on the present leases range from
January 2017 to December 2033. certain leases contain renewal options at the option of the company. The company is responsible for paying the cost of utilities,
operating costs, and increases in property taxes at its leased facilities.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year) as of December 31, 2016 are as
follows:
Year ending December 31,
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
Thereafter
Total

$

$

F- 43

3,893
3,380
2,677
1,875
1,247
5,981
19,053

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(In thousands, except for per share amounts)
Rental expense amounted to approximately $4,037, $3,984 and $3,022 during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.
Minimum lease payments have not been reduced by minimum sublease rentals of $711 due in the future under non-cancelable leases.
12. Related Party Transactions
(a) Technology Development Incentive Plan
In 1993, the company adopted a Technology Development Incentive Plan to provide a method to stimulate and encourage novel technology developments. This
program has been subsequently discontinued, however eligible participants are able to share in awards based on a percentage of the licensing, royalty or milestone
revenue received by the company, as defined by the Plan.
In 2015 and 2014, the company awarded Technology Incentive compensation (“TIc”) relating to the invention of the active ingredient in Allegra. The inventor is
Thomas D’Ambra, the company’s former President and chief executive Officer and current chairman of the Board of Directors. The amounts awarded and
included in the consolidated statements of operations for all TIc awards for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are $0, $554, and $1,621,
respectively. As a result of the expiration of patents associated with the active ingredient in Allegra, no further TIc payments are anticipated. At both
December 31, 2016 and 2015, there are no unpaid Technology Development Incentive compensation awards.
(b) Contract Revenue
On February 4, 2016, Anthony J. Maddaluna was elected to the Board of Directors. During 2016, Mr. Maddaluna was the executive Vice President/ President of
Pfizer Global Supply, a pharmaceutical company to which company provided a variety of services in 2016. The company received $23,270 in contract revenue
from this customer and its affiliates in 2016.
13. Contingencies
Litigation:
The company, from time to time, may be involved in various claims and legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. except as noted below, the
company is not currently a party to any such claims or proceedings which, if decided adversely to the company, would either individually or in the aggregate have
a material adverse effect on the company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
On November 12, 2014, a purported class action lawsuit, John Gauquie v. Albany Molecular Research, Inc., et al., No. 14-cv-6637, was filed against the company
and certain of its current and former officers in the United States District court for the eastern District of New York. An amended complaint was filed on March
31, 2015. The amended complaint alleges claims under the Securities exchange Act of 1934 arising from the company’s alleged failure to disclose in its August 5,
2014 announcement of its financial results for the second quarter of 2014 that one of the manufacturing facilities experienced a power interruption in July 2014.
The amended complaint alleges that the price of the company’s stock was artificially inflated between August 5, 2014 and November 5, 2014, and seeks
unspecified monetary damages and attorneys’ fees and costs. The defendants submitted on July 29, 2015 a motion to dismiss lead plantiffs’ amended complaint.
Lead plantiffs submitted an opposition on October 7, 2015, and defendants submitted a reply on November 20, 2015. On July 26, 2016, the court denied the
defendants’ motion to dismiss. The company filed a motion to reconsider its July 29, 2015 motion to dismiss lead plantiff’s amended complaint. On December 12,
2016, the parties agreed to a settlement in principle of all legal claims, subject to the court approval process, which will be funded by the company’s insurance.
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Environmental Remediation Obligations:
With the acquisitions of euticals and Gadea in July 2016 and July 2015, respectively, the company assumed environmental remediation liabilities associated with
the euticals Springfield, MO manufacturing location (related to ongoing groundwater contamination monitoring and remediation activities as required by the
Missouri Department of Natural Resources and the U.S. environmental Protection Agency) and the Gadea Spain manufacturing location, in the amount of $11,716
and $1,543, respectively. These obligations are recorded within “Other long-term liabilities” on the company’s consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31,
2016, the environmental remediation liabilities for euticals and Gadea were $11,572 and $1,381, respectively. There were no environmental remediation liabilities
for euticals and Gadea as of December 31, 2015 as the liabilities were recorded in 2016 in connection with the purchase accounting for the respective acquisitions.
The company has completed an environmental remediation assessment associated with groundwater contamination at its Rensselaer, NY location. Ongoing costs
associated with the remediation include biannual monitoring and reporting to the State of New York’s Department of environmental conservation. Under the
remediation plan, the company was required to pay for monitoring and reporting into 2019. Under a 1999 agreement with the facility’s previous owner, the
company’s maximum liability under the remediation is $5,500. For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, no costs have been paid by the company.
Other:
In October 2016, the company reached agreement with one of its insurers (the “Paying Insurer”) with respect to the resolution of an outstanding insurance claim
related to a business interruption loss sustained by the company’s subsidiary, Oso Bio, in 2014 (the “Loss”). During 2016, in full settlement of the claim, the
company received a total net payment of $7,385 and has further released the Paying Insurer from any further claims regarding the Loss and has assigned to the
Paying Insurer all of the company’s rights against one other possible insurer with respect to the Loss. During 2015, the company received an initial business
interruption insurance recovery of $600, relating to this matter. The recovery amounts were recorded as “Other (expense) income, net” in the consolidated
statement of operations.
14. Concentration of Business and Geographic Information
Total percentages of contract revenues by each segment’s three largest customers for years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 are indicated in the following
table:

DDS
API
DP
Fc

2016

Year ended December 31,
2015

2014

10%, 4%, 2%
12%, 7%, 4%
9%, 9%, 7%
30%, 25%, 11%

10%, 8%, 4%
20%, 9%, 7%
15%, 12%, 6%
–

9%, 8%, 8%
22%, 18%, 10%
18%, 11%, 9%
–

Total contract revenue from Ge healthcare (“Ge”), the company’s largest customer, represented 7%, 11% and 13% of the company’s total contract revenue for
the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014. The company’s second largest customer represented 5%, 5% and 10% of total contract revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, respectively.
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contract revenue by geographic region, based on the location of the customer, and expressed as a percentage of total contract revenue follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2015
64%
26%
6%
4%
100%

2016
United States
europe
Asia
Other
Total

53%
37%
10%
0%
100%

2014
68%
23%
7%
2%
100%

Long-lived assets by geographic region are as follows:
2016
United States
Asia
europe
Total long-lived assets

$

2015
357,711
14,195
389,330
761,236

$

$

323,151
14,336
161,696
499,183

$

15. Business Segments
The company organizes its operations into the DDS, API, DP, and following the euticals Acquisition, Fc segments. The API segment provides pilot to
commercial scale manufacturing of active pharmaceutical ingredients and intermediates. The DP segment provides pre-formulation, formulation and process
development through commercial scale production of complex liquid-filled and lyophilized sterile injectable products and ophthalmic formulations. The DDS
segment provides activities such as drug lead discovery, optimization, drug development and small scale commercial manufacturing. The Fc segment provides lab
to commercial scale synthesis of reagents and diverse compounds. corporate activities include sales and marketing and administrative functions, as well as
research and development costs that have not been allocated to the operating segments.
The following table contains earnings data by operating segment, reconciled to totals included in the consolidated financial statements:

For the year ended December 31, 2016
DDS
API
DP
Fc
corporate (a)
Total

Contract
Revenue

Recurring
Royalty
Revenue

Income
(Loss)
from
Operations

$

$

$

$
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104,473
337,835
98,377
19,745
560,430

$

9,391
629
10,020

$

Depreciation
and
Amortization

29,275 $
56,434
15,979
1,689
(122,136)
(18,759) $

11,567
29,411
7,826
1,800
50,604
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For the year ended December 31, 2015
DDS (b)
API
DP (b)
corporate (a)
Total

Income
(Loss)
from
Operations

$

$

$

$

For the year ended December 31, 2014
DDS
API
DP
corporate (a)
Total
a)
b)

Contract
Revenue

Recurring
Royalty
Revenue

89,973
204,868
89,897
—
384,738

5,541
12,077
—
—
17,618

$

25,979 $
50,479
14,585
(77,394)
13,649 $

$

Contract
Revenue

Recurring
Royalty
Revenue

Income
(Loss)
from
Operations

$

$

$

$

74,611
146,474
29,619
—
250,704

16,257
9,610
—
—
25,867

$

Depreciation
and
Amortization

Depreciation
and
Amortization

17,208 $
42,713
(5,300)
(48,897)
5,724 $

$

8,568
12,547
5,934
—
27,049

6,904
8,776
2,673
—
18,353

corporate consists primarily of the ‘Selling, general and administrative’ expense activities of the company.
A portion of the 2015 amounts were reclassified from DDS to DP to better align business activities within segments. This reclassification impacted
contract revenue and income (loss) from operations for 2015.

The following tables summarize other information by segment as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
The following tables summarize other information by segment as of December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014:
2016
Long-lived assets
Goodwill included in long-lived assets
Total assets
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
capital expenditures

2015
Long-lived assets
Goodwill included in long-lived assets
Total assets
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
capital expenditures

$
$
$
$
$

DDS
146,290
52,045
256,055
956
18,428

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

API
425,207
104,556
707,443
—
27,690

DDS
136,387
45,987
174,203
956
7,181
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$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

DP
165,781
74,655
207,706
—
4,720

API
201,219
46,182
523,036
—
10,159

FC
$
$
$
$
$

23,958
—
38,444
—
590

$
$
$
$
$

DP
$
$
$
$
$

161,577
77,302
168,328
—
4,701

$
$
$
$
$

Total
761,236
231,256
1,209,648
956
51,428

Total
499,183
169,471
865,567
956
22,041
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2014
Long-lived assets
Goodwill included in long-lived assets
Total assets
Investments in unconsolidated affiliates
capital expenditures

DDS
$
$
$
$
$

API

64,392
—
100,804
956
4,271

$
$
$
$
$

88,028
16,899
276,668
—
10,262

DP
$
$
$
$
$

107,381
44,879
138,396
—
2,656

$
$
$
$
$

Total
259,801
61,778
515,868
956
17,189

16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The company uses a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and making disclosures about fair value measurements. A
three-tiered fair value hierarchy has been established, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value.
These tiers include:
Level 1 – defined as quoted prices in active markets for identical instruments;
Level 2 – defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable; and
Level 3 – defined as unobservable inputs in which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring an entity to develop its own assumptions.
The company determines the fair value of its financial instruments using the following methods and assumptions:
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, receivables, and accounts payable:
their fair value because of the short maturities of these instruments.

The carrying amounts reported in the consolidated balance sheets approximate

Convertible senior notes, derivatives and hedging instruments: The fair values of the company’s Notes, which differ from their carrying values, are influenced by
interest rates and the company's stock price and stock price volatility and are determined by prices for the Notes observed in market trading, which are level 2
inputs. The estimated fair value of the Notes at December 31, 2016 was $193. The Notes hedges and the Notes conversion Derivative are measured at fair value
using level 2 inputs. These instruments are not actively traded and are valued using an option pricing model that uses observable market data for all inputs, such as
implied volatility of the company's common stock, risk-free interest rate and other factors.
Interest rate swaps: At December 31, 2016, the company had contracted a derivative financial instrument to reduce the impact of fluctuations in variable interest
rates on a loan that a financial institution granted in February 2015, which is a level 2 input. The estimated fair value of the swap at December 31, 2016 was $(43).
The company hedges the interest risk of the initial amount of the aforementioned bank loan through an interest rate swap. In this arrangement, the interest rates are
exchanged so that the company receives from the financial institution a variable rate of the 3-month euribor, in exchange for a fixed interest payment for the same
nominal (0.3%). The variable interest rate received for the derivative offsets the interest payment on the hedged transaction, with the end result being a fixed
interest payment on the hedged financing. At December 31, 2016, the derivative financial instrument had not been designated as a hedge.
To determine the fair value of the interest rate swap, the company uses cash flow discounting based on the implicit rates determined by the euro interest rate curve,
according to market conditions at the valuation date.
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Instrument
Interest rate swap

Nominal Amount
at 12/31/2016
$
4,717

contract
Date
2/19/2015

contract
Date
expiration
2/19/2020

Interest
Rate
Payable
3-month euribor

Interest Rate
Receivable
Fixed rate of 0.30%

Long-term debt, other than convertible senior notes: The carrying value of long-term debt approximated fair value at December 31, 2016 due to the resetting dates
of the variable interest rates.
Nonrecurring Measurements:
The company has assets, including intangible assets, property and equipment, and equity method investments which are not required to be carried at fair value on a
recurring basis but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances. If certain triggering events occur such that a non-financial instrument is
required to be evaluated for impairment, a resulting asset impairment would require that the non-financial instrument be recorded at the lower of historical cost or
its fair value.
The fair values of these assets are then determined by the application of a discounted cash flow model using Level 3 inputs. cash flows are determined based on
company estimates of future operating results, and estimates of market participant weighted average costs of capital (“WAcc”) are used as a basis for determining
the discount rates to apply the future expected cash flows, adjusted for the risks and uncertainty inherent in the company’s internally developed forecasts.
Although the fair value amounts have been determined by the company using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies, the estimates
presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the company could realize in current market exchanges.
These long-lived asset impairment charges are included under the caption “Impairment charges” in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.
17. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss, Net
The accumulated balances for each classification of other comprehensive loss are as follows:

Pension and
postretirement
benefit plans
$
(4,140)
(2,234)
$
(6,374)
793
$
(5,581)
519
$
(5,062)

Balance at January 1, 2014, net of tax
Net current period change, net of tax
Balance at December 31, 2014, net of tax
Net current period change, net of tax
Balance at December 31, 2015, net of tax
Net current period change, net of tax
Balance at December 31, 2016, net of tax

Foreign
currency
adjustments
$
(7,137)
(923)
$
(8,060)
(4,760)
$
(12,820)
(21,848)
$
(34,668)

Total
Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss, Net
$
(11,277)
(3,157)
$
(14,434)
(3,967)
$
(18,401)
(21,329)
$
(39,730)

Amounts recognized into net earnings from accumulated other comprehensive loss related to the actuarial losses on pension and postretirement benefits were $859,
$885 and $398 for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The amount reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss related
to cumulative translation loss related to a foreign subsidiary dissolution was $734 in 2014.
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18. Collaboration Arrangements
The company enters into collaboration arrangements with third parties for the development and manufacture of certain products and/or product candidates.
Although each of these arrangements is unique in nature, both parties are active participants in the activities of the collaboration and are exposed to significant
risks and rewards depending on the commercial success of the activities. These arrangements typically include research and development and manufacturing. The
rights and obligations of the parties can be global or limited to geographic regions and the activities under these collaboration agreements are performed with no
guarantee of either technological or commercial success.
The company is obligated under these arrangements to perform the development activities and contract manufacturing of the product. Generally, the contract
manufacturing component of the arrangement commences during the development activities and continues through the commercial stage of each product, during
which time the collaboration partner is obligated to purchase the product from the company. The collaboration partners are generally responsible for obtaining
regulatory approval and for sale and distribution of the product. The original terms of these arrangements vary in length but generally range from 7 to 10 years in
duration. In the event the arrangements are terminated prematurely, the company generally has the right to receive payment for all unpaid development costs
incurred through the date of termination. Additionally, in the event of termination, the company is generally permitted to develop, manufacture and sell the
product to a third party on a contract research and manufacturing basis provided that it does not use the technology developed during the collaboration
arrangement. On December 8, 2016, the product Sodium Nitroprusside Injection was approved by the FDA. As a result, this product has reached commercial
contract manufacturing stage. None of the product candidates being developed pursuant to the company’s other collaboration arrangements have reached the
contract manufacturing or commercial and profit sharing stages.
The company recognizes costs as incurred during the performance of development activities and classifies these costs as ‘Research and development’ expense.
costs incurred by the company during the performance of the contract manufacturing activities are classified as ‘cost of contract revenue’ when the related
revenue is recognized.
contract revenue, recurring royalties revenue and R&D expense associated with these collaboration arrangements recognized during the year ended December 31,
2016, 2015 and 2014 were as follows:

contract revenue

$

Recurring royalties revenue

$

R&D expense

$

For the year ended
December 31,
2016
2015
8,618
$
4,005
$
629

$

9,757(a) $

—

$

4,026(a) $

2014
1,289
—
411(a)

(a) $185, $2,727 and $411 of these amounts were recorded in ‘cost of contract revenue’ in the consolidated statement of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.
contract revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 includes $1,685 of termination revenue related to the early termination of one of the company’s
collaboration arrangements. The company has secured a new collaboration partner for this program.
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19. Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data (unaudited)
The following tables present unaudited consolidated financial data for each quarter of 2016 and 2015:
First
Quarter
2016
contract revenue
Recurring royalties
Total revenue
(Loss) Income from operations
Net loss
Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted
2015
contract revenue
Recurring royalties
Total revenue
Income from operations
Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income per share:
Basic and diluted

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

102,838
2,741
105,579
(4,152)
(10,067)

Second
Quarter
$
$
$
$

(0.29) $
75,132
6,685
81,817
1,230
(2,223)

$
$
$
$

(0.61) $
$

$
$
$

85,226
4,322
89,548
6,167
2,307

(0.07) $

0.07

$
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$

116,457
4,353
120,810
6,466
(21,267)

Third
Quarter

$
$
$

151,681
1,057
152,738
(15,661)
(23,425)

Fourth
Quarter

$
$
$

189,454
1,869
191,323
(5,412)
(15,412)

(0.57) $

(0.37)

101,348
3,231
104,579
10
(4,170)

$

$
$
$
$

123,032
3,380
126,412
6,242
1,785

(0.12) $

0.05

ALBANY MOLECULAR RESEARCH, INC.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Acquisitions

Description
(in thousands)
Allowance for doubtful accounts receivable
2016
2015
2014

$
$
$

1,096
1,274
815

$
$
$

557
—
414

$
$
$

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance
2016
2015
2014

$
$
$

10,947
20,895
21,403

$
$
$

1,152
—
—

$
$
$

F- 52

Deductions
Charged to
Reserves/
Adjustment

(Reversal of)/
Charge to Cost
and Expenses

2,777
1,289
343

$
$
$

31,240 $
(9,948) $
(508) $

Balance at
End of
Period

(700) $
(1,467) $
(298) $

3,730
1,096
1,274

—
—
—

43,339
10,947
20,895

$
$
$

Exhibit 10.37
Amended and Restated EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This Amended and Restated eMPLOYMeNT AGReeMeNT (the “Agreement”) is made as of the 7th day of May 2015, by and between Albany
Molecular Research, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “company”), and Milton Boyer (the “executive”).
WheReAS, the executive was an employee of Oso Biophamaceuticals Manufacturing, LLc (“OsoBio”) and was party to an employment Agreement
dated January 31, 2012 (the “Prior Agreement”); and
WheReAS, on June 1, 2014, OsoBio and the company entered into that certain Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among company, the
“Buyer” entity named therein, OsoBio and Oso Biopharm holdings, LLc, pursuant to which, among other things, at the closing of the transactions contemplated
by such Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, which the parties agreed was effective on July 1, 2014,(the “closing”), OsoBio became an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of the company; and
WheReAS, the parties entered into an employment Agreement dated as of June 1, 2014 (the “Original Agreement”) and due to certain changed
circumstances, now wish to modify the Original Agreement as set forth herein, which Amended and Restated employment Agreement shall supercede and replace
the Original Agreement ; and
WheReAS, the parties hereto desire to assure that the executive’s knowledge and familiarity with the business of the company will continue to be
available to the company after the closing.
NOW, TheReFORe, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the parties agree as follows:
1.
employment . Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the company hereby employs as of the effective Date the executive and the
executive accepts such employment upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. executive agrees that the Prior Agreement is terminated and no longer in
force and effect as of the effective Date, which the parties agree was July 1, 2014.
2.
Term of employment . The term of the executive’s employment pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on and as of the date of the
closing (the “effective Date”) and shall remain in effect for a period of two (2) years from the effective Date (the “Term”). Unless either party provides written
notice of its intent not to renew the Agreement at least 180 days prior to the expiration date, the Agreement shall automatically renew for periods of one (1) year
(each a “Renewal Term”) commencing at the second anniversary of the effective Date and on each subsequent anniversary thereafter. If not renewed, the
Agreement will expire. The period during which the executive serves as an employee of the company in accordance with and subject to the provisions of this
Agreement is referred to in this Agreement as the “Term of employment.” Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Agreement shall take
effect as of the effective Date, and shall have no legal force or effect whatsoever prior thereto (or in the event the closing does not occur for any reason, whether
due to termination of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement or otherwise).

3.

capacity .

(a)
Duties . During the Term of employment, the executive shall report directly to Willam S. Marth, ceO or any other person designated
by the President and chief executive Officer and (i) shall serve with the title Senior Vice President, Drug Product Manufacturing, (ii) shall perform such duties and
responsibilities as may be reasonably determined by chairman, President and chief executive Officer or his designate, consistent with the executive’s title and
position, duties and responsibilities as an employee of the company as of the effective Date; provided that such duties and responsibilities shall be within the
general area of the executive’s experience and skills, and (iii) shall render all services incident to the foregoing.
(b)
extent of Service . The executive agrees to diligently serve the interests of the company and shall devote substantially all of his
working time, attention, skill and energies to the advancement of the interests of the company and its subsidiaries and affiliates and the performance of his duties
and responsibilities hereunder; provided that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as preventing the executive from (i) investing the executive’s assets in
any entity in a manner not prohibited by Section 7 and in such form or manner as shall not require any material activities on the executive’s part in connection with
the operations or affairs of the entities in which such investments are made, or (ii) engaging in religious, charitable or other community or non-profit activities that
do not impair the executive’s ability to fulfill the executive’s duties and responsibilities under this Agreement.
4.

compensation .

(a)
Salary . During the Term of employment, the company shall pay the executive a salary (the “Base Salary”) at an annual rate as shall
be determined from time to time by the chairman, President and chief executive Officer or other appropriate person of the company consistent with the general
policies and practices of the company; provided, however, that in no event shall such rate per annum be less than $275,000. Such Base Salary shall be subject to
withholding under applicable law and shall be payable in periodic installments in accordance with the company’s usual practice for its senior executives, as in
effect from time to time.
(b)
Bonus . Following the effective Date, goals will be set by the company for executive relating to specific objectives for 2014
including the integration of OsoBio with AMRI and independent OsoBio operating goals. executive will be eligible to receive a bonus for accomplishment of such
goals of up to 50% (fifty percent) of his Base Salary (the “Initial Bonus”), which bonus would be payable at the time that bonuses are regularly paid to executives
and employees in early 2015. Payment of the Initial Bonus will be made in the reasonable discretion of executive’s supervisor and the President and ceO of
AMRI; provided, however that the executive shall be entitled to receive a bonus for 2014 of not less than $125,000, which shall include any bonus for the partial
year that was paid or is payable to executive by OsoBio or its shareholders pursuant to any agreement between executive and any such party related to or as a
condition of the sale of OsoBio by its shareholders. After 2014, which shall be covered by the Initial Bonus referenced above, the company shall annually review
the performance of the company and of the executive during the prior year, and the company may provide the executive with additional compensation as a bonus
in accordance with any bonus plan then in effect from time to time for similarly situated employees of the company.
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5.

Benefits .

(a)
Reimbursement of expenses . The company shall promptly reimburse the executive for all reasonable business expenses incurred by
the executive during the Term of employment in accordance with the company’s practices for employees of the company, as in effect from time to time,
including travel to and from Georgia and in accordance with the company’s regular travel and entertainment policy.
(b)
Vacation . During the Term of employment, the executive shall receive paid vacation annually in accordance with the company’s
practices for employees of the company, of which current applicable practice is four (4) weeks.
(c)
company-Leased housing and Vehicle . During the Term of employment, the company shall provide executive with a stipend for
housing and a company-leased vehicle (each of which shall be selected by the executive). The stipend will be in the amount of $3,500 per month. The current
vehicle lease shall end no later than December 2017 and will not be renewed. The housing stipend shall be evaluated and potentially discontinued in May 2017.
Separation of employment for any reason will result in the immediate termination of both the auto and home lease payments.
(d)
Relocation . Any time after the effective Date, the executive will be eligible for the AMRI Relocation Program for executives. This
program includes reimbursement or direct payment of all costs associated with the closing costs for both sale of the executive’s primary residence in Georgia and
the purchase, if any, of a new residence at the agreed upon location. The company will pay for the physical move of household goods to the new location. The
timing and location of such relocation shall be agreed to between executive and his supervisor and the President and ceO of AMRI and further details regarding
such relocation will be established at such time. Upon the executive's relocation, the benefits provided pursuant to Section 5(c) will cease.
(e)
Grant of company equity . On the effective Date, the company granted to executive 20,000 shares of restricted stock, such restricted
stock to be granted pursuant to the company’s 2008 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Such restricted stock will be evidenced by standard agreements
to be entered into between executive and the company and will vest in equal installments over 4 (four) years on each anniversary of the date of grant.
(f)
Other company Benefit Plans . During the Term of employment, the executive shall be entitled to participate in any and all medical,
dental, pension and life insurance plans, disability income plans and other employee benefit plans as in effect from time to time for similarly situated employees of
Oso Bio. Such participation shall be subject to (i) the terms of the applicable plan documents, (ii) generally applicable policies of the Oso Bio and (iii) the
discretion of the Board of Directors of the company or the administrative or other committee provided for in, or contemplated by, such plan. compliance with this
Section 5(f) shall in no way create or be deemed to create any obligation, express or implied, on the part of the company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the
company with respect to the continuation of any benefit or other plan or arrangement maintained as of or prior to the effective Date or the creation and
maintenance of any particular benefit or other plan or arrangement at any time after the effective Date.
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(g)
Tax Treatment . The company shall make deductions, withholdings and tax reports with respect to payments and benefits under this
Agreement to the extent that it reasonably and in good faith determines that it is required to make such deductions, withholdings and tax reports. Payments under
this Agreement shall be in amounts net of any such deductions or withholdings. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to require the company to make any
payments to compensate the executive for any adverse tax effect associated with any payments or benefits or for any deduction or withholding from any payment
or benefit.
6.
Termination of employment . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2, the executive’s employment under this Agreement shall terminate
under the following circumstances set forth in this Section 6.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Date of Termination” means (i) if the executive’s employment is terminated by his death as provided in Section 6(c),
the date of his death; (ii) if the executive’s employment is terminated due to his permanent disability as provided in Section 6(c), the date on which notice of
termination is given and (iii) if the executive’s employment is terminated under Section 6(e), (A) thirty (30) days after the date on which the company gives notice
of termination or (B) the date on which the company’s cure period expires, as applicable.
(a)
Mutual consent . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated at any time by the mutual consent of the
executive and the company on such terms as both parties shall mutually agree.
(b)
Termination by the company for cause . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated by the company for
“cause” at any time upon written notice to the executive without further liability on the part of the company. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination shall
be for “cause” if:
(i)
the executive shall commit an act of fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation or breach of fiduciary duty against the company
or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or shall be convicted by a court of competent jurisdiction or shall plead guilty or nolo contendere to any felony;
(ii)
the executive shall commit a material breach of any of the covenants, terms or provisions of Section 7 or 8 hereof which
breach has not been cured within fifteen (15) days after delivery to the executive by the company of written notice thereof;
(iii)
the executive shall commit a material breach of any of the covenants, terms or provisions hereof (other than pursuant to
Section 7 or 8 hereof) which breach has not been remedied within thirty (30) days after delivery to the executive by the company of written notice thereof; or
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(iv)
the executive shall have continuously failed to substantially perform the executive’s duties hereunder, after written notice and
under circumstances effectively constituting a voluntary resignation of the executive’s position with the company.
Upon termination for cause as provided in this Section 6(b), (x) all obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately
terminate other than any obligations with respect to (A) earned but unpaid Base Salary, (B) reimbursement for any unreimbursed expenses incurred through the
date of termination, to the extent reimbursable in accordance with company policy, (c) any accrued but unused vacation time in accordance with company policy;
and (D) all other payments or benefits (if any) to which the executive shall be entitled under the express terms of any applicable benefit plan or arrangement
maintained by the company (the “Accrued Obligations”) and (y) the company shall have any and all rights and remedies under this Agreement and applicable law.
(c)
Death; Disability . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated by the company upon the earlier of death
or permanent disability (as defined below) of the executive continuing for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days. Upon any such termination of the
executive’s employment, all obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate other than any obligations with respect to (i)
Accrued Obligations, (ii) bonus payments with respect to the calendar year within which such termination occurred on the basis of and to the extent contemplated
in any bonus plan then in effect with respect to executives of similar level at the company, pro-rated on the basis of the number of days of the executive’s actual
employment hereunder during such calendar year through the Date of Termination, and (iii) in the case of permanent disability, continuation at the company’s
expense of health insurance benefits (medical and dental) until the first anniversary of the Date of Termination to the extent permitted under the company’s group
health insurance policy. As used herein, the term “permanent disability” or “permanently disabled” means the inability of the executive, by reason of injury, illness
or other similar cause, to perform a major part of his duties and responsibilities in connection with the conduct of the business and affairs of the company. The
company shall provide written notice to the executive of the termination of his employment hereunder due to permanent disability.
(d)
Voluntary Termination by the executive . At any time during the Term of employment, the executive may terminate his employment
under this Agreement for other than “Good Reason” (as defined in Section 6 (e)) upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the company. Upon termination by
the executive as provided in this Section 6(d), all obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate other than any
obligations with respect to Accrued Obligations.
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(e)
Termination by the company Without cause or by the executive for Good Reason . The executive’s employment under this
Agreement may be terminated by the company at any time without “cause” (as defined in Section 6(b)) upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the executive
or by the executive at any time during the Term for “Good Reason”. Any termination by the company of the executive’s employment under this Agreement which
does not constitute a termination for cause under Section 6(b) and is not a termination on account of death or disability under Section 6(c) shall be deemed a
termination without cause. Upon any such termination of the executive’s employment by the company without cause or by the executive for Good Reason
during the Term, all obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate other than any obligations with respect to Accrued
Obligations. In addition, subject to the executive signing within the applicable consideration period a general release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to
the company and the lapse of any statutory revocation period (the “Release Requirement”), the company shall continue to pay the executive his Base Salary at the
rate then in effect pursuant to Section 4(a) for a period of twelve (12) months from the Date of Termination; provided that the company shall make the first
payment of such Base Salary continuation at any time determined by the company within sixty (60) days of the Date of Termination; provided further that if the
sixty (60) day period begins in one calendar year and ends in a second calendar year, the Base Salary continuation payments shall begin to be paid in the second
calendar year by the last day of such sixty (60) day period. The first such payment of Base Salary continuation shall include payment for all Base Salary that would
have been paid by such date if Base Salary payments had not ceased due to the termination of the executive’s employment. Also subject to the Release
Requirement, the company shall (i) pay 100% of the costs to provide up to three (3) months of outplacement support services at a level appropriate for the
executive’s title and responsibilities and (ii) pay the same share of group medical and dental plan premiums for the executive that it pays for active employees at
the same site location with the same level of group medical and dental plan benefits for a period of twelve (12) months from the Date of Termination; provided that
such contributions toward group medical and dental plan continuation coverage shall be pursuant to and subject to the executive’s election of cOBRA coverage
and continued eligibility for such continuation.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of either of the following: (A) a material diminution in the nature or
scope of the powers, duties or responsibilities of the executive; or (B) a breach by the company of any of its material obligations hereunder. The executive shall
provide the company with reasonable notice and an opportunity to cure the event listed in clause (A) or clause (B) above, as applicable, within sixty (60) days after
the executive first becomes aware of the occurrence of such event, and the executive shall not be entitled to compensation pursuant to this Section 6(e) unless the
company fails to cure such event within a reasonable period of not less than thirty (30) nor more than forty five (45) days after the company’s receipt of such
notice from the executive.
7.

Non-competition and No Solicitation .

(a)
Because the executive’s services to the company are special and because the executive has access to the company’s confidential
Information (as hereinafter defined), during the Term of employment and for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination, the executive shall not,
without the express written consent of the company, directly or indirectly, engage, participate, invest in, be employed by or assist, whether as owner, part-owner,
shareholder, partner, director, officer, trustee, employee, agent or consultant, or in any other capacity, any Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the company
and its affiliates in the Designated Industry (as hereinafter defined); provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the employee from
making passive investments in a Person in the Designated Industry if the securities of such Person are publicly traded and such investment constitutes less than one
percent (1%) of the outstanding shares of capital stock or comparable equity interests of such Person.
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(b)

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
“Person” means an individual, a corporation, an association, a partnership, a limited liability company, an estate, a trust and any other

entity or organization; and
“Designated Industry” means chemistry and biology services, the drug development and drug product manufacturing industries and any
other business conducted by OSOBio or the company during the executive’s employment with OSOBio and the company. Because the company’s business is
worldwide in scope, the Designated Industry includes such business activities in any location in the world.
(c)
For a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of the executive’s employment under this Agreement for any reason, the
executive shall not, directly or indirectly, alone or as a member of any partnership or limited liability company or entity, or as an officer, director, shareholder, or
employee of any corporation or entity, solicit, divert or take away, or attempt to divert or take away, the business or patronage of any current or former client,
customer or account of the company; provided, that this sub-section shall be limited to clients, customers or accounts of the company who were clients, customers
or accounts of the company at any time during the executive's employment with the company.
(d)
For a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of the executive’s employment under this Agreement for any reason, the
executive shall not, directly or indirectly, alone or as a member of any partnership or limited liability company or entity, or as an officer, director, shareholder, or
employee of any corporation or entity (a) solicit or otherwise encourage any employee or independent contractor of the company to terminate his/her relationship
with the company, or (b) recruit, hire or solicit for employment or for engagement as an independent contractor, any person who is or was employed by the
company at any time during the executive’s employment with the company. This sub-section shall not apply to persons whose employment and/or retention with
the company has been terminated for a period of twenty-four (24) months or longer.
(e)
If any restriction set forth in this Section 7 is found by any court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable because it extends for
too long a period of time or over too great a range of activities or in too broad a geographic area, it shall be rewritten by the court to extend only over the maximum
period of time, range of activities or geographic area as to which may be enforceable.
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8.
confidentiality . In the course of performing services hereunder and otherwise, the executive has had, and it is anticipated that the executive
will from time to time have, access to confidential records, data, customer lists, trade secrets, technology and similar confidential information owned or used in the
course of business by the company and its subsidiaries and affiliates (the “confidential Information”). The executive agrees (i) to hold the confidential
Information in strict confidence, (ii) not to disclose the confidential Information to any Person (other than in the regular business of the company), and (iii) not to
use, directly or indirectly, any of the confidential Information for any competitive or commercial purpose; provided, however, that the limitations set forth above
shall not apply to any confidential Information which (A) is then generally known to the public, (B) became or becomes generally known to the public through no
fault of the executive, or (c) is disclosed in accordance with an order of a court of competent jurisdiction or applicable law. Upon termination of the executive’s
employment with the company, all data, memoranda, customer lists, notes, programs and other papers and items, and reproductions thereof relating to the
foregoing matters in the executive’s possession or control, shall be returned to the company and remain in its possession. This Section 8 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.
conflicting Agreements . The executive hereby represents and warrants that the execution of this Agreement and the performance of his
obligations hereunder will not (after giving effect to the termination of the Prior Agreement hereby on the effective Date) breach or be in conflict with any other
agreement to which he is a party or is bound, and that he is not now subject to any covenants which would affect the performance of his obligations hereunder. As
of the effective Date, the executive is not performing any other duties for, and is not a party to any similar agreement with, any Person competing with the
company or any of its affiliates.
10.
Severability . In case any of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect, any such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, but this Agreement shall be construed as if such
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had been limited or modified (consistent with its general intent) to the extent necessary to make it valid, legal and
enforceable, or if it shall not be possible to so limit or modify such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or part of a provision, this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or part of a provision had never been contained in this Agreement.
11.
Litigation and Regulatory cooperation . During and after the executive’s employment, the executive shall cooperate fully with the company in
the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence or which may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the company which relate to
events or occurrences that transpired while the executive was employed by the company. The executive’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or
actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to act as a witness on behalf of the company at
mutually convenient times. During and after the executive’s employment, the executive also shall cooperate fully with the company in connection with any
investigation or review of any federal, state or local regulatory authority as any such investigation or review relates to events or occurrences that transpired while
the executive was employed by the company. The company shall reimburse the executive for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with
the executive’s performance of obligations pursuant to this Section 11. This Section 11 shall survive the termination of the executive’s employment under this
Agreement for any reason.
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12.
Arbitration of Disputes . except as provided in Section 13, any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement or
otherwise arising out of the executive’s employment or the termination of that employment (including, without limitation, any claims of unlawful employment
discrimination or other statutory claims) shall be settled exclusively by arbitration in Albany, New York, in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration
Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. In the event that the company terminates the executive’s employment for
cause under Section 6(b) and the executive contends that cause did not exist, then the company’s only obligation with respect to the dispute concerning whether
cause exists under Section 6(b) shall be to submit such claim to arbitration and the only issue before the arbitrator will be whether the executive was in fact
terminated for cause. If the arbitrator determines that the executive was not terminated for cause by the company, then the only remedies that the arbitrator may
award are (i) payment of amounts which would have been payable if the executive’s employment had been terminated under Section 6(e), (ii) the costs of
arbitration, (iii) the executive’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, and (iv) all rights and benefits granted or in effect with respect to the executive under the company’s
stock option plans and agreements with the executive pursuant thereto that have not been provided due to the company’s determination concerning the
circumstances leading to the termination of the executive’s employment, with the vesting and exercise of any stock options and the forfeitability of any stockbased grants held by the executive to be governed by the terms of such plans and the related agreements between the executive and the company. If the arbitrator
finds that the executive’s employment was terminated for cause, the arbitrator will be without authority to award the executive anything, and the parties will each
be responsible for their own attorneys’ fees, and they will divide the costs of arbitration equally. Furthermore, should a dispute occur concerning the executive’s
mental or physical capacity as described in Section 6(c), a doctor selected by the executive and a doctor selected by the company shall be entitled to examine the
executive. If the opinion of the company’s doctor and the executive’s doctor conflict, the company’s doctor and the executive’s doctor shall together agree upon
a third doctor, whose opinion shall be binding. This Section 12 shall survive the termination of the executive’s employment under this Agreement for any reason.
13.
Specific Performance . Notwithstanding Section 12 hereof, it is specifically understood and agreed that any breach of Section 7 or 8 of this
Agreement by the executive is likely to result in irreparable injury to the company and its subsidiaries and affiliates, that the remedy at law alone will be
inadequate remedy for such breach and that, in addition to any other remedy it may have, the company shall be entitled to enforce the specific performance of this
Agreement by the executive and to seek both temporary and permanent injunctive relief (to the extent permitted by law), without the necessity of proving actual
damages. Therefore, any claim based on an alleged breach of Section 7 or 8 of this Agreement shall not be subject to Section 12 hereof unless otherwise agreed. To
the extent that any court action is permitted consistent with or to enforce Section 7 or 8 of this Agreement or to enforce Section 12, the parties hereby agree to the
sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme court of the State of New York (Albany county) and the United States District court for the Northern District of
New York (city of Albany). Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, the executive (i) submits to the personal jurisdiction of such courts, (ii) consents to
service of process, and (iii) waives any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court or otherwise) with respect to personal jurisdiction or service of
process.
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14.
Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i)
when delivered by hand, (ii) when transmitted by facsimile and receipt is acknowledged, or (iii) if mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on
the third business day after the date on which it is so mailed:
To the company:
Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
21 corporate circle
Albany, New York 12203-5154
Facsimile: (518) 867-4375
Attention: Senior Vice President of Human Resources
To the executive, to the address on file with the company.
or to such other address of which any party may notify the other parties as provided above. Notices shall be effective as of the date of such delivery or mailing.
15.
Amendment; Waiver . This Agreement shall not be amended, modified or discharged in whole or in part except by an Agreement in writing
signed by both of the parties hereto. The failure of either of the parties to require the performance of a term or obligation or to exercise any right under this
Agreement or the waiver of any breach hereunder shall not prevent subsequent enforcement of such term or obligation or exercise of such right or the enforcement
at any time of any other right hereunder or be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach of the provision so breached, or of any other breach hereunder.
16.
Successors and Assigns . This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of successors of the company by way of merger, consolidation or transfer of
all or substantially all of the assets of the company, and may not be assigned by the executive. The company shall require any successor (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the company expressly to assume and agree to
perform this Agreement to the same extent that the company would be required to perform it if no succession had taken place. Failure of the company to obtain an
assumption of this Agreement at or prior to the effectiveness of any succession shall be a material breach of this Agreement.
17.
entire Agreement . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subjects hereof and supersedes all prior
understandings and agreements between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof, including without limitation the Prior Agreement.
18.

Governing Law . This Agreement shall be construed and regulated in all respects under the laws of the State of New York.

19.
counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be taken to be an original,
but such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same document.
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IN WITNeSS WheReOF, the parties have executed this Amended and Restated Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
ALBANY MOLecULAR ReSeARch, INc.
By: /s/ William S. Marth
eXecUTIVe:
/s/ Milton Boyer
Milton Boyer
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Exhibit 10.38
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
This eMPLOYMeNT AGReeMeNT (the “Agreement”) is made as of the 4th day February 2014, by and between Albany Molecular Research, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (the “company”), and christopher M. conway (the “executive”).
WheReAS, the executive is a key employee of the company;
WheReAS, the parties hereto desire to assure that the executive’s knowledge and familiarity with the business of the company will continue to be
available to the company after the date hereof; and
NOW, TheReFORe, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants herein contained, the parties agree as follows:
1.
employment . Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the company hereby employs the executive and the executive accepts such
employment upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth.
2.
Term of employment . The term of the executive’s employment pursuant to this Agreement shall commence on and as of the date hereof (the
“effective Date”) and shall remain in effect for a period of two (2) years from the effective Date (the “Term”). The Term shall be renewed automatically for
periods of two (2) years (each a “Renewal Term”) commencing at the second anniversary of the effective Date and on each subsequent second anniversary
thereafter, unless notice that this Agreement will not be extended is given by either the executive or the company not less than one-hundred (180) days prior to the
expiration of the Term (as extended by any Renewal Term). The period during which the executive serves as an employee of the company in accordance with and
subject to the provisions of this Agreement is referred to in this Agreement as the “Term of employment.”
3.

capacity .

(a)
Duties . During the Term of employment, the executive shall report directly to the Senior Vice President, Sales and General Manager,
API or any other person designated by the President and chief executive Officer and (i) shall serve as an executive of the company with the title Vice President,
Sales and Marketing (ii) shall perform such duties and responsibilities as may be reasonably determined by chairman, President and chief executive Officer or his
designate, consistent with the executive’s title and position, duties and responsibilities as an employee of the company as of the effective Date; provided that such
duties and responsibilities shall be within the general area of the executive’s experience and skills, and (iii) shall render all services incident to the foregoing.
(b)
extent of Service . The executive agrees to diligently serve the interests of the company and shall devote substantially all of his working
time, attention, skill and energies to the advancement of the interests of the company and its subsidiaries and affiliates and the performance of his duties and
responsibilities hereunder; provided that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as preventing the executive from (i) investing the executive’s assets in any
entity in a manner not prohibited by Section 7 and in such form or manner as shall not require any material activities on the executive’s part in connection with the
operations or affairs of the entities in which such investments are made, or (ii) engaging in religious, charitable or other community or non-profit activities that do
not impair the executive’s ability to fulfill the executive’s duties and responsibilities under this Agreement.

4.

compensation .

(a)
Salary . During the Term of employment, the company shall pay the executive a salary (the “Base Salary”) at an annual rate as shall be
determined from time to time by the chairman, President and chief executive Officer or other appropriate person of the company consistent with the general
policies and practices of the company; provided, however, that in no event shall such rate per annum be less than $250,000. Such salary shall be subject to
withholding under applicable law and shall be payable in periodic installments in accordance with the company’s usual practice for its senior executives, as in
effect from time to time.
(b)
Bonus . Annually, the company shall review the performance of the company and of the executive during the prior year, and the
company may provide the executive with additional compensation as a bonus in accordance with any bonus plan then in effect from time to time for senior
executives of the company. Any such bonus plan shall have such terms as may be established in the sole discretion of the Board of Directors of the company or
the compensation committee of the Board of Directors.
5.

Benefits .

(a)
Regular Benefits . During the Term of employment, the executive shall be entitled to participate in any and all medical, dental, pension
and life insurance plans, disability income plans and other employee benefit plans as in effect from time to time for senior executives of the company. Such
participation shall be subject to (i) the terms of the applicable plan documents, (ii) generally applicable policies of the company and (iii) the discretion of the
Board of Directors of the company or the administrative or other committee provided for in, or contemplated by, such plan. compliance with this Section 5(a)
shall in no way create or be deemed to create any obligation, express or implied, on the part of the company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the company with
respect to the continuation of any benefit or other plan or arrangement maintained as of or prior to the effective Date or the creation and maintenance of any
particular benefit or other plan or arrangement at any time after the effective Date.
(b)
Reimbursement of expenses . The company shall promptly reimburse the executive for all reasonable business expenses incurred by the
executive during the Term of employment in accordance with the company’s practices for employees of the company, as in effect from time to time.
(c)
Vacation . During the Term of employment, the executive shall receive paid vacation annually in accordance with the company’s
practices for senior executives of the company, as in effect from time to time.
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6.
Termination of employment . Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 2, the executive’s employment under this Agreement shall terminate
under the following circumstances set forth in this Section 6.
For purposes of this Agreement, “Date of Termination” means (i) if the executive’s employment is terminated by his death as provided in Section 6(c),
the date of his death; (ii) if the executive’s employment is terminated due to his permanent disability as provided in Section 6(c), the date on which notice of
termination is given; (iii) if the executive’s employment is terminated by the company without cause under Section 6(e) or Section 6(g), sixty (60) days after the
date on which notice of termination is given; and (iv) if the executive’s employment is terminated under Section 6(f) or for Good Reason under Section 6(g), the
date on which the applicable cure period expires.
(a)
Mutual consent . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated at any time by the mutual consent of the
executive and the company on such terms as both parties shall mutually agree.
(b)
Termination by the company for cause . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated by the company for
“cause” at any time upon written notice to the executive without further liability on the part of the company. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination shall
be for “cause” if:
(i)
the executive shall commit an act of fraud, embezzlement, misappropriation or breach of fiduciary duty against the company or
any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or shall be convicted by a court of competent jurisdiction or shall plead guilty or nolo contendere to any felony or any crime
involving moral turpitude;
(ii)
the executive shall commit a material breach of any of the covenants, terms or provisions of Section 7 or 8 hereof which breach
has not been cured within fifteen (15) days after delivery to the executive by the company of written notice thereof;
(iii)
the executive shall commit a material breach of any of the covenants, terms or provisions hereof (other than pursuant to
Section 7 or 8 hereof) which breach has not been remedied within thirty (30) days after delivery to the executive by the company of written notice thereof; or
(iv)
the executive shall have disobeyed reasonable written instructions from the Senior Vice President Sales, and General Manager,
API or the President and chief executive Officer, or other appropriate governing committee which are consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement
or shall have deliberately, willfully, substantially and continuously failed to perform the executive’s duties hereunder, after written notice and under circumstances
effectively constituting a voluntary resignation of the executive’s position with the company.
Upon termination for cause as provided in this Section 6(b), all obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate
other than any obligations with respect to earned but unpaid Base Salary and the company shall have any and all rights and remedies under this Agreement and
applicable law.
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(c)
Death; Disability . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated by the company upon the earlier of death or
permanent disability (as defined below) of the executive continuing for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days. Upon any such termination of the executive’s
employment, all obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate other than any obligations with respect to (i) earned but
unpaid salary through the Date of Termination, (ii) bonus payments with respect to the calendar year within which such termination occurred on the basis of and to
the extent contemplated in any bonus plan then in effect with respect to senior executive officers of the company, pro-rated on the basis of the number of days of
the executive’s actual employment hereunder during such calendar year through the Date of Termination, and (iii) in the case of permanent disability, continuation
at the company’s expense of health insurance benefits (medical and dental) until the first anniversary of the Date of Termination to the extent permitted under the
company’s group health insurance policy. As used herein, the term “permanent disability” or “permanently disabled” means the inability of the executive, by
reason of injury, illness or other similar cause, to perform a major part of his duties and responsibilities in connection with the conduct of the business and affairs
of the company. The company shall provide written notice to the executive of the termination of his employment hereunder due to permanent disability.
(d)
Voluntary Termination by the executive . At any time during the Term of employment, the executive may terminate his employment
under this Agreement upon sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to the company. Upon termination by the executive as provided in this Section 6(d), all
obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate.
(e)
Termination by the company Without cause . The executive’s employment under this Agreement may be terminated by the company at
any time without “cause” (as defined in Section 6(b)) by the company upon sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to the executive. Any termination by the
company of the executive’s employment under this Agreement which does not constitute a termination for cause under Section 6(b) and is not a termination on
account of death or disability under Section 6(c) shall be deemed a termination without cause. Upon any such termination of the executive’s employment, all
obligations of the company under this Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate other than any obligations with respect to earned but unpaid Base Salary
and bonus under Section 4. In addition, subject to the executive signing a general release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the company and the lapse
of any statutory revocation period, the company shall continue to pay the executive his Base Salary at the rate then in effect pursuant to Section 4(a) for a period
of twelve (12) months from the Date of Termination and shall pay to the executive in monthly installments over the year, an amount equal to the executive’s cash
bonus, if any, received in respect of the immediately preceding year pursuant to Section 4(b) beginning with the first payroll date that begins thirty (30) days after
the Date of Termination. For purposes of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue code of 1986, as amended (the “code”), each monthly payment shall be
considered a separate payment. The company shall also pay 100% of the costs to provide up to twelve (12) months of outplacement support services at a level
appropriate for the executive’s title and responsibility and provide the executive with health and dental insurance continuation at a level consistent with the level
and type the executive had in place at the time of termination for a period of twelve (12) months from the Date of Termination. The twelve months shall be
considered the first twelve months of the executive’s (18) month cOBRA eligibility period. Upon completion of the twelve months, the executive shall have (6)
further months of cOBRA eligibility for which he will have sole responsibility for making appropriate premium payments in order to continue coverage that he is
eligible for under cOBRA provisions.
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(f)
Termination by the executive upon company Breach . The executive shall have the right to terminate his employment hereunder upon
written notice to the company in the event of (i) a material diminution in the nature or scope of the powers, duties or responsibilities of the executive or (ii) a
breach by the company of any of its material obligations hereunder, in each case after the executive has given written notice to the company specifying such
default by the company, within sixty (60) days of the occurrence of the default, and giving the company a reasonable time, not less than thirty (30) days, to
conform its performance to its obligations hereunder. Upon any such termination of the executive’s employment, all obligations of the company under this
Agreement shall thereupon immediately terminate other than any obligations with respect to earned but unpaid Base Salary and bonus under Section 4. In addition,
subject to the executive signing a general release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the company and the lapse of any statutory revocation period, the
company shall continue to pay the executive his Base Salary at the rate then in effect pursuant to Section 4(a) for a period of twelve (12) months from the Date of
Termination and shall pay to the executive in monthly installments over the next year, an amount equal to the executive’s cash bonus, if any, received in respect of
the immediately preceding year pursuant to Section 4(b) beginning with the first payroll date that begins thirty (30) days after the Date of Termination. For
purposes of Section 409A of the code, each monthly payment shall be considered a separate payment. The company shall also pay 100% of the costs to provide
up to twelve (12) months of outplacement support services at a level appropriate for the executive’s title and responsibility and provide the executive with health
and dental insurance continuation at a level consistent with the level and type the executive had in place at the time of termination for a period of twelve (12)
months from the Date of Termination.
(g)
Termination Pursuant to a change of control. If there is a change of control, as defined below, during the Term of employment, the
provisions of this Section 6(g) shall apply and shall continue to apply throughout the remainder of the Term (as extended by any Renewal Term). Upon a change
of control, the executive will become fully vested in any outstanding stock options, Restricted Stock or other stock grants awarded and become fully vested in all
company contributions made to the executive’s 401(k), Profit Sharing or other retirement account (s). In addition, within thirty (30) days of the change of control,
the company shall pay to the executive a lump sum equal to the executive’s pro rata target cash bonus for the year in which the change of control occurred (as
such may be set forth in the company’s bonus plan for such year and calculated assuming target achievement of corporate and personal goals); such pro rata
amount to be determined based on the actual date of the closing of such change in control transaction.
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If, within two (2) years following a change of control, the executive’s employment is terminated by the company without cause (in accordance with
Section 6(e) above) or by the executive for “Good Reason” (as defined in Section 6(g)(ii) below), in lieu of any severance and other benefits payable under Section
6(e) or Section 6(f), subject to the executive signing a general release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the company and the lapse of any statutory
revocation period, the company shall pay to the executive (or the executive’s estate, if applicable) a lump sum amount equal to 1.5 times the sum of (x) the
executive’s Base Salary at the rate then in effect pursuant to Section 4(a), plus (y) an amount equal to the executive’s cash bonus, if any, received in respect of the
immediately preceding year pursuant to Section 4(b) within thirty (30) days of the Date of Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent the cash
severance payment to the executive is considered deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the code, and if the change of control does not constitute a
“change in control event” within the meaning of Section 409A of the code, such cash severance shall be payable in installments over the same period as provided
in Section 6(e). The company shall also pay 100% of the costs to provide up to twelve (12) months of outplacement support services at a level appropriate for the
executive’s title and responsibility and provide the executive with health and dental insurance continuation at a level consistent with the level and type the
executive had in place at the time of termination for a period of twelve (12) months from the Date of Termination.
(i)
“change of control” shall mean the occurrence of any one of the following events: (A) the sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of the company on a consolidated basis to an unrelated person or entity, (B) a merger, reorganization or consolidation in which the outstanding shares of
Stock are converted into or exchanged for securities of the successor entity and the holders of the company’s outstanding voting power immediately prior to such
transaction do not own a majority of the outstanding voting power of the successor entity immediately upon completion of such transaction, or (c) the sale of all of
the Stock of the company to an unrelated person or entity.
(ii)

“Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following:

(A)
executive that is adverse to the executive;
(B)

a material or diminution in the nature or scope of the powers, functions, titles, duties or responsibilities of the

a breach by the company of any of its material obligations hereunder; or

(c)
the relocation of the offices at which the executive is principally employed as of the change of control to a location
more than fifty (50) miles from such offices, which relocation is not approved by the executive.
The executive shall provide the company with reasonable notice and an opportunity to cure any of the events listed in this
Section 6(g)(ii) within sixty (60) days of the occurrence of the event and shall not be entitled to compensation pursuant to this Section 6(g) unless the company
fails to cure within a reasonable period of not less than thirty (30) days; and
(iii)
Additional Limitation . Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, in the event that the amount of any
compensation, payment or distribution by the company to or for the benefit of the executive, whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement or otherwise, calculated in a manner consistent with Section 280G of the code and the applicable regulations thereunder (the “Severance
Payments”), would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the code, the following provisions shall apply:
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(A)
If the Severance Payments, reduced by the sum of (1) the excise Tax and (2) the total of the federal, state, and local
income and employment taxes payable by the executive on the amount of the Severance Payments which are in excess of the Threshold Amount, are greater than
or equal to the Threshold Amount, the executive shall be entitled to the full amount of Severance Payments.
(B)
If the Threshold Amount is less than (x) the Severance Payments, but greater than (y) the Severance Payments
reduced by the sum of (1) the excise Tax and (2) the total of the federal, state, and local income and employment taxes on the amount of the Severance Payments
which are in excess of the Threshold Amount, then the Severance Payments shall be reduced (but not below zero) to the extent necessary so that the sum of all
Severance Payments shall not exceed the Threshold Amount. In such event, the Severance Payments shall be reduced in the following order: (i) cash payments not
subject to Section 409A of the code; (ii) cash payments subject to Section 409A of the code; (iii) equity-based payments and acceleration; and (iv) non-cash forms
of benefits. To the extent any payment is to be made over time (e.g., in installments, etc.), then the payments shall be reduced in reverse chronological order.
For the purposes of this Section 6(g)(iii), “Threshold Amount” shall mean three (3) times the executive’s “base amount” within the meaning of Section
280G(b)(3) of the code and the regulations promulgated thereunder less one dollar ($1.00); and “excise Tax” shall mean the excise tax imposed by Section 4999
of the code, and any interest or penalties incurred by the executive with respect to such excise tax.
The determination as to which of the alternative provisions of this Section 6(g)(iii) shall apply to the executive shall be made by a nationally recognized
accounting firm selected by the company (the “Accounting Firm”), which shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the company and the executive
within fifteen (15) business days of the Date of Termination, if applicable, or at such earlier time as is reasonably requested by the company or the executive. For
purposes of determining which of the alternative provisions of this Section 6(g)(iii) above shall apply, the executive shall be deemed to pay federal income taxes at
the highest marginal rate of federal income taxation applicable to individuals for the calendar year in which the determination is to be made, and state and local
income taxes at the highest marginal rates of individual taxation in the state and locality of the executive’s residence on the Date of Termination, net of the
maximum reduction in federal income taxes which could be obtained from deduction of such state and local taxes. Any determination by the Accounting Firm shall
be binding upon the company and the executive.
(h)
No Mitigation . Without regard to the reason for the termination of the executive’s employment hereunder, the executive shall be under
no obligation to mitigate damages with respect to such termination under any circumstances and in the event the executive is employed or receives income from
any other source, there shall be no offset against the amounts due from the company hereunder.
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(i)

Section 409A .

(i)
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, if at the time of the executive’s separation from service within the
meaning of Section 409A of the code, the company determines that the executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the
code, then to the extent any payment or benefit that the executive becomes entitled to under this Agreement would be considered deferred compensation subject to
the 20 percent additional tax imposed pursuant to Section 409A(a) of the code as a result of the application of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the code, such payment
shall not be payable and such benefit shall not be provided until the date that is the earlier of (A) six months and one day after the executive’s separation from
service, or (B) the executive’s death. If any such delayed cash payment is otherwise payable on an installment basis, the first payment shall include a catch-up
payment covering amounts that would otherwise have been paid during the six-month period but for the application of this provision, and the balance of the
installments shall be payable in accordance with their original schedule. Any such delayed cash payment shall earn interest at an annual rate equal to the prime rate
reported by The Wall Street Journal as of the date of separation from service, from such date of separation from service until the payment.
(ii)
The parties intend that this Agreement will be administered in accordance with Section 409A of the code. To the extent that any
provision of this Agreement is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A of the code, the provision shall be read in such a manner so that all payments
hereunder comply with Section 409A of the code. The parties agree that this Agreement may be amended, as reasonably requested by either party, and as may be
necessary to fully comply with Section 409A of the code and all related rules and regulations in order to preserve the payments and benefits provided hereunder
without additional cost to either party.
(iii)
To the extent that any payment or benefit described in this Agreement constitutes “non-qualified deferred compensation” under
Section 409A of the code, and to the extent that such payment or benefit is payable upon the executive’s termination of employment, then such payments or
benefits shall be payable only upon the executive’s “separation from service.” The determination of whether and when a separation from service has occurred shall
be made in accordance with the presumptions set forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h).
(iv)
The company makes no representation or warranty and shall have no liability to the executive or any other person if any
provisions of this Agreement are determined to constitute deferred compensation subject to Section 409A of the code but do not satisfy an exemption from, or the
conditions of, such Section.
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7.

Non-competition and No Solicitation .

(a)
Because the executive’s services to the company are special and because the executive has access to the company’s confidential
information, during the Term of employment and for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination, the employee shall not, without the express written
consent of the company, directly or indirectly, engage, participate, invest in, be employed by or assist, whether as owner, part-owner, shareholder, partner,
director, officer, trustee, employee, agent or consultant, or in any other capacity, any Person (as hereinafter defined) other than the company and its affiliates in the
Designated Industry (as hereinafter defined); provided, however, that nothing herein shall be construed as preventing the employee from making passive
investments in a Person in the Designated Industry if the securities of such Person are publicly traded and such investment constitutes less than one percent (1%) of
the outstanding shares of capital stock or comparable equity interests of such Person.
(b)

For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
“Person” means an individual, a corporation, an association, a partnership, a limited liability company, an estate, a trust and any other

entity or organization; and
“Designated Industry” means the business of providing chemistry research and development services to pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies involved in drug development and discovery and any and all activities related thereto, including, without limitation, medicinal chemistry,
chemical development, biocatalysis, analytical chemistry services and small-scale manufacturing, large scale manufacturing, and any other business conducted by
the company during the employee’s employment with the company.
(c)
For a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of this Agreement for any reason, the executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, alone or as a member of any partnership or limited liability company or entity, or as an officer, director, shareholder, or employee of any corporation or
entity (a) solicit or otherwise encourage any employee or independent contractor of the company to terminate his/her relationship with the company, or (b) recruit,
hire or solicit for employment or for engagement as an independent contractor, any person who is or was employed by the company at any time during the
executive’s employment with the company. This paragraph shall not apply to persons whose employment and/or retention with the company has been terminated
for a period of twelve (12) months or longer.
8.
confidentiality . In the course of performing services hereunder and otherwise, the employee has had, and it is anticipated that the employee will
from time to time have, access to confidential records, data, customer lists, trade secrets, technology and similar confidential information owned or used in the
course of business by the company and its subsidiaries and affiliates (the “confidential Information”). The executive agrees (i) to hold the confidential
Information in strict confidence, (ii) not to disclose the confidential Information to any Person (other than in the regular business of the company), and (iii) not to
use, directly or indirectly, any of the confidential Information for any competitive or commercial purpose; provided, however, that the limitations set forth above
shall not apply to any confidential Information which (A) is then generally known to the public, (B) became or becomes generally known to the public through no
fault of the executive, or (c) is disclosed in accordance with an order of a court of competent jurisdiction or applicable law. Upon termination of the executive’s
employment with the company, all data, memoranda, customer lists, notes, programs and other papers and items, and reproductions thereof relating to the
foregoing matters in the executive’s possession or control, shall be returned to the company and remain in its possession. This Section 8 shall survive the
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
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9.
conflicting Agreements . The executive hereby represents and warrants that the execution of this Agreement and the performance of his
obligations hereunder will not breach or be in conflict with any other agreement to which he is a party or is bound, and that he is not now subject to any covenants
which would affect the performance of his obligations hereunder. As of the effective Date, the executive is not performing any other duties for, and is not a party
to any similar agreement with, any Person competing with the company or any of its affiliates.
10.
Severability . In case any of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect, any such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision of this Agreement, but this Agreement shall be construed as if such
invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had been limited or modified (consistent with its general intent) to the extent necessary to make it valid, legal and
enforceable, or if it shall not be possible to so limit or modify such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or part of a provision, this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or part of a provision had never been contained in this Agreement.
11.
Litigation and Regulatory cooperation . During and after the executive’s employment, the executive shall cooperate fully with the company in
the defense or prosecution of any claims or actions now in existence or which may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the company which relate to
events or occurrences that transpired while the executive was employed by the company. The executive’s full cooperation in connection with such claims or
actions shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to act as a witness on behalf of the company at
mutually convenient times. During and after the executive’s employment, the executive also shall cooperate fully with the company in connection with any
investigation or review of any federal, state or local regulatory authority as any such investigation or review relates to events or occurrences that transpired while
the executive was employed by the company. The company shall reimburse the executive for any reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with
the executive’s performance of obligations pursuant to this Section 11. This Section 11 shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.
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12.
Arbitration of Disputes . Any dispute or controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be settled exclusively by arbitration
in Albany, New York, in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association then in effect. Judgment may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction. In the event that the company terminates the executive’s employment for cause under Section 6(b) and the executive contends that cause did not
exist, then the company’s only obligation shall be to submit such claim to arbitration and the only issue before the arbitrator will be whether the executive was in
fact terminated for cause. If the arbitrator determines that the executive was not terminated for cause by the company, then the only remedies that the arbitrator
may award are (i) payment of amounts which would have been payable if the executive’s employment had been terminated under Section 6(e), (ii) the costs of
arbitration, (iii) the executive’s attorneys’ fees, and (iv) all rights and benefits granted or in effect with respect to the executive under the company’s stock option
plans and agreements with the executive pursuant thereto, with the vesting and exercise of any stock options and the forfeit ability of any stock-based grants held
by the executive to be governed by the terms of such plans and the related agreements between the executive and the company. If the arbitrator finds that the
executive’s employment was terminated for cause, the arbitrator will be without authority to award the executive anything, and the parties will each be responsible
for their own attorneys’ fees, and they will divide the costs of arbitration equally. Furthermore, should a dispute occur concerning the executive’s mental or
physical capacity as described in Section 6(c), a doctor selected by the executive and a doctor selected by the company shall be entitled to examine the executive.
If the opinion of the company’s doctor and the executive’s doctor conflict, the company’s doctor and the executive’s doctor shall together agree upon a third
doctor, whose opinion shall be binding. This Section 12 shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.
13.
Specific Performance . Notwithstanding Section 12 hereof, it is specifically understood and agreed that any breach of the provisions of this
Agreement, including, without limitation, Sections 7 and 8 hereof, by the executive is likely to result in irreparable injury to the company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates, that the remedy at law alone will be inadequate remedy for such breach and that, in addition to any other remedy it may have, the company shall be
entitled to enforce the specific performance of this Agreement by the executive and to seek both temporary and permanent injunctive relief (to the extent permitted
by law), without the necessity of proving actual damages. To the extent that any court action is permitted consistent with or to enforce Section 7 or 8 of this
Agreement, the parties hereby agree to the sole and exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme court of the State of New York (Albany county) and the United States
District court for the Northern District of New York (city of Albany). Accordingly, with respect to any such court action, the executive (i) submits to the personal
jurisdiction of such courts, (ii) consents to service of process, and (iii) waives any other requirement (whether imposed by statute, rule of court or otherwise) with
respect to personal jurisdiction or service of process.
14.
Notices . All notices, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given (i)
when delivered by hand, (ii) when transmitted by facsimile and receipt is acknowledged, or (iii) if mailed by certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, on
the third business day after the date on which it is so mailed:
To the company:
Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
26 corporate circle
Albany, New York 12212-5098
Facsimile: (518) 512-2043
Attention: Board of Directors
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To the executive, to the address on file with the company.
or to such other address of which any party may notify the other parties as provided above. Notices shall be effective as of the date of such delivery or mailing.
15.
Amendment; Waiver . This Agreement shall not be amended, modified or discharged in whole or in part except by an Agreement in writing
signed by both of the parties hereto. The failure of either of the parties to require the performance of a term or obligation or to exercise any right under this
Agreement or the waiver of any breach hereunder shall not prevent subsequent enforcement of such term or obligation or exercise of such right or the enforcement
at any time of any other right hereunder or be deemed a waiver of any subsequent breach of the provision so breached, or of any other breach hereunder.
16.
Successors and Assigns . This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of successors of the company by way of merger, consolidation or transfer of
all or substantially all of the assets of the company, and may not be assigned by the executive. The company shall require any successor (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the company expressly to assume and agree to
perform this Agreement to the same extent that the company would be required to perform it if no succession had taken place. Failure of the company to obtain an
assumption of this Agreement at or prior to the effectiveness of any succession shall be a material breach of this Agreement.
17.
entire Agreement . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties concerning the subjects hereof and supersedes all prior
understandings and agreements between the parties relating to the subject matter hereof.
18.

Governing Law . This Agreement shall be construed and regulated in all respects under the laws of the State of New York.

19.
counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered shall be taken to be an original,
but such counterparts shall together constitute one and the same document.
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

12

IN WITNeSS WheReOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above written.
ALBANY MOLecULAR ReSeARch, INc.

By: /s/ Brian Russell

eXecUTIVe:

/s/ christopher conway
christopher M .conway
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Exhibit 10.39
DIRECTORSHIP AGREEMENT
By and between:
PRIME EUROPEAN THERAPEUTICALS S. P .A., with registered office in Milan, Viale Bianca Maria, n. 25, Italian VAT registration number 07254610152, in person of
Mariesa Beth coppola ("Euticals" or the "Company");
AMRI ALBANY MOLecULAR ReSeARch INc., with registered office in 26 corporate circle, Albany, NY 12212, in person of Mariesa Beth coppola ("AMRI");
- on the one side and
Ms. MARGALIT FINE, (the "Director"; together with the company and AMRI, the "Parties")
-on the other side WHEREAS
i.

On May 5, 2016 AMRI Inc. and Lauro cinquantasette Spa with registered office in via del Lauro n. 7, Italian VAT registration number 04849340965
("Lauro Cinquantasette") ,have signed that certain Sale and Purchase Agreement ("SPA") for the purchase and sale of 100% of euticals (the
"Transaction" ) which is expected to be completed within July 11, 2016 (the "Closing Date" );

ii.

The Parties acknowledge that the Director has been the director and Managing Director of euticals and Lauro cinquantasette (the "Old Offices" ) until 5
July 2016, when she has given her resignations effective the date of the Transaction;

iii.

effective as of the closing Date, the Parties desire that the Director shall vest the office of director and be appointed as Managing Director of euticals and
the executive Vice President - API Business Unit of AMRI, reporting to the chief Operating Officer of AMRI;

iv.

The Director is willing to accept the appointments under point (iii) above, with the related powers that shall be delegated to her within such appointments
on the terms and conditions set forth herein (the "Agreement" ).
*

*

*

In consideration of the foregoing recitals, which form an integral and substantive part of this Agreement, the Parties agree as follows.
1.
1.1.

Appointment
Pursuant to the provisions of the SPA, on the closing Date, AMRI shall cause eutical's parent company to appoint the Director as a director of euticals.

1.2.
Upon such appointment, AMRI shall have euticals' parent company to cause the competent corporate body of euticals to resolve as follows: (a) appoint
the Director as managing director of euticals; and (b) grant the Director with certain powers necessary to perform her role as managing director of the company
and (c) appoint the Director as executive Vice President of its API Division (the aforementioned offices, present and/or future, within the company shall be
collectively referred to as the "Offices" ). The powers to be granted with such appointment are listed in Annex 1; and are effective as of the date thereof.
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1.3.
The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that, for the entire duration of this Agreement and the Offices, certain powers will be retained to the
exclusive competence euticals' Board of Directors ("BOD") or granted to other members of the same BOD. In particular, but not in limitation, the Parties agree
that the powers and responsibilities of the Datore di Lavoro (as contemplated in Italian Legislative Decree 81/2008 as amended), environmental Gestore, and
responsibility for privacy / treatment of personal data will be retained by BOD or be granted to other members of the BOD or to other persons.
1.4.
The Director acknowledges that the powers set out in Annex 1 are suitable to allow her to manage the company and undertakes to exercise them in
accordance with the guidelines of the BOD, the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the company' By-laws, a copy of which guidelines and By-laws the
company has provided to the Director.
1.5.

The Director hereby undertakes to accept the Offices and hold them for the entire duration of this Agreement.

2.

Director's Duties and Responsibilities

2.1.
For the entire duration of this Agreement, the Director will have the duties of director and managing director of the company and, pursuant to Article
2392 of the Italian civil code ("ICC"), perform her duties as set forth by law and the company's By-laws using the diligence requested by the nature of her
assignment and by her specific competence.
2.2.
The Director, in her capacity as director and managing director of the company, for the entire duration of this Agreement, will be responsible for the
business management and administration of the company with reference to all managerial aspects in respect of the powers granted and will act in compliance with
the general and specific guidelines provided for by the company's BOD and the AMRI chief executive Officer and chief Operating Officer as appointed by the
parent company of the company for the achievement of the company business objectives.
2.3.
The Director will report to the AMRI chief Operating Officer as appointed by the company parent company and to the BOD, according to law and at
the BOD's requests.
3.

Remuneration, expenses and benefits

3.1.
As partial consideration under the Agreement for the Director's performance of the role of managing director of euticals and all other roles that she may
be given in AMRI, including her role as executive Vice President, API Division, the Manager shall receive an aggregate annual base gross remuneration of eUR
Three hundred Fifty Thousand (euro350K) (the "Base Gross Remuneration"). AMRI shall have euticals' parent company to cause the competent corporate
bodies of euticals to resolve to make such payments to the Director, for the whole duration of the Offices.
3.2.
The Base Gross Remuneration will be paid, net of all fiscal and social security deductions, in 12 (twelve) monthly instalments of equal amount, at the
end of each relevant calendar month.
3.3.
The Director shall also be eligible to receive a bonus, with reference to 2016 financial year, pursuant to Section 3.4 and the terms indicated under
Annex 2 (the "Bonus" ). For all financial years of the Initial Term and the Renewal Term after 2016, the Director shall be eligible to participate in the bonus
program that may be made available to the other executive officers of AMRI.
3.4.
The Bonus will be paid, net of all fiscal and social security deductions, at the same time that all bonuses, if any, are paid to the executive team of AMRI
for financial year 2016, which is expected following completion of the annual financial audit and prior to March 31, 2017.
3.5.
The Director shall be granted by the competent corporate bodies of AMRI a certain number of Restricted Stock Units for shares in AMRI ("RSUs") as
per the terms indicated under Annex 3 .
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3.6
The Director acknowledges and agree that the (i) Base Gross Remuneration, (ii) the Bonus (to the extent payable) and any other bonus payable to the
Director under any bonus program for which it she is eligible pursuant to Section 3.3, and the RSUs and any other Restricted Stock Units, Stock Options or similar
programs for which she may become eligible and be granted in AMRI's sole discretion include any and all compensation regarding the Offices and any other
offices that the Director may hold in the AMRI group of companies, and for any activity that the Director may perform in favour of the company or in favour of
any other company of such Group.
3.7.
The Director shall be entitled to receive by the company the reimbursement of all costs and expenses borne by reason of her Offices, in a manner
consistent with euticals' practice, provided that the Director will have submitted the relevant documentary evidence of such expenses and costs. AMRI shall have
euticals' parent company to cause the competent corporate bodies of each to resolve to make such reimbursements to the Director, for the whole duration of the
Offices.
3.8
The Director shall be provided with fringe benefits, including a life insurance, a health insurance, and liability insurance coverage in line with fringe
benefits and insurances usually granted to directors of a comparable level and usually considered as reasonable by companies of a size comparable to the size of
euticals, that are granted in accordance with the policies of the company and AMRI. It is agreed between the Parties that such fringe benefits will include: a full
health insurance policy, whose annual cost will up to euro 5.000,00 gross; company credit card (to be used only for business purposes); cell phone with
subscription; personal computer with internet connection; office spaced in the company office in Lodi, with support of a personal assistant; reimbursement of the
annual fees and expenses of her tax advisor for the preparation of the annual tax report ( dichiarazione dei redditi ) and for the preparation of the tax report to be
filed immediately after the termination of this Agreement; and any other fringe benefits the Director was receiving from eutiicals in consideration of her carrying
out the Old Offices. AMRI shall have euticals' parent company to cause the competent corporate body of euticals to resolve to provide all the aforementioned
fringe benefits to the Director, for the whole duration of the Offices.
4.

Duration

4.1.
Subject to the provisions of Section 7 hereof, the initial term of the Offices shall be for a period commencing on the appointment in accordance with
Section 1 and ending on the date of approval of the 2018 financial statements of euticals (the "Initial Term" ).
4.2
Subject to the provisions of Section 7 hereof, such term shall automatically renew for an additional one year period, as further described below, unless
either the Director or an authorized officer of the company or AMRI provide to the other Parties written notice of non-renewal on or before January 1, 2019. Such
extension of the Initial Term shall be for a further period lasting to the date of approval of the 2019 financial statements of euticals under the terms and conditions
of this Directorship Agreement (the "Renewal Term" ). In case of such renewal after the Initial Term, AMRI shall have euticals parent company to cause the
competent corporate bodies of euticals to confirm and renew the appointment of the Director in her Office for the Renewal Term. For the sake of clarity, it remains
understood that no Termination Indemnity (as defined under Section 7 below) is due in case - for any reason - any of the Parties decides (and notifies the other
Parties of such decision) not to renew after the Initial Term.
4.3.
Without prejudice to the Initial Term and Renewal Term of this Agreement, or Director's rights hereunder, the Parties acknowledge that the duration of
the Offices will be regulated by the relevant corporate resolutions.
5.

Non-solicitation covenant

In the course of performing services hereunder and for a period of twelve (12) months following the termination of the Offices for any reason, the Director shall
not, directly or indirectly, alone or as a member of any partnership or limited liability company or entity, or as an officer, director, shareholder, or employee of any
corporation or entity (a) solicit or otherwise encourage any employee or independent contractor of the company to terminate her or his relationship with the
company, or (b) recruit, hire or solicit for employment or for engagement as an independent contractor, any person who is or was employed by the company at
any time during the Offices with the company. This paragraph shall not apply to persons whose employment and/or retention with the company has already been
terminated at the time of the recruitment, hiring or solicitation.
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6.

Confidentiality

6.1.
In the course of performing services hereunder and otherwise in her role and activities under the Office and the Old Offices, the Director has had, and
will from time to time, have access to confidential records, data, customer lists, trade secrets, technology and similar confidential information owned or used in the
course of business by the company and its subsidiaries and affiliates (the "confidential Information"). The Director agrees (i) to hold the confidential Information
in strict confidence, (ii) not to disclose the confidential Information to any person outside of the company (other than in the regular business of the company), and
(iii) not to use, directly or indirectly, any of the confidential Information for any competitive or commercial purpose outside of the commercial activities carried
out for the company; provided, however, that the limitations set forth above shall not apply to any confidential Information which (A) Director can demonstrate
with timely documentation to have been known by her without disclosure from the company and/or any of their subsidiaries or affiliates, (B) is then generally
known to the public, (c) became or becomes generally known to the public through no fault of the Director, or (D) is disclosed in accordance with an order of a
court of competent jurisdiction or applicable law. Upon termination of the Offices for any reason, all data, memoranda, customer lists, notes, programs and other
papers and items, and reproductions thereof relating to the foregoing matters in the Director's possession or control, shall be returned to euticals and thereafter
shall remain in the company's possession. This Section 6 shall survive the termination of this Agreement for any reason.
7.

Termination

7.1.
In case of occurrence of a Bad Leaver circumstance, (within the meaning indicated in Section 7.2 below) euticals will be entitled to immediately
terminate this Agreement by providing written notice - with prior notice when required by applicable law - and to revoke the Director from the Offices for just
cause pursuant to Article 2383 of the Icc (if necessary). In this event, the Director will be entitled to receive no remuneration and/or other indemnity and/or
compensation by euticals, exception made for the Base Gross Remuneration due until the effective date of termination, without prejudice, however, to the euticals
right to any claim for the damages suffered.
7.2.

Any of the following circumstances will be considered as a case of "Bad Leaver" :
7.2.1.
Director's resignation from the Offices unless in case such resignation (i) has been requested - for other reasons than Just cause - by the
Board of Directors of the company or (ii) is grounded on material breach by the company of any of its obligations.
7.2.2.
Without prejudice to any mandatory or inderogable provisions of applicable law, the following shall be considered just cause of revocation
from the Offices ("Just Cause" ):
(i)
the Director is subject to an investigation, a trial and/or a plea-bargain for a felony, which may reasonably be expected to bring euticals or
any of the Group companies into public disgrace or disrepute; and/or
(ii)
the commission by the Director of an act, or an omission, intended to materially harm the business of the company or any of the Group
companies; and/or
(iii)

Director's gross negligence or wilful misconduct with respect to the management of the company or any of the Group companies; and/or

(iv)
any act, event, omission or cause by the Director within the concept of "just cause" according to the provisions of section 2383 of the Icc;
and/or
(v)
serious breach of the Director's duties as provided for in the company's By-laws, or in any other relevant corporate resolution capable of
infringing the fiduciary relationship existing between the company and the Director; and/or
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(vi)

material breach by the Director of the provisions under sections 2390 or 2391 of the Icc; and/or

(vii)

material breach by the Director of any of its obligations under Sections 2, or 5 or 6 of this Agreement;

(viii) Director's death or impossibility to perform one or more of the Offices for a period of 6 (six) months in a row or over the duration of this
Agreement.
7.3.
In case of occurrence of a circumstance of "Good Leaver" (within the meaning indicated in Section 7.4 below), euticals will be entitled to terminate this
Agreement and shall cause euticals to pay to the Director, as liquidated damages pursuant to Section 1382 of the Icc, a termination indemnity ('Termination
Indemnity") equal to the Base Gross Remuneration which will be due from the date of the occurrence of the Good Leaver and the natural expiration date of the
Initial Term (or Renewal Term, if this is the case), plus the pro rata bonus (if any) accrued up to the effective date of termination of the Good Leaver. In addition,
the Director will remain entitled to retain any shares of restricted stock which have already vested at that time pursuant to Annex 3 or, in the case of other RSUs,
pursuant to the vesting terms of any RSU Agreement(s) signed between AMRI and the Director as at the date of the occurrence of the Good Leaver. The
Termination Indemnity covers any other possible claim or damages or indemnity connected with the termination of the Directorship Agreement, which could be
raised by the Director.
7.4.

Any of the following circumstances will be considered as a case of "Good Leaver" :
7.4.1.

Director's resignation from the Offices in case such resignation (i) has been requested – for other reasons than Just cause - by any of the
company or (ii) is grounded on material breach by the company of any of its obligations under Section 3 above;

7.4.2.

revocation from the Offices for other reasons than Just cause.

7.5.
The payment of the Termination Indemnity to the Director due under this Agreement, shall be subject to the execution by the Director - but solely if and
and to the extent that company also carries out execution of a formal settlement agreement with the company, whereby the Director expressly waives any and all
other claims and/or demands (even of a compensatory and/or employment requalification nature) - pursuant to Article 2383, paragraph 3, of the Icc and/or Article
2113 of the Icc - relating to or arising from or connected with the termination of this Agreement, the Offices, and/or any other relationship among the Director,
any of the company and/or one or more of the Group companies.
8.

Conditions

8.1.
It remains understood that (i) should the closing not occur within later of (i) the closing Date or (ii) the later date indicated by euticals to the Director or
(iii) in any event at within December 31, 2016, or (ii) should the Director not remain in the Old Offices until the closing Date - the Parties recognizing and
agreeing that this is intended as the effective date of Director's leaving the Old Offices, and not the date of her tendering resignation - this Agreement shall become
automatically null and void and/or ineffective, without any need of communication between the Parties, and without any entitlement to any reciprocal indemnities.
9.

Miscellaneous

9.1

The Agreement may only be amended in writing with amendments duly signed by all the Parties.

9.2.

The failure of, or delayed or partial exercise, by the Parties, of any right or remedy under this Agreement will not be construed as a waiver thereof.

9.3.
In the event any provision of this Agreement should be declared null and/or void, in whole or in part, the validity of any other provisions hereof will not
be affected and the provision which has been declared null and/or void will be interpreted, to the possible extent, in accordance with the original intention of the
Parties.
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9.4.

For any matter not regulated hereunder, reference shall be made to the Icc and other applicable provisions of Italian law.

9.5.
All notices, requests, demands and other communications required or permitted hereunder will be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given
when delivered by hand against acknowledgement of receipt or mailed, certified or registered mail with postage prepaid, or sent by e- mail (followed by courier) or
courier, as follows:
if to the Director :
Name: Margalit Fine
email address
if to euticals :
Name: Mrs. Lori M. henderson
Attn: Lori M. henderson
Address: Viale Bianca Maria 25, 20122 Milan (Ml), Italy
email address:
if to AMRI :
Name: Mrs. Lori M. henderson
Address: 201 Jones Road, Waltham, MA 2451
email address:
Any of the Parties may modify the address to which the notices, requests, demands and other communications under this Agreement will be sent in respect of that
Party, by serving a relevant written notice upon the other Parties.
10.

Governing Law

10.1.

This Agreement is governed by Italian law.

11.

Language

11.1

This Agreement is drafted in english, except for Annex1 which is drafted in Italian.
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Exhibit 21.1
Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
Subsidiaries
Name of Subsidiary

State/Country of Incorporation

AMRI Bothell Research center, Inc.

Delaware, USA

AMRI Burlington, Inc.

Massachusetts, USA

AMRI Rensselaer, Inc.

Delaware, USA

AMRI SScI, LLc

Delaware, USA

ALO Acquisition LLc

Delaware, USA

OSO Biopharmaceutials Manufacturing, LLc

Delaware, USA

cedarburg Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Delaware, USA

INB: hauser Pharmaceutical Services, Inc.

Delaware, USA

cedarburg Generic, LLc

Wisconsin, USA

Whitehouse Analytical Laboratories, LLc

New Jersey, USA

euticals Inc.

Delaware, USA

AMRI evergreen S.à r.l.

Luxembourg

Albany Molecular Luxembourg S.à r.l.

Luxembourg

Albany Molecular Research Limited

United Kingdom

Albany Molecular Research (Glasgow) Limited

United Kingdom

evergreen S.r.l

Italy

Prime european Therapeuticals S.p.A

Italy

chorisis S.r.l

Italy

euticals Gmbh

Germany

euticals SAS

France

Albany Molecular Research (UK) Limited

United Kingdom

Albany Molecular Research Spain, S.L.U

Spain

Gadea Grupo Farmaceutico, S.L

Spain

crystal Pharma, S.A

Spain

crystal Pharma Ltd.

Malta

Gadea Biopharma, S.L.

Spain

Bionice, S.L.

Spain

Albany Molecular Research Mauritius Pvt. Ltd.

Mauritius

AMRI India Pvt. Ltd.

India

FineKem Laboratories Pvt. Ltd.

India

Albany Molecular Research hyderabad Research centre Pvt. Ltd.

India

Albany Molecular Research Singapore Research centre, Pte. Ltd.

Singapore

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Albany Molecular Research, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Form S-3 (Registration Nos. 333-178718, 333-200800, 333-213768, and 333207247), and on Form S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-80477, 333-91423, 333-152169, 333-174973, 333-189219, and 333-205036) of Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
(“the company”) of our report dated March 16, 2017, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2016, and the related financial statement schedule, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2016, which report appears in the December 31, 2016 annual report on Form 10-K of Albany Molecular Research, Inc.
Our report dated March 16, 2017, on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, contains an explanatory paragraph that
management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, Prime european
Therapeuticals S.p.A.’s (the Acquired Business) internal control over financial reporting associated with assets representing 27% of consolidated total assets and
revenues representing 23% of consolidated total revenues included in the consolidated financial statements of the company as of and for the year ended December
31, 2016. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over
financial reporting of the Acquired Business.

/s/ KPMG LLP
Albany, New York
March 16, 2017

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, William Marth certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Albany Molecular Research, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2017
Name:
Title:

/s/ WILLIAM S. MARTh
William S. Marth
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Felicia I. Ladin certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Albany Molecular Research, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and
have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 16 , 2017

Name:
Title:

/s/ FeLIcIA I. LADIN
Felicia I. Ladin
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Duly
Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
The undersigned officer of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. (the “company”) hereby certifies that to his knowledge the company’s annual report on
Form 10-K to which this certification is attached (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and exchange commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “exchange Act”), and that the information
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the company. This certification is provided
solely pursuant to 18 U.S.c. Section 1350 and Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K (“Item 601(b)(32)”) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and the exchange Act. In accordance with clause (ii) of Item 601(b)(32), this certification (A) shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and (B) shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act or the exchange Act, except to the extent that the company specifically incorporates it by reference.
Date: March 16 , 2017
Name:
Title:

/s/ WILLIAM S. MARTh
William S. Marth
President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION
The undersigned officer of Albany Molecular Research, Inc. (the “company”) hereby certifies that to his knowledge the company’s annual report on
Form 10-K to which this certification is attached (the “Report”), as filed with the Securities and exchange commission on the date hereof, fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “exchange Act”), and that the information
contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the company. This certification is provided
solely pursuant to 18 U.S.c. Section 1350 and Item 601(b)(32) of Regulation S-K (“Item 601(b)(32)”) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and the exchange Act. In accordance with clause (ii) of Item 601(b)(32), this certification (A) shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of
Section 18 of the exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, and (B) shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act or the exchange Act, except to the extent that the company specifically incorporates it by reference.
Date: March 16 , 2017
Name:
Title:

/s/ FeLIcIA I. LADIN
Felicia I. Ladin
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (Duly
Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

